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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
FORTHEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

The directors submit their report together with the audited financial statements of The CIC Insurance Group Plc (the Company) and
its subsidiaries {together “the Group” or “CIC Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024, which disclose the state of affairs of
the Group.

1.

INCORPORATION

The Group is domiciled in Kenya where itis incorporated as a public company limited by shares underthe Companies Act, 2015.
The address of the registered office is set out on page 1.

DIRECTORATE.
The directors who held office during the year and to the date of this report are set ot on page 1.
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Group are the transaction of general and life insurance businesses including pension scheme
administration and fund management.

RECOMMENDED DIVIDEND
The directors recommend payment of dividends for the year 2024 of KShs 345 million (2023: KShs 345 million)
GROUP AND COMPANY RESULTS

The table below highiights some of the key performance indicators:

Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023

KShs'000 KShs'0C0 KShs'000 KShs'000
Profit/{loss) before income tax 3,993,720 2,543,993 618,523 (195,248)
Income tax expense 1,139,087y  (1,102,178) (1706,036) (38,492)
Profit/ (loss} for the year 2,854,633 1,441,815 448,557 {233,740)
Total comprehensive income/({loss) for the year 3,746,657 585,693 448,557 (233,740}
Total assets 61,937,727 50,298,041 10,589,913 9,779,011
Equity attributable to owners of the parent 11,071,853 7,692,817 3,708,455 3,604,898
BUSINESS REVIEW
KENYA

The Kenyan economy recorded an average growth of 4.5% in the period between January to September 2024, with Q3’2024
GDP coming in at 4.0%, down from the 6.0% in 932023, The performance in Q32024 was mainly driven by the 4.2% growth in
the agricultural secter due to favorable weather conditions, which led to a steady growth in agricultural output. Most sectors
recorded lower growth rates compared to Q3'2023 with Accommodation and Food Services (+13.7%), Professional
administration (+7.8%), Information and Communication (+6.1%), and Real estate (+5.5%) Sectors recording the highest
growth improvements. The average GDP growth rate for 2024 is expected to come in at a range of 4.8% - 5.0%, a decline from
the 5.6% expansion witnessed in 2023. In 2025, we expect the economy to continue its recovery trajectory with the projected
GDP growth to come in at a range of 5.0% - 5.4%, mainly atiributable to continued growth In services and agricultural sectors,
eased monetary policy and gradual increase in access to credit.

In 2024, the average inflation rate in the country was 4.5%, marking 3.2% points decrease from the average inflation rate of
7.7% witnessed in 2023. However, the year-on-year inflation rate increased slightly by 0.2% points to 3.0%, in December 2024
fromthe 2,8% recorded in November 2024. Key to note, the overall infiation rates throughout 2024, remained within the Centrai
Bank's target range of 2.5% and 7.5%, hitting its lowest in October 2024 at 2.7%, the lowest since 2010, Despite the
improvement, we expect the inflation rate to remain relatively stable in the short term but face upward pressure in the medium
to long term during 2025, given that the current fiscal measures do not address the cost-driven inflation, in addition to a ripple
effect of the curtent expansionary monetary stance. In early December 2024, the Monetary Policy Committee lowered the policy
rate furtherto 11.25% from 12%. It noted that its previous measures have lowered overall infation to below the mid-point of the
target range, stabilized the exchange rate; noting that there is for scope further reductions.
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6.

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
KENYA (continued)

The Kenya Shilling appreciated by 17.4% against the US Dollar to close at Kshs 129.3 in 2024, compared to Kshs 156.5 at the
end of 2023, a contrast to the 26.8% depreciation recorded in 2023, The gain was majorly driven by the repayment of the USD
2.0 bn Eurobond that matured in June, through a buy-hack in February 2024 that reduced credit risk on the country and pressure
on the Shilling. Additionally, the cuts in the US Federal interest rates by a total of 100 bps in 2024 to a range of 4.25%-4.50%,
from a range of 5.25%-5,50% in the beginning of 2024. Kenya's forex reserves improved to close the year at USD 9.2 bitlion
(4.7 months of impert cover) compared to USD 6.7 killion (3.6 months) at the end of 2023,

tn 2024, the Kenyan equities market was on an upward trajectory with NSE 10 gaining the most by 42.9%, while NSE 25, NASI
and NSE 20 gained by 42.5%,34.3% and 33.3%, respectively. During the year, equities turnover gained by 22.0% to close the
year at USD 0.8 bn, from USD 0.6 bn recorded in 2023. Foreign investors remained net sellers.

UGANDA

The Ugandan economy continues to demonstrate resilience. Uganda's economy recorded 6.1% growth in FY 2023/24 on top of
5.3% the year before, despite global economic instability, geepolitical tensions, and regional conflicts. This growth remained
broad-based with services and industrial sectors leading. Growth is supported by favorable weather conditions, investments in
the oil sector, and progress on implementation of the Parish Development Model (PDM).

MALAWI

Matawi's economic situation remains chatlenging. A severe drought in 2024 has exacerbated macroeconomic imbalances and
added to suceessive poor harvests and high food prices. Real GDP is projected to grow only 1.8% in 2024, and an acceleration
is expected in 2025 (4.2%) if reform implementation progresses. The outlook is subject to significant downside risks, including
continued fiscal slippages, which could entrench macroeconomic instability. Failure to address external imbalances may
continue to result in input shortages.

SOUTH SUDAN

South Sudan's economy is projected to contract by 30 percent in FY24/28, but is projected to rebound in FY25/26, if there is
a resumption in oit exports of the country’s Dar Blend Oil. The negative development in the previous three fiscal years was due to
overlapping ecenomic shocks. Real GDP growth is estimated to have dropped to -5.8 percent of GDP in FY24 {July 2023-June
2024} reflecting mainly lower oil exports.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Group

Insurance revenue grew by 4% from KShs.25.4 billion in 2023 to KShs.26.3 hillion in 2024 driven by growth in most of the
group's business lines. The increase in insurance revenue was mainly driven by new business acquisitions as well as upward
repricing of risks. Revenue from the asset management business increased by 9% in fine with increase In assets under
management. The insurance service expense grew by 7% in line with growth in underwritten risks. Other operating expenses
increased from Kshs 1.5 billion to Kshs 1.7 billion, a 19% increase in line with the overall business growth.

The group recorded a profit before tax of Kshs 3.99 billion, up from a profit before tax of Kshs 2.5 billion in 2023. This was largely
attributed fo the growth in insurance revenue and improved investment income during the year driven by high income reported
under the fixed Income securities. The group’s total assets grew by 23% from Kshs 50.3 billion in 2023 to Kshs 61.9 billion in
line with the growth in businesses, particularly increase in investment assets from Kshs 34.2 billion to Kshs 43.3 hiltion,

Company

The Company received dividend income from subsidiaries amounting to Kshs 385 million (2023: Kshs 465 million}. There were
fair value gains on investment property of Kshs 1.0 billion in 2024 {2023: Nil). This is mainly gains on the Klambu fand. Finance
cost increased from Kshs 517 miltion in 2023 to Kshs 564 million in 2024 due to increased interest rate on the borrowing in the
year.

The Company has started disposing its parcels of land it owns. Proceeds from sale of this property will be used to repay the loan
from Co-operative Bank which will reduce the finance costs incurred on the borrowing. Further disclosures are included in Notes
15({b) of the financial statements.
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7. STATEMENT AS TO DISCLOSURE TO THE GROUP'S AND COMPANY'S AUDITOR
The directors confirm with respect to each director at the time of approval of this report:

a)  therewas, asfar as each director is aware, no relevant audit information of which the Group's and the Company's auditor
is unaware; and

b)  each director had taken all steps that ought to have been taken as a director so as to be aware of any refevant audit
information and to establish that the Group's and the Company's auditor is aware of that information.

8.  TERMS OF APPOINTMENT OF THE AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP continue in office in accordance with the company's Articles of Association and Section 721 of
the Companies Act, 2015, The directors monitor the effectiveness, objectivity and independence of the auditor, This
responsibility includes the approvat of the audit engagement contract and the associated fees on behalf of the sharehofders.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Secretaty

27 March 2025
Nairobi, Kenya



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND {TS SUBSIDIARIES
DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Information not subiect to audit

The CIC Insurance Group vision is to be a world class provider of insurance and other financial sevices. Consequently, the Group
endeavours to attract and retain as directors, high calibre individuals who are well equipped with the relevant expertise and experience

to enable

the Group to achieve its vision. To retain and motivate such individuals requires compensation that is not only commensurate

to their skill and time devoted to the Group, but also one that is competitive.

The Group has developed and put in place a remuneration policy for both the executive and non-executive directors that is transparent
and considers both needs and the overall performance of the business. The policy has adopted a compensation and remuneration
meodel that is competitive to attract and retain talent, The remuneration policy is described below:

Executive

1.

3.

Directors

The remuneration for the executive director is as per a negotiated contract of employment. It incorporates a bonus scheme
that is only triggered upon achieving various targets agreed with the board.

The GMD & CEO* earns a setvice gratuity of 20% of the annual basic pay payable at the end of the contract for each year
worked.

The GMD & CEQ* has a 5-year contract which commenced in june 2023 and has a 3 months termination notice.

Non-Executive Directars

1.

Directors are entitled to a sitting aliowance for their attendance of a board or board committee meeting, lunch allowance {in
fieu of lunch being provided), and mileage reimbursements (in lieu of fransport being provided) at the Automobile
Association of Kenya rates.

The directors receive annual honoraria based on the end year performance.

Directors are paid a monthly retainer. The fees have been set by the board pursuant to the authorization granted by the
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting.

There are no directors’ loans.

There is no directors’ shares scheme.

An allowance is paid to non-executive directors for any day of travel away from their regular station in order to attend to duties
of the Company or its subsidiaries.

Independent directors are on a three-year contract which is renewable once.

Medical insurance cover is provided to all directors for their individual medical requirements covering both out-patient and
inpatient services.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2024, the Board was composed of the following Directors:

Executive Non-Executive Independent
James Njue (Vice Chairman) Nelson Kuria (Chairman)
Patrick Nyaga™ Michael Wambia Rogers Kinoti
Gordon Owuor Julius Mwatu
Peter Nyigei Sharon Kisire
tudia Rono
* GMD & CEO Group Managing Director & CEO
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DIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT {continued)

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

information subject to audit

The following table shows remuneration for the Executive and Non-Executive Directors In respect of qualifying services for the year

ended 31 December 2024,

Group Directors 2024 emolumenis (KShs)

Sitting

Board

Name Designation Salary Allowances Gratuity Retainer Alowance Honozaria expenses Total

Patrick Nyaga GMD &CEO 46,956,134 32,055,459 9,684,703 - - - - 88,696,296
Nelson Kuria Chaitman - - - 3,723,600 2,672,189 939,992 215,385 7,651,166
James Njue V/Chaimman - N 3,723,600 1,374,108 917,612 - 6,015,318
Pater Nyigei Director - - - 923,077 529,702 906,422 - 2,369,201
Michael Wambia Director - " " 1,441,329 2,507,143 906,422 303,686 5,158,580
Gorden Owuor Director - - - 1,451,991 1,905,752 906,422 246,123 4,510,288
Jules Mwatu Director - - . 1,441,329 1,419,055 906,422 228,231 3,996,037
Rogets Kinoti Director - - - 1,390,154 1,290,046 906,422 220,000 3,806,622
Sharen Kisire Director - - 1,390,154 1,114,131 895,231 224,615 3,624,131
Ludia Rong Director - - - 1,420,006 1,063,314 679,815 220,000 3,383,135
Grand Total 46,956,134 32,055,459 9,684,703 16,905,240 13,875,438 7,964,760 1,659,040 £29,100,774

Group Directors 2023 emoluments (KShs)

Name Designation Salary Altowances Gratuity Retainer aiﬁﬁ:‘ngce Honoraria ex?::a?:sc:as Total

Patrick Nyaga GMD&CEO 44,021,376 25,891,086 8,804,275 . - - - 78,716,737
Nefson Kuria Chairman - - - 3568450  2,225252 793,500 1,017,934 7,605,136
James Njue V/Chairman - - " 3,668,450 1,541,779 774,607 188,901 6,873,737
Peter Nyigei birector - - - 1,564,192 1,555,838 765,161 307,854 4,193,045
Michaet Wambia Director - - " 1,381,274 1,718,426 765,161 292,923 4,157,784
Gordon Owuor Director - " i 1,405,795 1,829,447 765,161 248,246 4,248,649
Jultus Mwatu Director N - i 1,381,274 1,229,622 765,161 198,462 3,574,519
Rosemary Githaiga Director - N i 1,332,231 1,388,921 765,161 211,319 3,697,632
Rogers Kinott Director - - - 1,332,231 938,469 251,805 215,067 2,137,672
Sharan Kisire Director - - - 740,588 689,168 - 203,077 1,632,833
Grand Totat 44,021,376 25,891,086 8,804,275 16,274,485 13,116,922 5,645,817 2,883,783 116,637,744

* GMD & C£0 Group Managing Director & CEQ

The Group will not propose to make any changes in the remuneration level in 2025,

By Order of the Board

27 March 2025
Gail Odongo

Group Company Secretary
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)
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INTRODUCTION

At CIC Insurance Group Plc, we are committed to maintaining the highest standards of corporate governance, recognizing that effective
governance Is essential for ensuring the long-term stability and suceess of our business. As a leading provider of insurance and financial
solutions, we operate in a dynamic and highly regulated environment where transparency, accountability, and ethical conduct are
fundamental to building trust with our stakeholders, including policyholders, shareholders, employees, regulators, and the communities
in which we operate.

Our corporate governance framework is built on the principles of faimess, accuracy, transparency, accountability, and responsibility. It
provides a clear structure for decision-making and oversight, enabling us to manage risks effectively, drive business performance, and
ensure compliance with all relevant laws, regulations, and industry standards.

The Group operates in compliance with the Companies Act 2015, the Insurance Act, the Capital Markets Authority Act, the Capital
Markets Authority Sode of Corporate Governance Guidelines for Issuers of Securities, the Capital Markets (Public Offers, Listing and
Disclosures) Regulations 2023, and the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association, among others. The Company agheres to
the Nairobi Securities Exchange listing rules, the ethical standards prescribed in the Company Code of Conduct, the Constitution of
Kenya, and alf other applicable laws as a law-abiding corporate citizen,

in line with the Group’s commitment to delivering sustainable value, we have established governance practices that promote the highest
levels of integrity, safeguard the interests of all stakeholders, and ensure that our operations are aligned with our core values and
strategic objectives.

Through our Board of Directors, the Group is committed to implementing and adhering to good corporate governance by institutionalizing
palicies, processes, and a robust framework aligned with CIC insurance Group Plc's core mission of helping people achieve financial
security. The Board of Directors is ultimately responsible for the Company’s governance and is committed to fulfilling its fiduciary duties.
To ensure strong governance, the Directors have implemented principles that guide their dealings with shareholders, customers, and
other stakeholders, in line with the spirit of the Code for listed companies.

This statement ocutlines our governance framework, policies, and practices, including the roles and responsibilities of the Board of
Directors, management, and key committees within the Group. It also enumerates our approach to risk management, internal controls,
regulatory compliance, and ethical conduct guiding our day-to-day operations. We believe strong governance is vital to our ability to
adapt to changing market conditions, address emerging risks, and capitalize on opportunities for growth while maintalning our
reputation as a responsible and trusted insurer.

Through this commitment to effective corporate governance, we aim to foster long-term shareholder value, enhance operational
performance, and provide our customers with the confidence that we are a reliable partrer in securing their financtal future.

STATEMENT OF COMMITMENT

The Board is committed to strong corporate governance, recognizing that ethical culture, competitive performance, robust controls, and
legitimacy drive sustainable value and fong-term success, i also acknowledges that sound governance and effective risk management
are vital to achieving strategic objectives and ensuring continued petformance.

Directors have a statutory responsibility to promote the success of the Company for the benefit of its stakeholders. In fulfilling this duty,
Directors must carefully consider the long-term effects of their decisions, consider the legitimate interests of employees, cultivate strong
relationships with suppliers, customers, and other stakeholders, assess the impact of the Company’s operations on the community and
the environment, and uphold a reputation for high standards of business ethics.

The Board remains committed to regularly reviewing and refining governance principles and practices to ensure alignment with
guidelines and effective application within the Company’s operations,
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GENERAL GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK

The governance framework outlines the Group's strategic direction while delegating day-to-day operations to the executive management
team, led by the Group Managing Director & Chief Executive Officer. The Group Managing Director & Chief Executive Officer's performance
is assessed based on clearly defined objectives and policies, with close monitoring in place.

The Group has institutionalized a robust corporate governance framework across all strategic and operational levels. The Board confirms
that this framework, aligned with global best practices, is designed to achieve the following objectives:

i) Protect and enhance shareholders value by maintaining highest standards of governance, business behavior and tra nsparency.

ii)  Ensure the Board's accountability to shareholders and provide for an appropriate delegation of responsibilities to the Group Chief
Executive Officer and the Board of Management; and

iii)  Provide a platform for regular review of the Group's governance structure against the nationally and universally accepted guidelines
and best practices.

The responsibility for the strategic control of the Company is divided between shareholders represented at the Annual General Meeting,
the Board of Directors supported by its four (4) Committees or any other ad- hoc committee that the Board may deem necessary to
constitute. The Board is further assisted by the Group Chief Executive Officer and the Board of Management for all operational functions.

THE BOARD CHARTER

The Board Charter defines the Board’s roles and responsibilities, the delegated powers of various Board Committees and their roles, and
clearly distinguishes between the roles of the Board and Management regarding policies and practices.

The Board is responsible for determining the Company’s overall objectives, developing strategies in conjunction with management to
meet those objectives, formulating clear governance policies for the Company, delegating and segregating the Board’s responsibilities
and accountability, and evaluating the performance of the Board, its Committees, and individual Directors.

During the year under review, the Board is satisfied that it has fulfilled its responsibilities in accordance with its Charter. The existing
Board Charter was last reviewed and approved by the Board in December 2023.

The Board Charter is available in the Investor Relations section of the Group’s website at https://www.cicinsurancegroup.com/investor-
relations.

THE BOARD

The Board is collectively responsible for the Group’s vision, strategic direction, values, and governance. Its primary role is to provide
effective leadership towards:

I Sustainable long-term success through objective and informed judgment in determining the strategy of the Group;
1. Effective succession planning, ensuring the right team is in place to execute the strategy;
M1l Setting appropriate governance structures for the management of business operations;
V. Monitoring business performance and maintaining an effective framework of controls to mitigate risks;
V. Ensuring ethical behavior and compliance with laws and regulations.

The Chairman, in collaboration with the Group Managing Director & Chief Executive Officer and the Company Secretary, is responsible for
developing the annual Board Work Plan and setting agendas for meetings throughout the year.

The Board is primarily responsible for protecting and enhancing long-term shareholder value while considering the interests of other
stakeholders, including employees, customers, suppliers, and the wider community.
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THE BOARD (Continued)

The Board’s responsibilities include:
I Determining and setting the tone for the Group's values, including principles of ethical business practice and requirements for
being a responsible corparate citizen;
L. Approving the Group’s mission, vision, business strategy, goals, risk policy plans, and objectives;
Hl. Approving the Group's business strategy and ensuring the necessary financial and human resources are in place to meet
agreed objectives,
Iv. Reviewing and approving Board succession plans and appointments of Non-Executive Directors
V. Reviewing periodic financial and governance reports and approving the Annual Report and Group results;
VL Declaring interim and recommending final dividends;
VH. Approving the Group’s budgets as proposed by the executive management team;
VIEL Establishing and agreeing on an appropriate governance framework;
IX. Reviewing the sufficiency, effectiveness, and integrity of risk management and intemal controf systems;
X. Approving the Group’s performance objectives, monitoring achievements, and overseeing public announcements;

Xl Providing oversight over reporting to shareholders regarding the direction, governance, performance of the Group, and
disclosure processes;
Xil. Providing oversight over activities of the Group's subsidiaries;
Xill. Providing oversight aver performance against targets and objectives;

XIV. Ensuring disputes are resolved effectively, efficiently, and expeditiously; and
XV. Monitoring the relationship between the Group and its stakeholders.

SEPARATION OF ROLES: CHAIRMAN AND GROUP MANAGING DIRECTOR

The roles of the Group Chairman and the Group Managing Director (MD) are distinct to uphold the independence ofthe Board and enstire
clear accourtahility. The Group Chairman, an Independent Non-Executive Director, leads the Board’s governance processes, while the
Group MD oversees daily operations and strategy execution.

Duties of the chairman of the board

SEPARATION OF ROLES BETWEEN THE GROUP CHAIRMAN AND GROUP MANAGING DIRECTOR/CEQ

The separation of roles between the Group Chairman and the Group Managing Director/CEO is a fundamental principle of corporate
governance that ensures a clear distinction between oversight and executive management responsibiities. This separation enhances
accountability, transparency, and the effectiveness of decision-making within the Group.

DUTIES OF THE GROUP CHAIRMAN

The Chaitman of the Board provides leadership to the Board and ensures that it operates effectively while upholding high corporate
governance standards. The Chairman is responsible for:

+ Board Leadership and Oversight:

o Providing strategic leadership to the Board and ensuring its effectiveness in fulfilling its responsibilities.

o Setting the Board's agenda in consultation with the Group MD and Company Secretary, prioritizing key governance and
strategic issues.

o Ensuring Board meetings are structured to facilitate meaningfu! discussions and effective decision-making.

« Information Flow and Degision-Making:

o Ensuring that Board members receive timely, accurate, and relevant information to support informed decision-making.

o Facilitating a culture of constructive debate and collective decision-making within the Board.

s Stakeholder Engagement and Communication:

o Representing the Group in key stakeholder engagements, including regulatars, investors, and industry partners.

o Ensuring effective communication with shareholders and overseeing the Group’s engagement at the Annual General Meeting
(AGM).

¢  Governance and Compliance:

o Promoting adherence to best corporate governance practices and regulatory compliance.

o Upholding ethical leadership, integrity, and transparency in all Board dealings.

o Ensuring the independence and effectiveness of Board Committees.
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DUTIES OF THE GROUP CHAIRMAN (Cantinued)

o]

oo * O

Board and Executive Evaluation:

Leading the Board’s evaluation process, assessing the performance of individual directors, Board Committees, and the overall
Board.

Meeting regularly with the Group MD to stay informed on key developments and provide strategic guidance.

Crisis and Risk Oversight:

Overseeing the Board's role in risk management and business continuity planning.

Supporting the Board and management in navigating strategic challenges and ctises.

ROLE OF THE GROUP MANAGING DIRECTOR/CEQ

The Group Managing Director (Group MD)/CEO is responsible for executing the Board-approved strategy and overseeing the Group’s day-
to-day operations. The Group MD/CEQ’s key responsibilities include:

cC o O ® O C O ® O 0 O ® 0O o ® 0 Q O &« 0 0O C e

o]

Strategic Execution and Business |eadership:

Translating the Board’s strategic vision into actionable plans and ensuring alignment with the Group's long-term ohjectives.
Driving business growth, operational efficiency, and strategic transformation initiatives.

Overseeing the Group’s financial performance and ensuring sound financial management.

Operational Oversight and Performance Management:

Managing operationat risks within the delegated authority framework,

Monitoring performance across subsidiaries and business units to ensure key performance indicators (KPls) are met.
Driving continuous improvement in efficiency, customer experlence, and innovation,

Board Engagement and Reporting:

Providing timely and accurate reports to the Beard on financial performance, risk exposure, regulatory compliance, and material
developments.

Keeping the Board informed of significant operational, financial, and strategic matters.

Collaborating with the Chairman to ensure that the Board has the necessary information for effective decision-making.
People Leadership and Organizational Culture:

Leading, developing, and motivating the senior management team to achieve the Group's strategic goals.

Fostering a high-performance, ethical, and inclusive corporate culture.

Ensuring the Group attracts, retains, and develops top talent.

Governance and Compliance:

Ensuring that governance structures function effectively across all subsidiaries and business units.

Maintaining compliance with legal, regutatory, and ethical standards in all business activities,

Implementing internal controls and risk management measures to safeguard shareholder value.

Stakeholder Engagement and Fxternal Relations:

Representing the Group in external engagements with regufators, policymakers, investors, and key business partners.
Maintaining strong relationships with strategic stakeholders to advance the Group’s business interests.

Ensuring transparent communication with shareholders and the investment community.

Evaluation of Performance;

The Group MD/CEOQ’s performance is evaluated annually against key objectives set by the Board.

The assessment includes financial results, strategic execution, leadership effectiveness, risk management, and corporate
governance compliance.
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

BOARD COMPOSITION AND DIRECTORS’ APPOINTMENT

The composition ofthe Board is shaped by the nature of the Group’s business, its shareholding structure, and the overarching governance
framewark, including the Board Charter and Memorandum and Articles of Association, These documents provide the foundational
guidelines for the structure and composition of the Board.

The Group is dedicated to ensuring that the Board is composed of individuals who collectively bring a diverse skill set, expertise, and
experience necessaty to effectively fulfil the Board's roles and responsibilities.

A well-rounded and capable Board is crucial for navigating the complexities of the business landscape and to make informed decisions
that drive the long-term success of the Group. Accordingly, the Group is committed to ensuring that the Board reflects a broad spectrem
of professional backgrounds, knowledge, and perspectives. This diversity is critical not only for effective decision-making but also for
fostering innovation, improving oversight, and enhancing the overall governance process.

In order to achieve this, the followlng guiding principles are considered when determining the Board's composition:

» Independence and Objectivity ~ Appointing independent directors who can provide impartial oversight and contribute to
objective decision-making,;

»  Appropriate Board Size - Ensuring the Board is adequately sized to achieve the company's strategic objectives effectively;

e Succession Planning - Ensuring a smooth transition and continuity on the Board;

¢  Diversity of Skills and Experience - Maintaining a broad range of skills, knowledge, expertise, and experience to enable the
Board to effectively discharge its duties and meet the operational and strategic needs of the business.

In adhering to these principles, the Group aims to ensure that the Board remains effective in guiding the business towards sustainable
growth whife maintaining transparency, accountability, and strong governance standards.

During the perfod under review, the Board initially comprised ten (10) directors, including four (4) independent directors, one (1)
executive director, and five (5) shareholder representatives. One director representing the shareholders retired upon completion of his
tenure at the Annual General Meeting held on 5th May 2023. Consequently, as at the end of the financial year in 2024, the Board
comprised nine (9) directors.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Position and Name Executive?! Nop-Executive independence? Director Since
Group Chairman: N. Kuria X Independent 29-Sep-2020
Vice Chairperson: J. Njue X Non-Independent? 13-May-2016
Group CEO: P. Nyaga X Executive 22-June-2020
Director: P. Nyigei X Non-Independent 8-May-2009
Director: M. Wambia X Non-Independent 23-May-2008
Director: G. Owour X Non-Independent 19-May-2006
Director: £. Rono X Non-independent 16-June-2023
Director: R, Kinoti X independent 29-June-2021
Director: |. Mwatu X Independent 20-May-2021
Director: S. Kisire X Independent 05-September-2022

Categories of Directors

The composition of the Board comprises the following categories of directors:

i.  Executive Diractor:-- A director who also holds an executive management role within the Company. Currently, the Executive
Director is the Group Managing Director & Chief Executive Officer.
iil. Independent Nen-Executive Director - A director who does not hold any executive or management position within the
Company, is not employed by the Company, and has no significant relationships that might impair independent judgment.

However, an Independent Non-Executive Director may hold shares in the Company.

fi. Non-Executive Director - A director who represents a shareholder ar group of shareholders but does not held an executive or

management role within the Company.
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)
FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

BOARD DIVERSITY

The Board acknowledges that diversity fosters a broad range of perspectives and experiences, eariching Its decision-making
processes. A diverse Board enhances its capacity to anticipate industry shifts, navigate challenges, and identify strategic
opportunities that drive the Group’s sustainable growth and long-term success.

The Board’s expertise spans multiple disciplines, including Business Management, Banking and Finance, Actuarial Science,
Accounting, Corporate Communications, Economics, Marketing, Project Management, Risk Management, Human Resources,
Legal, and Governance. When determining Board composition, directors assess the optimal mix of skills, knowledge, and
experience required to maximize effectiveness, ensuring alignment with both current and future strategic needs.

The Governance and Nominations Committee is responsible for evaluating and Interviewing prospective Board members, ensuring
alignment with the Group’s strategic objectives and implementing effective succession planning.

DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The Board values independent judgment and constructive debate on all matters under its purview. Directors are expected to
contribute perspectives and decisions that are independent of management influence and free from any material business
relationships that could impair objectivity,

Director independence is assessed based on:

» The nature of the director's relationship with the Group.
* The director’s extemal relationships that may compromise independence.

TENURE

Shareholders have the right to nominate candidates for Board election o re-election at shareholder meetings. In accordance with the
Group's Memorandum and Articles of Association, one-third (1,/3) of directors must retire by rotation at the Annual General Meeting.
Those with the fongest tenure since their last election or appointment are subject to rotation and may seek re-election.

BOARD WORKPLAN

To enhance the efficient execution of the Board’s responsibilities and ensute adherence to legal and regulatory standards, the Board
operates accerding to an Annual Workplan that outiines its activities for the year. This plan outlines the scheduled engagements of both
the Board and its Committees, in addition to other crucial company events.

SUCCESSION PLANNING

The Board maintatns a proactive approach to succession planning, ensuring the availability of a strategic mix of skills and expertise
to facilitate smooth Board transitions. The Governance and Nominations Committee evaluates potential candidates based on their
quaiifications, experience, and alignment with the Board’s requirements.

Shortlisted candidates undergo thorough due diligence and regufatory approval before Board appointment or sharehotder
election.

DIRECTOR INDUCTION
Newly appointed directors participate in a structured induction program tailored to the Group's business operations, governance framework,
and strategic direction. This ensures they fully understand their roles and responsibilities, as well as their tegal and regulatory obligations

as directors of a listed company. The Group’s Induction Policy provides a structured approach to equipping directors with the necessary
knowledge and skills.
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)
FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

BOARD CAPACITY BUILDING

To ensure that the Board remains effective and aligned with the eveolving business landscape, the Group has adopted a structured Board
Capacity Building Program that includes:

Ongoing Training and Development:

0 Regular training sessions on corporate governance, risk management, regulatory changes, and emerging industry trends.

o Participation in local and international governance forums to enhance Board knowledge and strategic foresight.

0 Access to external experts and industry specialists to provide insights into governance best practices.

=  Board Induction and Orientation:

o A comprehensive induction program for newly appointed directors to familiarize them with the Group’s operations, governance

structures, and strategic objectives.

o Periodic refresher sessions for ali Beard members to keep them updated on evolving governance frameworks.
» Evaluation and Continuous Improvement:

o  Annual Board evaiuations to assess individual director contributions and identiy capacity gaps.

o Targeted development initiatives to strengthen Board effectiveness and enhance decision-making capabifities.

BOARD REMUNERATION

The Group follows a transparent and competitive Board Remuneration Policy to attract and retain highly qualified directors. The policy
ensures:

Alignment with Performance and Responsibilities:

o Director remuneration is linked to their roles, responsibilities, and contributions to governance and strategic oversight.

o Non-Executive Directors receive fixed fees, allowances, and committee retainers based on their level of engagement.

+  Market Competitiveness:

o Board remuneration is benchmarked against industry peers and governance best practices to maintain competitiveness.
o Regular reviews are conducted to align director compensation with market trends and business performance.

» Transpareacy and Shareholder Approval:

o  The remuneration structure is disclosed in the Group’s annual report to ensure transparency.

o Any significant changes to director compensation are subject to shareholder approval at the AGM.

BOARD EVALUATION

The Group conducts Annual Board Evaluations to assess the effectiveness of the Board, its committees, and individual directors. The
evaluation process includes:

[

Petrformance Review Criteria:

Assessment of Board effectiveness in strategy oversight, risk management, and governance compliance.

Evaluation of individual director contributions, participation, and leadership within committees.

Review of the Board's ability fo engage with and provide guidance to management.

Independent External Evaluations:

Perindic engagement of external consultants to conduct independent Board evaluations and provide governance recommendations.
Action Plan for Improvement:

The findings of the evaluation are used to develop targeted interventions for Board development and governance enhancement.
Implementation of recommendations fo strengthen Board structures, decision-making processes, and overall governance
effectiveness.

s O O QO

[= I =1

ACCESS TO INFORMATION AND INDEPENDENT ADVICE
Board members have the right to seek independent professional advice to fulfill their duties effectively. Through the Group Chairman and

Group Company Secretaty, directors can access relevant information and consult senior management to support informed decision-
making.
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

SECRETARY 70 THE BOARD

The General Counsel & Group Company Secretary ensures the Board’s governance processes comply with legal and regulatory requirements.
As a Certified Public Secretary and licensed legal practitioner, the Company Secretary advises the Board on corporate governance, facilitates
Board meetings, and ensures effective information flow between directors, management, and shareholders.

The Company Secretary also maintains accurate records of Board decisions and governance frameworks, reinforcing transparency and
accountability.

These updates refine the governance statement, ensuring clarity, strategic alignment, and best practice adherence.
SHAREHOLDER RELATIONS

Effective corporate governance is crucial at both corporate and nationai levels. The Group is committed to upholding the highest standards
of integrity and ethical business practices In all its dealings. Throughout the financial year under review, the Group maintained robust
corporate governance by focusing on:

Adoption of internationally recognized accounting principles to enhance financial transparency.

Clearly defining the rofes and responsibilities of the Board and management to promote accountability.
Ensuring compliance with relevant laws, regulations, and best governance practices.

Implementing strategic initiatives to foster the long-term sustaimability and profitability of the business.
Timely, accurate, and transparent financial disclosures to shareholders and stakeholders.
Strengthening audit processes and maintaining the independence of internal and external audits,

I

Shareholder Communication and Engagement

The Group is committed to open, transparent, and timely communication with shareholders. This is achieved through multiple channels,
including:

* The Group’s website (www.cic.co.ke) providing real-time updates and reports.

*  Annual General Meeting (AGM) where shareholders interact directly with the Board and management.

*  Annual Reports, available in print and online, providing detaited financial and governance disclosures.

*  Continuous regulatory disclosures to the Capital Markets Authority (CMA) in compliance with the Capital Markets Authority Act and its
regulations.

= Investor briefings and press releases, offering insights into financial performance and strategic direction.

= Customer Experience (CX) Department, dedicated to addressing shareholder inquiries.

The Group valies meaningful two-way communication with shareholders, encouraging active participation in AGMs and direct engagement
through various investor relations platforms.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has delegated work to its four {4) standing Committees to effectively deal with specialized issues: Audit & Risk Committee,
Finance & Investment Committee, Governance & Nominations and Human Resource Committee. The mandate of these committees is
clearly defined in each of the Committees’ Terms of Reference. The Committees make recommendations for actions to the Board, which
retains collective responsibility for decision making. The Committees’ membership is structured to spread responsibility and make best
use of the range of skilis across the Board.

Unless there are compelling circumstances, the Committee meetings are scheduled to coordinate with the Board meeting cycle. Each

Committee reports to the Board at the subsequent Board meeting and makes recommendations to the Board for consideration as
appropriate,
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)
FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

An overview of the role and responsibilities, membership, and meetings of the Board's four standing Committees is provided below.

Board, ensuring alignment with Dbest
governance practices.

« Evaluates and reviews the
compaosition, balance, and
effectiveness of the Board, making
recommendations to enhance
performance and effectiveness.

* Identifies, ASSESSES, and
recommends suitable candidates for
Board appeintments, ensuring
appropriate skill sets, experience, and
diversity.

« Manages succession planning for
the Board and senior executive
management, ensuring a structured
and continuous leadership pipeline.

» Reviews and advises on executive
appointments, leadership succession
plans, and professional development
initiatives for senior management.

framewaorks, and practices.

+ Reviews and recommends policies
related to recruitment, retention,
compensation, benefits, performance

management, and employee
development.
» Reviews senior management

appointments, ensuring alignment with
organizational strategy and objectives.

» Evaluates senior management
performance and recommends
appropriate compensation and benefits
structures.

»  {versees annual staff performance
assessments, ensuring consistency with
organizational objectives and
recommending  benefit  allocations
accordingly.

accuracy, and reliability of financial
statements.

+ Reviews significant financial
reporting issues and judgments made in
connection with the preparation of
financial statements.

*  Provides recommendations to the
Board regarding the  fairness,
transparency, and completeness of the

Annual Repert, including long-term
viability statements,

* Evaluates and monitors  the
independence, objectivity, and

effectiveness of external auditors and
the overall external audit process.

* Reviews and monitors internal
control systems, financial management
practices, and compliance with
applicable laws and regulations.

« Qversees the effectiveness and
independence of the internal audit
function.

» Ensures robust oversight of risk
management frameworks, reviewing
principal risks and ensuring effective risk
mitigation strategies are in place.

Govemnance & Nomination HR Audit & Risk Finance & Investment
Roles and | * Oversees the overall governance | «  Provides strategic oversight of the | «  Oversees  financial  reporting | »  Provides sirategic oversight on maters
Responsibilities structure, policies, and practices of the | Group’s Human Resource policies, | processes, ensuring the integrity, | relating fo the financial management and

investment activities of the Group.

* Reviews and advises on Investment
guidelines, asset allocation strategies, and
financing policies.

+  Monitors the performance of the Group’s
investments, ensuring adherence to approved
guidelines and objectives.

+« Reviews and recommends
poticies and declarations to the Board.
»  Assesses and advises on capital allocation
strategies, including corporate acquisitions,
disposals, joint ventures, and other significant
financial and strategic decisions.

* Reviews and  monitors  financial
performance, providing recommendations on
budgeting and financial planning matters.

dividend
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THE CIC INSURANGE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

BGARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

year. During the period under
consideration the committee met three
{imes.,

year. During the period under
consideration the committee met three
times.

The Committee meets at least four
times in a year. During the period under
consideration the committee met five
{imes.

Governance & Nomination HR Audit & Risk Finance & Investment
Membership The Governance and Nomination | The Human Resource Committee | The Commitiee is comprised of four | The Committee comprised of five
Committee comprised of five (5) | comprised of five (5) members. members, three of whom, including the | (5) members.
members. The members during the reporting | chairman are independent non-
period were: executive directors. The Members during the reporting period were;
The members during the reporting period
were: *  Mr. Michael Wambja—Chairman The members during the reporting
*  Mr. Gordon Owuor period were: * Ms, Ludia Cherono - Chairman
* M. Nelson Kuria—Chairman *  Mr. Nelson Kuria . * M. Rogers Kinofi
*  Mr. Gordon Owuor = Mr. James Njue +  MrJulius Mwatu - Chairman *  Mr. Comelius Ashira
*  Mr. Michael Wambia *  Mrs. Sharon Kasire «  Dr. Rogers Kinoti *  Mr. Edwin Otieno
*  Mr. James Njue = Mr. Patrick Nyaga *  Mr.lohnson Kegohi = Mr. Patrick Nyaga
*  Mr. Patrick Nyaga *  Mrs. Sharon Kisire
Meetings The Committee meets at least twice a | The Committee meets at least twice a

The Committee meets at least ffour times in a
year. During the period under consideration the
committee met four (4) times.
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Key Activities of the Audit and Risk Committee in 2024

Reviewed half-year results and annual audited financial statements along with related reports.
Reviewed the external auditor's management letter and ensured effective follow-up on recommendations.
o Reviewed and approved the internal audit plan for the year ending 31 December 2024,
* Monitored and evaluated quarterly internal audit reports, assessing internal control effectiveness and addressing significant
findings.
e Assessed and monitored the effectiveness and independence of external auditors.
Reviewed risk management frameworks, identifying principal risks and evaluating mitigation strategies.
Reviewed and assessed compliance with financiat control procedures and regulatory reguirements.

ATTENDANCE OF BOARD AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS

The table below shows attendances at Board and Committee meetings by directors in the year ended 31 December 2024. In addition o
the usual meetings of the Board and its standing committees, additional meetings of the Board and the Committees are convened as
necessary to consider such urgent matters. Senior employees only attend Committee or Board meetings by invitation.

Directors Board Meeting Audit& Risk | Finance & | Governance & | HR  Commitiee

Committee Investment Nomination Meetings

Meeting Committee Committee

Meetings Meetings
{a) {b) (@ {b) {a) (b) (@ (b) {a) )
Dr. Neison Kuria 5 5 * * * * 3 3 3 3
James Njue 5 5 * * * * 3 3 3 3
Peter Nyigei** 5 i 5 1 * * * * * *
Gordon Owuor 5 5 * * * * 3 3 3 3
Michael Wambia 5 5 * * * * * * 3 3
Ludia Rono 5 5 * * 4 4 * * * *
Julius Mwatu 5 5 5 5 * * * * * *
Patrick Nyaga 5 5 * * 4 4 3 3 3 3
Rogers Kinoti 5 5 b 5 * * * * * *
Sharon Kisire 5 5 * * * * * * 3 3
Johnson Kegohi * * 5 5 * * * * * *
Cornelius Ashira * * * * 4 4 * * * *
Edwin Otieno * * * * 4 4 * * * *
Notes:

1. (a) Number of meetings convened during year when the director was a member,
2. (b) Number of meetings attended by the Director during the year,

3. * Not a member

4. **Retired during the year under review
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ACCOUNTABILITY, RISK MANAGEMENT, AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Enterprise Risk Management

The Group has adopted a structured Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) framework that identifies, assesses, and mitigates risks. This
framework ensures a proactive approach to risk oversight, integrating risk considerations into decision-making processes at all levels of
the organization. The risk universe covers:

*  Strategic Risk: Ensuring that business strategies align with future growth objectives and extetnal environmental factors.

+ Financial Risk: Addressing exposure to market volatiiity, liquidity challenges, credit risks, and capital adeguacy.

*  Operational Risk: Mitigating risks related to business continuity, cybersecurity, supply chain disruptions, process failures, and
reputational concemns.

*  Regulatory and Compliance Risk: Ensuring adherence to evolving legal, governance, and industry-specific regulaiory standards.

= Technology and Cybersecurity Risk: Safeguarding the Group’s digital assets, data privacy, and IT infrastructure against cyber threats
and breaches.

*  Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) Risk: Managing sustainability-related risks, including climate change, social
responsibility, and ethical governance.

The Audit and Risk Committee is responsible for risk oversight and ensures that risk management strategles are well-integrated into
business operations, Key responsibilities include:

Annual review and approvai of the risk management framework to align with industry best practices and regulatory requirements.
Continuous risk identification and assessment to proactively detect and mitigate potential risks before they escalate.
Development of risk mitigation plans to address identified risks through preventative and comective measures.

Monitoring of key risk indicators to track risk trends and ensure proactive respense mechanisms.

Regular risk reporting to the Board, ensuring transparency and accountabifity In risk oversight,

. Embedding risk culture across all business units, ensuring that employees understand and adhere to risk management prineiples
their dally operations

U S

=

The Group also employs a Three Lines of Defense Model to strengthen risk governance:

*  FirstLine of Defense: Business units responsible for implementing risk masagement measures in day-to-day operations.

*  Second Line of Defense: The Risk Management and Compliance function, which provides independent oversight and ensures
regulatory adherence,

*  Third Line of Defense: Internal Audit, which provides independent assurance on the effectiveness of risk management frameworks
and internal controls.

By maintaining a robust risk management structure, the Group ensures resilience, adaptability, and sustainability in an ever-changing
business landscape.

INTEGRITY OF REPORTING

The Board and management have implemented strong internal controls to safeguard the Group's interests and ensure the integrity of
financial and corporate reporting. These controls encompass accounting, financial reporting, sustainability, and regulatory compliance to
ensure:

*  Accuracy and reliability of financial statements.

«  Compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

« Transparent and timely disclosure of material financial and non-financial information.
*  Adherence to applicable laws and regulatory requirements.

*  Prevention and detection of fraud and financial misstatements.

To uphold reporting integrity, the Board ensures that financial statements for a given period are a true and fair reflection of the Group's
financial position by seeking assurances from the Group Managing Director {MD) & CEO and the Group Chief Financiat Officer (CFO0) that:

1. The Group's financial records have been properly maintained.

2. Financial statements comply with applicable accounting standards and regulatory requirements.
3. The financial reporting process is supported by a sound system of internal controls and risk management.
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INTEGRITY OF REPORTING(Continued)

The external auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC), provides an independent opinion on whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatements. PwC also attends the AGM to present their audit report to the shareholders.
INTERNAL AUDIT

The Internal Audit function plays a crucial role in ensuring the integrity, efficiency, and effectiveness of the Group’s operations, risk
management, and internal controls, Operating independently and repotting directly to the Audit and Risk Committee, Internal Audit is
structured to provide ohjective assessments and recommendations for continuous improvement.

Key Responsibilities:

»  Risk-Based Audits: Conducting independent risk-based audits across all business units to evaluate control effectiveness and
cempliance.

«  Compliance Assurance: Ensuring adherence to internal policies, regulatory requirements, and govemance frameworks.

«  Qperational and Financial Controf Reviews: Assessing the adequacy and effectiveness of financial and operational control systems.

*  Fraud and Investigative Audits: Identifying potential fraud risks, conducting investigations, and recommending corrective measures,

»  Reporting and Recommendations: Presenting audit findings to senior management and the Board, with recommendations for process
improvements and corrective actions.

» Contiruous lmprovement: Monitoring the implementation of audit recommendations and assessing their impact on business
operations,

The Internal Audit function enhances accountability and promotes a strong controd environment by ensuring that business processes align
with industry best practices and regulatory requirements.

EXTERNAL AUDIT

The External Audit function provides an independent assessment of the Group’s financial position, ensuring compliance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and applicable regulatory requirements. The Group currently engages PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC)
as its independent external auditor.

Scope of External Audit:

+  Financial Statement Audit: Verifying the accuracy and refiability of financial statements to ensure transparency and compliance with
reporting standards.

«  Audit Opinion: Providing an independent opinion on whether the Group’s financial statements fairly reflect its financial position.

*  Engagement with Shareholders: Attending the Annual General Meeting (AGM).

The External Auditor is appointed by shareholders during the AGM and serves in accordance with regulatory requirements governing auditor
independence and tenure.

LEGAL AND COMPLIANCE AUDIT
In 2023, the Group undertook a comprehensive Legal and Compliance Audit to assess its adherence to regulatory requirements,
cotporate governance best practices, and internal policies. The audit covered all key areas of legal and compliance risk, inciuding

contractual obligations, regutatory filings, ethical business conduct, and litigation exposure.

Management is cuirently working on the audit’s recommendations with a view to implementing the necessary changes to strengthen
compliance structures, enhance risk mitigation, and improve governance frameworks,
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LEGAL AND COMPLIANCE AUBIT {Continued)
Key Focus Areas:

*  Regulatory Compliance Monitoring: Ensuring compliance with the Capital Markets Authority Act, the Companies Act, and other
applicable financial sector regulations.

»  Contract and Legal Risk Management: Reviewing and advising on contractual agreements to mitigate legal expesure and protect the
Group's interests.

*  Ethical and Governance Compliance: Ensuring adherence to corporate governance codes and ethical business practices.

* Compliance Training and Awareness: Conducting periodic training for empioyees and directors to enhance awareness of regulatory
obligations and corporate policies.

* Litigation Management: Providing oversight of legal proceedings and coordinating with external legal counsel to minimize legal risks
and liabilities.

*  Whistieblower and Ethics Investigations: Reviewing reports of misconduct and ensuring appropriate legal action and remedial
measures,

Implementation of Recommendations

Following the 2023 audit, management has developed an action plan to address the identified gaps and implement the recommendations.
Key measures include:

*  Strengthening the Group’s compliance monitering mechanisms to enhance regulatory oversight.

*  Improving contract management processes o ensure legal risks are effectively mitigated.

= Enhancing training programs for employees and directors to reinforce awareness of legal and regulatory obligations.
= Implementing corrective measures in areas requiring improvement to mitigate future compliance risks,

The Legal and Compliance Audit is a comerstone of the Group's commitment to regulatory excellence, ethical governance, and corporate
accountability. Regular audits will continue to be conducted to ensure ongoing compliance and continuous improvement in legal and
governance practices.

GOVERNANCE AUDIT REPORT

A Governance Audit was undertaken for CIC Insurance Group PLC in 2023, covering governance practices, structures, and systems in place
to ensure complance with fegal and regulatory requirements, ethical leadership, and adherence to best corporate governance practices.
Governance audits are conducted every two years, and the findings from the 2023 audit remain valid for the perfod under review,

The Board of Directors is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective governance structures that promote transparency,
accountability, and sustainable business operations. This includes:

*  Defining and implementing governance poticies aligned with the Gronp’s strategic objectives.
*  Ensuring oversight, risk management, and regulatory compliance.

*  Providing ethical leadership and fostering corporate citizenship.

= Maintaining effective internal controls and ensuring operational efficiency.

+  Upholding shareholder rights and ensuring fair treatment of ali stakeholders.

*  Embedding sustainability and performance management principles within the organization.

The Governance Auditor conducted an independent assessment of governance instruments, policies, structures, and practices within the
Group in line with the legal and regulatory framework and best governance practices. The audit covered key areas such as:

* Board Constitution and Composition - Evaluating Board structure, diversity, and independence.

»  Ethical Leadership and Corporate Citizenship - Assessing adherence to corporate values and ethical standards.

*  Accountability, Risk Management, and Internal Control - Examining the effectiveness of risk frameworks and control measures.
» Transparency and Disclosure - Ensuring adequate reporting and communication with stakeholders.

*  Stakeholder Engagement - Reviewing interactions with shareholders, regulators, and customers.

«  Compliance with Laws and Regulations - Confirming adherence to statutory and regulatory obligations.

*  Sustainability and Performance Management - Evaluating integration of sustainability principles in business operations.
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GOVERNANCE AUDIT REPORT (Continued)

The audit was conducted in accordance with the ICPSK Governance Audit Standards and Guidelines, ensuring a structured and globally
aligned approach to assessing governance effectiveness.

Following the 2023 Governance Audit, management has been working on implementing the audit's recommendations to further strengthen
governance structures and enhance compliance. Key actions include:

+  Enhancing Board training programs to ensure continuous director development.

«  Strengthening risk management and internal control measures.

«  Improving stakeholder engagement through transparent communication strategies.
»  Aligning governance frameworks with evolving regulatory requirements.

CODE OF CONDUCT

The Group's Code of Conduct serves as a guiding framework for ethical behavior, integrity, and accountability among directors, employees,
and stakeholders. It outlines the principles and values that govern business operations, ensuring compliance with laws, regulations, and
corporate governance best practices.

Core Principles of the Code of Conduct:

= Ethical Business Practices: Ensuring honesty, faimess, and transparency in alt business dealings.

»  Anti-Bribery and Corruption: Prohibiting all forms of bribery, corruption, and unethical conduct.

= Confidentiality and Data Protection; Safeguarding company information and respecting privacy regulations.

=  Fair Competition and Market Infegrity: Promoting fair competition and preventing anti-competitive behavior.

»  Conflicts of Interest: Requiring directors and employees to disclose and manage conflicts of interest,

«  Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion: Encouraging a workplace environment that values diversity and equal opportunity.

+  Whistlehlower Protection: Providing mechanisms for employees and stakeholders to report unethical conduct confidentially and
without fear of retaliation.

The Code of Conduct is embedded in the Group's corporate culture, with periodic training sessions conducted to reinforce ethical
expectations. Non-compliance with the Code may result in disciplinary action, including termination of employment or legal consequences,
depending on the severity of the violation.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The Group is committed to maintaining the highest standards of integrity and transparency in all business dealings. To safeguard the
interests of the Company, its shareholders, and other stakeholders, employees, officers, and directors are required to avoid situations
where personal interests may conflict with the interests of the Group.

Key Conflict of Interest Policies:

*  Disclosure Obligation:

o Al directors and employees must disclose any potential or actual conflicts of interest to the Chairman and the Company Secretary
as soon as they arise.

0 The disclosed conflicts are recorded in the Conflict of Interest Register, maintained by the Company Secretary.

o Directors must recuse themselves from discussions and decisions where they have a conflict of interest.

+  Standard Board and Committee Agenda tHem:

Peclaration of conflict of interest is a mandatory agenda item at the beginning of every Board and Committee meeting.

Any conflicts noted are documented in the meeting minutes and acted upon accordingly.

Conflict of interest Assessments:

o The Risk and Compliance function periodically conducts assessments by issuing a Conflict of Interest Questionnaire to employees
and directors.

o  Employees and directors must update their disclosures regularly or whenever a new conflict arises.
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Failure to disclose a conflict of interest or acting in a manner that benefits personal interests over those of the Group may result in
disciplinary action, including termination or legal consequences.
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FOR THEYEAR ENDED 31 PECEMBER 2024

REGULATORY COMPLIANCE

The Group is fully committed to ensuring compliance with all applicable laws, regulations, and industry standards in the jurisdictions in
which it operates. Regulatory compliance is embedded in the corporate governance framework and is continuously monitored to mitigate
tegal risks and uphold industry best practices.

Regulatory Compliance Framework:

«  Monitoring and Adherence:

o The Group actively monitors evolving regulatory requirements, including those set by the Capital Markets Authority (CMA), the
Companies Act, the Insurance Regulatory Authority (IRA}, and other relevant authorities.

o  The Legal and Compliance Department ensures full adherence to all regulatory changes, providing timely updates and guidance to the
Board and management.

*  Regulatory Reporting and Filings:

o The Group ensures timely submission of regulatory filings, including financial disclosures, corporate governance reports, and statutory
returns.

o Compliance reports are reviewed periodically by the Audit and Risk Committee and the Board.

+  Compliance Training and Awareness:

0 Regufar training sessions are conducted to ensure that employees, management, and directors understand their compliance
chligations.

0 Awareness campaigns are held to reinforce the importance of compliance with industry laws, ethical standards, and regulatory
guidelines.

+  Regulatory Audits and Reviews:

o The Group undergoes internal and external compiiance audits to assess adherence to applicable laws and governance standards.

o  Findings from compliance audits are addressed through corrective action plans to strengthen the regulatory framework.

The Group's proactive approach to regulatory compliance fosters operational resilience, minimizes legal risks, and enhances trust with
shareholders, customers, and regulators.

INSIDER TRADING RESTRICTION
The Group is committed to maintaining market integrity and ensuring that directors, management, and employees do not engage In uniawful
trading activities using non-public information. To prevent insider trading, the Group has established a strict Insider Trading Policy that aligns

with regulatory requirements and ethical standards.

Key Insider Trading Policies:

»  Closed Trading Periods:

o The Group enforces closed trading periods each quarter before the release of financial statements.

o During these periods, directors, senior executives, employees, and related parties are prohibited from trading the Group’s securities.

*  Prohibited Conduct:

o Directors, employees, and contractors must not trade in the Group’s securities while in possession of material, non-public information,
o Passing on insider information to third parties or encouraging others to trade based on such information is strictly prohibited.

* Disclosure and Pre-Approval Requirements:

0 Any director or senlor executive intending to trade the Group's securities must obtain written pre-approval from the Company Secretary,
o Trading activity is monitored, and any non-compliance is reported to the Audit and Risk Committee.

* Training and Compliance Monitoring:

o The Group conducts periodic training for employees and directors to raise awareness of insider trading laws and policies.

o The Compliance Department oversees atdherence to insider trading regulations and investigates any suspected violations.

Any breaches of the Insider Trading Policy may result in disciplinary action, regulatory sanctions, or legal consequences In accordance with
Capital Markets Authority (CMA) regulations.
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CORPORATE SUSTAINABILITY

The Group is committed to embedding Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) principles into its business strategy, operations,
and decision-making processes to drive long-term sustainability and create value for all stakeholders.

Key Areas of Corporate Sustainability:

Environmental Stewardship:

o Reducing the Group's carbon footprint through energy efficiency, waste management, and sustainable resource use.

0 Implementing responsible investment strategies that consider climate risks and opportunities.

o  Compliance with environmental laws and promotion of green initiatives.

*  Sociaf Responsibility:

o Engaging in impactful Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) programs focused on education, health, financial literacy, and

community development.

0 Prometing diversity, equity, and inclusion in the workplace.

0  Employee welfare and skills development programs to enhance productivity and professional growth.
+  Governance and Ethical Leadership:

Ensuring adherence to corporate governance best practices.

implementing policies that promote integrity, accountability, and ethical business practices.

Regular engagement with regulators, investors, and other key stakeholders on sustainability matters.

o o o

The Group is committed to aligning its sustainability efforts with giobal ESG frameworks, ensuring compliance with regulatory
requirements and contributing positively to society.

CONTINUOUS DISCLOSURE

The Group’s continuous disclosure policy ensures that all stakeholders receive timely, accurate, and relevant information on financial

petformance, governance matters, and strategic initiatives. The key objectives of this policy include:

Regulatory Compliance:

Adhering to the Capital Markets Authority (CMA) guidelines and other regulatory disclosure requirements.

Ensuring transparent reporting of material events that could impact the Group's market position.

Timely and Transparent Communication:

Providing stakeholders with real-time updates through company announcements, financial reports, and investor briefings.
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Confidentiality and Market Sensitivity:
Balancing transparency with the need to protect commercially sensitive information.
Ensuring that disclosure processes comgply with insider trading regulations.

o o

GOVERNANCE POLICIES IN PLACE AT THE GROUP

The Group has established a robust governance framework by implementing key policies that guide decision-making, business conduct,
and risk management. The policies inciude:

« Board Charter: Defines the roles, responsibilities, and structure of the Board.

= Code of Conduct and Fthics: Sets standards for ethical behavior among directors, employees, and stakeholders.

= Trading and Insider Trading Policy: Governs the trading of the Group’s securities and prevents insider trading violations.

»  Continuous Disclosure Policy: Ensures timely and transparent communication with investors and regulatory bodies.

= Stakeholder Engagement Policy: Establishes guidelines for interactions with shareholders, customers, regulators, and the public.
»  Risk Management Policy: Outlines the Group's risk oversight framework, ensuring proactive risk identification and mitigation.

*  Procurement Policy: Provides guidelines on ethical sourcing, supplier due diligence, and procurement best practices.

»  Whistieblower Policy: Encourages employees and stakeholders to report unethical conduct confidentially and without fear of
retaliation.

These policies reinforce accountability, transparency, and compliance, positioning the Group as a responsible corporate entity.
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)
FORTHEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

COMMUNICATION WITH STAKEHGLDERS

The Group recognizes the importance of open and effective communication with all stakeholders, including shareholders, employees,
regulators, and customers, Commenication is guided by principles of transparency, engagement, and responsiveness.
Key Communication Channels:

Regulatory Filings: Submission of timely disclosures to the Capital Markets Authority {CMA) and other relevant authorities.
Annual and Financial Reports: Providing comprehensive performance updates to shareholders and investors.

Investor Relations Activities: Hosting investor briefings, quarterly updates, and analyst engagements.

Media Engagement: Issuing press releases and participating in public forums to communicate strategic developments.
Customer Engagement Platforms: Utilizing digital channels, call centers, and social media for real-time customer interactions.

The Group ensures that stakeholders are kept informed of material developments and maintains two-way communication to address
concerns and gather feedback.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING {AGM)

The AGM is a key governance platform that enables shareholders to actively participate in decision-making. The Group adheres to
regulatory requirements o ensure that the AGM is transparent, inclusive, and effective.

AGM Key Features:

+  Shareholder Participation:

Shareholders are provided with notice of the AGM well in advance, including the agenda and key resolutions.
Opportunities for shareholders to ask questions, vote on resolutions, and engage with the Board and management.
Presentation of Financial Reports:

The Board presents audited financial statements, corporate governance reports, and sustainability disclosures.
External auditors present their audit opinion to the sharehalders.

Voting and Decision-Making:

Resolutions on director elections, dividend approvals, and key corporate decisions are put to shareholder vote,
Electronic voting options are made available to facilitate wider shareholder participation.
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The AGM strengthens corporate accountability and stakeholder engagement, reinforcing trust In the Group's governance structures.

INVESTOR BRIEFINGS

The Group conducts regular investor briefings to ensure that shareholders, analysts, and institutional investors receive timely updates
on the Group's financial performance and strategic direction.

Investor Briefing Objectives:

* Transparency and Market Confidence:

Providing accurate and relevant financial updates to the investment community.

Addressing market concerns and clarifying business strategies.

Engagement with Institutional and Retail Investors:

Facilitating discussions on eamings, growth opportunities, and industry trends.
Strengthening investor refations through direct engagement with senior management.
Regulatory and Governance Alignment;

Ensuting compliance with Capital Markets Authority (CMA) guidelines on investor disclosures.
Upholding best practices in corporate reporting and financial communication.
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Investor briefings foster trust, confidence, and long-term value creation for shareholders.
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CUSTOMER SERVICE

The Group is dedicated to delivering exceptional customer service as part of its commitment to business excellence. The Customer

Experience {CX) Department ensures that clients receive efficient, professional, and responsive support across all touchpoints.

Key Customer Service Commitments:

Service Excelience:

Providing seamless customer interactions through calt centers, digital piatforms, and in-person engagements.
Implementing service quality benchmarks to enhance response times and customer satisfaction.
Customer Feedback and Resolution:

Actively collecting and analyzing customer feedback to improve products and services.

Establishing dedicated customer support teams to address complaints and escalate unresolved issues.
Technology-Driven Engagement:

Leveraging Al-powered chatbots, mobile apps, and web portals for seif-setvice options.

Enhancing digital service offerings to improve accessibility and convenience.

Regulatory Compliance and Consumer Protection:

Ensuting that customer service operations comply with industry regulations and consumer protection faws.
Transparent communication regarding policy terms, product features, and setvice commitments,
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By priotitizing customer satisfaction, innovation, and reguiatory compliance, the Group fosters long-term relationships and strengthens

its market position.
INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

The Group acknowledges the critical role of technology in fostering business transformation, enhancing operational efficiency, and
improving customer experiences. To ensure the secure, efficient, and ethical use of technology, the Group has impiemented a
comprehensive Information Technology (T} Governance Framework aligned with global best practices.

Key IT Gavernance and Strategy Areas:

IT Security and Cyber Resilience:

Deployment of advanced cybersecurity protocols to safeguard data and digital assets.

Continuous vulnerabitity assessments and penetration testing to identify and mitigate cyber threats.
Adoption of a data protection policy that aligns with national and international regulatory standards.
Digitai Transformation and Innovation:

Leveraging cloud computing, artificial intelligence (Al), and automation to optimize business processes.
Enhancing customer experience through interactive digital service platforms and sel-service portals.
Strategic investments in fintech collaborations and emerging technologies to maintain a competitive edge.
IT Compliance and Risk Management:

Ensuring adherence to ICT regulatory frameworks and data privacy faws.

Conducting regular iT audits to enhance system integrity and mitigate [T-related risks.

Strengthening disaster recovery and business continuity planning to enhanee resilience and operational stability.
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The IT function is committed to enabling business growth while proactively identifying and mitigating technology-related risks.
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PROCUREMENT POLICIES

The Group's Procurement Policy ensures that all procurement activities are conducted in a transparent, ethical, and cost-efficlent
manner, while promoting fair competition and supplier integrity.

Key Procurement Principles:

-

Ethicai Sourcing and Supplier Due Diligence;

Ensuring that ali suppliers adhere to Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) standards.
Conducting comprehensive supplier background checks and risk assessments hefore contract issuance.
Implementing strict anti-bribery and corruption measures in all procurement activities.

Competitive and Transparent Tendeting Process:

Utilizing open and competitive bidding for major procurement contracts to ensure faimess.

Adopting e-procurement platforms to enhance transparency, efficiency, and accountability.

Establishing objective evaluation criteria to guide supplier selection and contract awarding.
Procurement Oversight and Risk Management;

Formation of & Procurement and Tender Committee to oversee all significant procurement decisions.
Conducting periodic procurement audits to assess compliance, efficiency, and integrity.

Aligning procurement strategies with the Group’s financial and operational pricrities to ensure sustainable business practices.

s DO O 5 O O Q

(= =~ R =]

The Procurement Policy undergoes annual reviews and updates to afign with evolving industry best practices and regulatory
requirements.

WHISTLEBLOWER POLICY

The Group uphofds a robust ethical framework and provides secure and confidential mechanisms for employees, suppliers, and stakeholders to
report concerns regarding misconduct, fraud, or unethical behavior without fear of retaliation,

Key Features of the Whistleblower Policy:

. Confidential and Secure Reporting Channels:

o Establishment of a dedicated whistleblower hotfine managed by an independent third-party entity.

(] Ensuring that all whistleblower identities are protected and treated with the utmest confidentiality.

0 Provision of multipte repotting channels, including secure email, hotline, and an online reporting platform.

. Thorough investigation and Corrective Measures:

0 Prompt assessment of reporis by the Ethics and Compliance Committee.

0 Conducting impartial investigations and recommending approptiate remedial actions, including disciplinary measures or legal

proceedings where necessary.

o Providing updates, where applicable, to whistleblowers on the status and resolution of reported concems.

. Zero Tolerance for Retaliation:

Strict enforcement of a non-retaliation policy to protect whistleblowers who report concems in good faith.
Implementation of whistieblower protection measures, including job security assurances and legal safeguards.
Disciplinary action against individuals found to have engaged in retaliation or obstruction of investigations.
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The Group remains committed to ensuring integrity, transparency, and ethicat business conduct by maintaining a structured and secure
mechanism for reporting and addressing concerns.
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CONSOLIDATED TOP TEN SHAREHOLDERS OF THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2024

Year 2024 % Ownership Year2023 % Dwnership

Shareholder name Shareholding Sharehalding Category
Co-operative Insurance Society

1 Limited - immediate Parent 1,943,441,304 74.3% 1,943,441,304 74.3% Lo*

2 Gideon Maina Murluki 158,046,904 8.0% 158,046,904 6.0% Lpx*

3 Weda Welton 26,809,000 1.0% 26,809,000 1.0% Lir*
Standard Chartered Nominees

4 Non- Restdent Ac 9011 24,422,040 0.9% 24,422,040 0.9% FC***

5 Nelson Chege Kuria 16,222,100 0.6% 16,222,100 0.6% LI**

6 Nic Custodial Services A/C 077 15,481,560 0.6% 15,481,560 0.6% LC

7 Patrick Nyaga 12,897,400 0.5% 12,897,400 0.5% pix*
Patel, Baloobhai; Patel,

8 Amarjeet Baloobhai 14,700,000 0.5% 11,700,000 0.5% LI**
Kenya Reinsurance Corporation

9 Limited 10,800,000 0.4% 10,800,000 0.4% LC*
Patrick Njogu Kariuki Family

10 | Trust Registered Trustees 9,547,889 0.4% 9,947 889 0.4% LC*
*IC - Local Company
#*[| -~ Local Individual

***FC-  Foreign Company

TOP TEN [NDIVIDUAL SHAREHOLDERS OF THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2024

Shareholder Name 2024 2024 % Ownership 2023 2023 % Category
Shareholding Shareholding Ownership
1 [Gideon Maina Muriuki 158,046,904 8.0% 158,046,804 8.0% L
2 Welton Weda 26,309,000 1,0% 26,809,000 1.0% L
3 Nelson Chege Kuria 16,222,100 0.6% 16,222,100 0.6% U
4 Patrick Nyaga 12,897,400 0.5% 12,897,400 0.5% )
Patel, Baloobhai; Patel,
5 Wmarjeet Baloobhai 11,700,000 0.5% 11,700,000 0.5% Ll
6 John Njuguna Ngugi 8,775,900 0.3% 9,332,100 0.4% Ll
7 Charles Ndonga Muchiri 6,953,648 0.3% 6,953,648 0.3% u
8 Nancy Wangari Ndungu 5,815,000 0.2% 5,815,000 0.2% L
9 Jullus Micheuth Riungu 5,241,600 0.2% 5,241,600 0.2% LI
10 Joyce Wanjiku Muriuki 5,108,640 0.2% 5,108,640 0.2% u
Total 257,570,192 9.8% 258,126,392 9,9%
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDING AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2024

2024 2023
NAME NO. OF SHARES NO. OF SHARES
1 Nelson Kuria 16,222,100 16,222,100
2 Nyaga Patrick 12,897,400 12,897,400
3 Ludia Rono 300,000 300,000
4 Gordon Oweor 264,000 264,000
5 Rogers Kinoti 52,320 52,320
6 iames Njiru 48,000 48,000
7 Michael 0. Wambia 36,000 36,000
TOTAL 29,819,820 29,819,820
THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP SHAREHOLDER BISTRIBUTION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2024
SHAREHOLDING NO OF NO OF SHARES % SHAREHOLDING
SHAREHOLDERS
1-500 6,930 1,447,988 0.06
501-5,000 6,948 13,674,141 0.52
5,001-10,000 1,467 11,173,429 0.43
10,001-100,000 4,091 112,719,917 431
100,001-1,000,000 513 130,616,654 4,99
Above 1,000,000 54 2,345,806,399 89.69
TOTALS 20,003 2,615,538,528 100.00
THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP SHAREHOLDER DISTRIBUTION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2023
SHAREHOLDING NO OF
SHAREHOELDERS NO OF SHARES | % SHAREHOLDING
1-500 8,214 1,290,232 0.05
501-5,000 6,644 13,142,775 0.50
5001-10000 1,468 11,113,370 0.42
10,001-100,000 4,128 114,121,494 4.36
100,001-1,000,000 519 130,943,558 5.01
Above 1,000,000 53 2,344,927,099 89.66
TOTALS 19,026 2,615,538,528 100.00
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CATEGORY SUMMARY OF SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2024

SHAREHOLDING NO OF SHAREHOLDERS NO OF SHARES % SHAREHOLDING
FOREIGN COMPANIES 2 24,482,040 0.94
FOREIGN INDIVIDUALS 68 2,349,544 0.09
LOCAL COMPANIES 606 2,007,289,655 76.74
LOCAL INDIVIDUAL 19,290 579,841,149 2217
EAST AFRICAN INVESTORS 33 1,517,540 0.06
JUNIOR INVESTORS 4 58,600 0.00
TOTALS 20,003 2,615,538,528 100.00
CATEGORY SUMMARY OF SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2023
SHAREHOLDING NO OF SHAREHOLDERS NO OF SHARES % SHAREHOLDING
FOREIGN COMPANIES 2 24,482,040 0.94
FOREIGN INDIVIDUALS 74 2,836,584 0.11
LOCAL COMPANIES 616 2,008,663,387 76.80
LOCAL INDIVIDUAL 18,334 579,556,517 22.15
TOTALS 19,026 2,615,538,528 100.00

The Group communicates open and closed periods for trading in its shares to its employees and directors on an annual basis.

Approved by the board of directors on 27 March 2025 and signed on its behalf by:

Nelson Kuria
Chairman

Patrick Nyaga
Group MD & CEO
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

The Companies Act, 2015 requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year that give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group at the end of the financial year and of its financial performance for the yearthen ended. The
directors are responsible for ensuring that the Group and its subsidiaries keep proper accounting records that are sufficient to
show and explain the transactions of the Group; disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group;
and that enables them to prepare financial statements of the Group that comply with prescribed financial reporting standards and
the requirements of the Companies Act, 2015. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors accept responsibility for the preparation and presentation of these financial statements in accordance with IFRS
Accounting Standards and in the manner required by the Companies Act, 2015. They also accept responsibility for:

i.  Designing, implementing and maintaining internal control as they determine necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error;

ii.  Selecting suitable accounting policies and then applying them consistently; and

iii. Making judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Having assessed the Group’s and Company's abilities to continue as going concerns, the directors are not aware of any material
uncertainties related to events or conditions that may cast doubt upon the Group's and Company's abilities to continue as going
concerns.

The directors acknowledge that the independent audit of the financial statements does not relieve them of their responsibilities.

Approved by the Board of Directors on 27 March 2025 and signed on its behalf by:

_,/g /,ﬁ}ﬂ/j (}&__\/ ' \R o -';.—'.\_{_._.. h
Nelson Kuria Patrick Nyaga Julius Mwatu
Chairman Group MD & CEO Director
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF THE CIC INSURANCE
GROUP PLC

Report on the financial statements

Our opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of The CIC Insurance Group Plc (the Company)
and its subsidiaries (together, the Group) set out on pages 37 to 196, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position at 31 December 2024 and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, together with the Company statement of financial position at 31
December 2024, and the Company statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, changes
in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes to the financial statements, comprising
material accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of
the Group and the Company at 31 December 2024 and of their financial performance and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and the requirements of the Companies
Act, 2015.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit
of the financial statements section of our report.

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to
our audit of the financial statements in Kenya. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the IESBA Code.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our
audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our

audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. PwC Tower, Waiyaki Way/Chiromo Road, Westlands
P O Box 43963 — 00100 Nairobi, Kenya
T: +254 (20)285 5000 F: +254 (20)285 5001 www.pwe.com/ke

Partners: E Kerich B Kimacia M Mugasa A Murage F Muriu P Ngahu R Njoroge SO Norbert's B Okundi K Saiti
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF THE CIC INSURANCE

GROUP PLC

Key audit matter

Valuation of insurance contract liabilities

As disclosed in notes 1, 42, 43 and 44 of the financial
statements, the valuation of insurance contract
liabilities involves complex and subjective judgments
about future events, both internal and external to the
business. Small changes to these assumptions can
result in material impacts to the valuation of the
fulfillment cash flows, Contractual Service Margin
(‘CSM"), and risk adjustment.

(a)

For the life insurance contract liabilities

There are significant assumptions that involve high
levels of judgment in determining the best estimate
liabilities, in particular the following:

e The mortality assumptions used in the valuation
of life risk;

Longevity assumptions used in the valuation of
the annuity business,

Expense and inflation assumptions - The
assumptions used require significant judgment
which includes how expenses are allocated
between maintenance and acquisition expenses as
well as how the expenses are split between
attributable and non-attributable costs under
IFRS 17;

Estimating the fulfillment cash flows representing
all relevant cash flows that fall within the
insurance contract boundaries involve significant
judgement;

Determination of the Contractual Service Margin
(‘CSM’) involves complex calculations and
sensitive assumptions which increase the risk of
error. In addition, the amortisation of Contractual
Service Margin (‘CSM’), requires significant
judgment particularly in selecting the coverage
units;

Best estimate liabilities are valued by discounting
expected future cash flows at an interest rate
based on the most appropriate yield curve. The
selection of appropriate discount rate involves
judgment; and

The methodology by which management
determines that valuation of the risk adjustment
requires them to carry out a number of
calculations that involve significant degree of
judgment.

' How our audit addressed the matter

Our work to address the valuation of insurance
contract liabilities included the following
procedures:

e Using our actuarial specialists, we
compared the methodology, models and
assumptions wused against recognised
actuarial  practice.  This  included
consideration of historical experience, and

the appropriateness of any judgment

applied, including if there was any
indication of management bias;
e Assessed whether the judgments,

methodology and assumptions applied by
management in determining the accounting
policies are in accordance with IFRS 17;
Assessed the reasonableness of
assumptions in the valuation of insurance
contract liabilities such as mortality,
longevity, fulfillment cash flows, risk
adjustment and selection of discount rates.
For contracts measured under General
Measurement Model (‘\GMM’), tested the
reasonableness of coverage units and
amortisation to statement of profit or loss;
Assessed the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the Company’s Statutory
Actuary;

On a sample basis, traced the insurance
valuation input data to information
contained in the administration and
accounting systems and to policyholder
information;

Reviewed management’s process of
extraction and reconciliation of the data
used in the determination of the insurance
contract liabilities;

Reviewed disclosures in the financial
statements for compliance with TFRS 17.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF THE CIC INSURANCE

GROUP PLC

Key audit matter (continued)
Valuation of insurance contract liabilities
(continued)

(b) for the general insurance contract liabilities

General insurance contract liabilities are highly
uncertain and require considerable judgment and
interpretation to determine their valuation.

Our assessment of the related audit risk is focused on
the following areas:

e The estimation of the liability for incurred
claims involves significant judgement given the
inherent uncertainty in estimating expected
future outflows in relation to claims incurred. In
addition, the liabilities are adjusted for the time
value of money based on historical settlement
patterns. Judgement is applied in estimating
this future settlement pattern and in
determination of the discount rate.

e Determination of liability for incurred claims
requires calculation of risk adjustment for non-
financial risk  which  represents the
compensation for bearing the uncertainty about
the timing and amount of the risk insured. This
calculation involves significant judgement in

determining the confidence level and
assumption that future development of claims
will follow past patterns.

e For onerous contracts, calculation of loss
component involves judgment in estimating
fulfilment cashflows relating to the remaining
coverage period of insurance contracts.

How our audit addressed the matter

Evaluated and tested controls around
claims handling, settling, and reserving.
Tested a sample of claim payments and
reserves to confirm the amounts recorded
in the claims systems agree to the source
data.

Checked the consistency of reserving
methods year on year.

Tested the appropriateness of the
methodology and assumptions used by the
external actuary and management in
estimation of reserves as at 31 December
2024 and performed reprojections for a
sample of reserves to validate estimates.
Tested management’s calculation of the
discount rate used to compute the present
value of liability for incurred claims.
Tested the methodology and assumptions
used by management in estimating the risk
adjustment.

Reconciled the claims data used by
management to calculate reserves to the
audited claims data.

Assessed the adequacy of disclosures in the
financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF THE CIC INSURANCE
GROUP PLC (CONTINUED)

Other information

The other information comprises corporate information, report of the directors, directors’ remuneration
report, corporate governance report, statement of directors’ responsibilities and supplementary information
which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report and the rest of the other information in the
Integrated Report which is expected to be made available to us after that date, but does not include the
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other
information. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to
the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, we do not and will not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information we have received prior to the date of this
auditor’s report we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the rest of the other information in the Integrated Report and we conclude that there is a
material misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to those charged with
governance.

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act, 2015, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a gnarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e Evaluatethe appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF THE CIC INSURANCE
GROUP PLC (CONTINUED)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements (continued)

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

e [Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the Group’s financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable actions taken to eliminate threats
or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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Report on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act, 2015

Report of the directors

In our opinion the information given in the report of the directors on pages 2 to 4 is consistent with the
financial statements.

Directors’ remuneration report

In our opinion the auditable part of the directors’ remuneration report on pages 5 to 6 has been properly
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act, 2015.

[])um @ Kimg e

CPA Bernice Kimacia, Practicing Certificate Number 1457
Engagement partner responsible for the audit

For and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Certified Public Accountants

Nairobi

27 March_z2o025
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Insurance revenue
Insurance service expenses
Net expenses from reinsurance contracts held

Insurance service result

Interest revenue calculated using the effective interest method
Other investment income

Net losses on FVTPL investments

Net gains from fair value adjustments to investment properties
Foreign exchange gain

Allowance for expected credit gains/{losses)

Investment resuit
Net finance expenses from insurance contracts
Net finance income from reinsurance contract held

Net investment result

Revenue from asset management services
Other gains

Other operating expenses

Gain on monetary position

Operating profit
Other finance costs
Share of profit/{loss) of associate company

Profit before income tax
Income tax expense

Profit for the year

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

ftems that will not be reclassified subsequentiy to profit or loss

Fair value loss on equity instruments at fair vatue through other
comprehensive income

Gain on revaluation of building

Total items that will not be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss

ftems that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Foreign exchange currency translation differences

Fair value gain/{loss) on debt instruments at fair value through OCi
Income tax thereon

Total items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit orloss

Total other comprehensive income/ (loss) for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year

Basic and diluted earnings per share (Kshs)
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Notes

4 {a)
4 (b)
4(c)

7 (a)
7{a)
7a)
9 (d)

7(b)
9 (a)
55

10
18

11

24
13 (@)

23 ()
17 (a)

12

Group

2024
KShs'000

26,348,750
(24,231,278}
773,489

343.983

6,046,353
210,529
186,904

1,010,000

1,365,025

16,843

8,835,654
(5,303,219
286,386

3,818,821
1,267,493
311,898
(1,724,708)
552,914

4,570,403
{578,201}
1,518

3,993,720
(1,139.087)

2,854,633

4,580

4,580

{566,910)
1,735,681

{281.327)
887,444

2023
KShs'G00

25,400,902
(22,549,800)
(2.062,875)

788,227

2,630,218
209,561
(118,490)
132,383
82,565
(5.399)

2,930,838
(888,294)
152,482

2,195,026
1,163,775
368,997
(1,451,175)

3,064,850
(517,822)
3,035

2,543,993
(1,102,178)

1,441,815

(416)
88,255
87.839

{(70,051)
(993,960)
120,050
(943,961)
(856,122

585,693

0.57



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

2024 2023
KShs'000 KShs'000

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE T0:

ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT 2,716,408 1,497,950

NON - CONTROLLING INTERESTS 138,225 (56,135)
2,854,633 1,441,815

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR

ATTRIBUTABLE TO:

ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT 3,724,036 634,247

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 22,621 {48,554)
3,746,657 585,693
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2024
2024 2023

Notes KShs'000 KShs'000
ASSETS
Property and equipment 13(@) 1,113,946 1,142,870
Right of use-asset 14 (a) 145,571 241,930
Investment properties 15(@) 3,726,499 7,834,198
Inventories 15 (c) 5,056,000 -
Intangible assets 16 (a) 286,579 301,398
Deferred income tax 17 (a) 979,172 1,380,869
Investment in associate 18 107,177 105,659
Financial assets at amortised cost- Corporate bonds 20 89,156 95,646
Financial assets at amortised cost -Government securities 21 10,913,059 10,753,219
Financial assets at amortised cost -Loans receivable 22 78,040 113,391
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income - Government
securities 23 (a) 18,297,531 13,579,374
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income - Unquoted
equity instruments 24 29,224 22,796
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - Quoted equity instruments 25 931,739 647,506
Investments in collective investment schemes at fair value through profit or loss 26(a) 1,253,553 1,368,501
Reinsurance contract assets 42 5,058,722 3,733,993
Current income tax 11(b) 176,112 87,155
Other receivables 27 (a) 928,481 852,434
Due from related parties 28 253,813 183,047
Deposits with financial institutions 29(a) 11,690,023 7,573,290
Cash and cash equivalents 48 823,330 281,765
Total assets 61,937,72 50,299,041
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Share capital 30 2,615,578 2,615,578
Share premium 31 162,179 162,179
Statutory reserve 32 2,300,170 1,487,294
Contingency reserve 33 3,549 138,692
Revaluation surplus 34 367,956 367,956
Foreign currency translation reserve 35 (1,025,233) (573,927)
Fair value reserve 36 (63,671)  (1,522,605)
Retained earnings 37 6.711,325 5,017,650
Equity attributable the owners of the parent 11,071,853 7,692,817
Non-controlling interest 38 (58,018) (80,639)
Total equity 11,013,835 7,612,178
LIABILITIES
Deferred income tax 17 1,014,886 663,540
Insurance contract liabilities 42 41,842,105 34,227,277
Investment contract liabilities 49 98,924 141,273
Lease liability 14 (a) 199,533 309,577
Borrowings 39 5,271,369 5,081,164
Other payables 40(a) 2,484,432 2,034,225
Current income tax 11 (b) 12,643 229,807
Total liabilities 50,923.892 42,686,863
Total equity and liabilities 61,937,727 50,299,041

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 27 March 2025 and signed on its behalf by:

AP D . *\-(:C. vty
Nelson Kuria Patrick Nyaga Julius Mwatu
Chairman Group MD & CEO Director
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND iS SUBSIDIARIES
COMPANY STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Interest revenue calculated using the effective interest method

Other investment income
Net gains on FVTPL investments

Net gains from fair value adjustments to investment properties

Other gains
Aliowance for expected credit lpsses

Total income
Operating and other expenses
Operating profit

Finance cost
Share of profit/(loss) of associate company

Profit/ (loss) before income tax
income tax expense

Profit/ (loss) for the year
Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income/ {loss) for the year

40

6 )
6 {b) (il

7(c)
7{)
7(c)
9 (d)

9(c)

10(b)

18

11

Company

2024
KShs'000

5,547
385,000
1,910
1,010,000
3,089
(430)

1.405.116
{183,296)
1,221,820

(604,745)
1,518

618,593
{170,036)

2023
KShs'000

7,646
465,000
2,246

14,948
(201}

489,639
{164,616)
325,023

(517,236)
(3,035)

(195,248)
(38,492)

(233,740

(233,740



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2024

Notes 2024

KShs'000

ASSETS
Property and equipment 13 (b) 76,308
Investment properties 15(b) -
Inventories 15(c) 5,056,000
Intangible assets 16 (b) 50,130
Deferred income tax 17 (b) 409,779
Investment in associate 18 107,177
Investment in subsidiaries 19 4,228,410
Financial assets at amortised cost -Loans receivable 22 16,063
Investments in collective investment schemes through profit or loss 26(h) 16,411
Current income tax 11 (b) 2,000
Other receivables 27 (b) 41,814
Due from related parties 28 477,509
Deposits with financial institutions 29 (b) 64,078
Cash and cash equivalents 48 44234
Total assets 10,589,913
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Share capital 30 2,615,578
Share premium 31 162,179
Retained earnings 37 930,698
Total equity 3,708,455
LIABILITIES
Due to related parties 28 361,471
Related party loan 28 751,705
Borrowings 39 5,165,766
Other payables 40 (b) 602,516
Total liabilities 6.881.458
Total equity and liabilities 10,589,913

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 27 March 2025 and signed on its behalf by:

A7, iéf'f///" LD

Nelson Kuria Patrick Nyaga Julius Mwatu
Chairman Group MD & CEO Director
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2023
KShs'000

92,411
4,046,000

73,986
579,815
105,659

4,228,410
15,619
14,501

2,000

61,535
399,980
117,568

41,527

9,779,011

2,615,578
162,179
827,141

3,604,898
655,970
273,076

4,955,891
289,176

6,174,113

9.779,011



THE CIC INSURANCE GRCUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Foreign Dueto
Currency equity Non-
Share Share Statutory Revaluation  Contingency translation Fair value Retained  holders of controlling
capital premium fund surplus Reserve reserve Reserve earnings  the parent interests Total
KShs’000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 Ksh'000 KShs'000 KShs'C00 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'0Q0
(Note 30) (Note 31) {Note 32) (Note 34) {Note 33) (Note 35) {Note 36) (Note 37) {Note 38}
At 1 January 2024 2,615,578 162,179 1,487,294 367,956 138,692 {673,927y (1,522,605) 5,017,650 7,692,817 {80,639) 7,612,178
Contingency reserve - . - . {135,143) - 135,143 - - -
Profit for the year - - 812,876 - - - - 1,903,532 2,716,408 138,225 2,854,633
Other comprehensive Income
for the year - - - - (451,306) 1,458,934 - 1,007,628 (115,604) 892,024
Total comprehensive income
for the year - - 812,876 - - (451,306) 1,458,934 1,903,532 3,724,036 22,621 3,746,657
Dividends paid - - - . - - - (345,000) (345,000} - (345,000)
At 31 December 2024 2615578 162479 2300170 367,956 3549  (1.025.233) (83.671) 6711325 11071853 58,018) 11.013.835
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PL.C AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Foreign Dueto
currency equity Non-
Share Share Statutory Revaluation  Contingency translation Fairvalue Retained  holders of controlling
capital premium fund Surplus Resetve reserve Reserve earnings  the parent interests Total
KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 Ksh'000 KShs'000 KShs'000  KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000
{Note 30} (Note 31} (Note 32) {Note 34) {Note 33) (Note 35) (Note 36) (Note 37} (Note 38)
At 1 January 2023 2,615,578 162,179 621,290 279,701 110,828 {496,295) (648,279) 4,758,568 7,403,570 (32,083} 7,371,485
Contingency reserve - - - - 21,864 - - (27,864) - - -
Profit for the year - - 866,004 - - - - 631,946 1,497,950 (56,135) 1,441,815
Other comprehensive Income for
the year - - - 88,255 - {77,632) (874.3286) - {863.703) 7,581 {856,122)
Total comprehensive income
for the year - - 868,004 88,255 - (77,632) (874,326) 631,948 634,247 {48,554) 585,693
Dividends paid - - - - - - - {345,000} {345.000) = (345.000)
At 31 December 2023 2,615,578 162,179 1487294 361,956 138,692 (73920 (1522605 5017650 7,692.817 (80,639) 1,612,178
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Share Share Retained
Capital premium Farnings Total
KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs’000 KShs'000
{Note 30) (Note 31) {Note 37}

At 1 January 2024 2,615,578 162,179 27,141 3,604,898
Profit for the year - 448,557 448,557
Other comprehensive income for the year - - - -

Total comprehensive ioss for the year - - 448,557 448,55
Dividend paid - - {345,000) (345,000)
At 31 December 2024 2,615,578 162,179 830,698 3,708,455
At 1 Januaty 2023 2,615,578 162,179 1,405,881 4,183,638
Loss for the year - - (233,740} {233,740}
(ther comprehensive income for the year - - - -
Total comprehensive loss for the year - - (233.740) (233,740)
Dividend paid - - (345,000) (345,000)
At 31 December 2023 2,615,578 162,179 27,141 3,604,898
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CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash generated from operations

Purchase of corporate bonds

Praceeds from maturity of corporate bonds

Purchase of government securities at amortised cost

Maturities of government securities at amortised cost

Purchase of government securities at fair value through other comprehensive income
Maturity of government securities at fair value through other comprehensive income
Purchase of unguoted equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive
income

Purchase of equity investment at fair value through profit or loss

Proceeds from sale of equity investments at fair value through profit or loss
Additions to collective investment schemes

Proceeds from disposal of collective investment scheme

Increase in deposits with financial institutions (excluding cash and cash eguivalents)
Inferest paid on leases

Interest received

Dividend received

Income tax paid

Repayment of interest portion of borrowings

Net cash generated from operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets

Net cash used in investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from borrowings

Repayment of principal portion of borrowings
Dividends paid

Repayment of principal portion of lease liability
Net cash used in financing activities

INCREASE 1N CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Effect of foreign exchange transtations
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 1 JANUARY

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 DECEMBER
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Notes

47 (a)

20
20
21
21
23
23

24
25
25
26(a)
26(a)
29
14(a)
6(a)
6(a)
11 (b}
39

13(@)

16(a)

39
39

14(a)

48

2024
KShs'C00

4,068,379

(29)

2,486
(783,461)
584,384
(4,906,678)
1,925,870

(2.858)
(139,240)
24,548
(639,623)
771,934
515,339
(29,235)
6,046,353
46,515
(975,949)
(13.694)

6.495,041
(128,234)
1,362
{49,342)
(176.214)
107,272
(462,012)
(345,000)
86,963
786,703
5,532,124

(380,368)
4.865.824

10,017,580

2023
KShs'000

5,700,056

2,189
(3,418,783}
1,126,479
{4,251,839)
1,065,000

(106,091)
384,225
(635,195)
493,070
(464,131)
(29,023)
2,630,218
48,177
(813,579)
(7.993)

1,722,780
(240,488)
36,332
(71,330)
(275.486)
112,078
(94,973)
(345,000)
(72,268)
(400,163)
1,047,131

14,729
3.803,964

4,865,824



CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND TS SUBSIDIARIES
COMPANY STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash generated from / (used in) operations
Maturity of coltective investments
Maortgage loan repaid

Other staff loans repaid

Other staff loans advanced

Decrease in deposits with financial institutions (excluding cash and cash equivalents)

interest received

Dividend received

Repayment of interest portion of berrowings
Net cash generated from operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property and eguipment
Purchase of intangible assets

Payment for acquisition of a subsidiary

Net cash used in investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Repayment of principat portion of borrowings
Dividend paid to shareholders

Net cash used in financing activities

INCREASE /{DECREASE)IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 1 JANUARY

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 DECEMBER

46

Notes

47 ()
26 (b)
22 (b)
22 (b)
22 ()
29

6
B{b)(ii)
39

13(b}
16(b)
19

39

48

2024 2023
KShs’000 KShs'000
266,529 80,090
. 25,000

619 600

98 -

- (2,519)

53,527 (22,992)
5,547 7,646
385,000 465,000
- (2.912)

711,320 549,913
(8,873) (57,385)

- (3,480)

- (50,000)

(8,873) (110,865)
(354,740} (94,973)
(345,000) (345,000)
(699,740) (439,973)
2,707 (925)
41,527 42,452
44,234 41,627



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1

Statement of compliance with [FRS Accounting Standards

The financial statements have been prepared in compliance with IFRS Accounting Standards, interpretations issued by the IFRS
Interpretations Committee {IFRS IC) Interpretations applicable to companies reporting under IFRS and In compliance with the
Companies Act, 2015. The financial statements comply with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB).

@)

Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost hasis, except for debt instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, equity investments at fair value through profit or loss, equity instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, investments in collective investment schemes at fair value through profit or loss, buitding and
investrnent properties which have been measured at fairvalue and actuarially determined liabilities at their present value. The
consolidated and company financial statements are presented in Kenya Shillings which is also the Company’s functional
currency. All values rounded to the nearest thousand (KShs ‘000), unless otherwise stated,

The financial statements comprise the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statements of financial
position, statements of changes in equity, statements of cash flows, and notes to the financial statements. Income and
expenses, excluding the components of other comprehensive income, are recognised in profit or loss. Other comprehensive
income comprises items of income and expenses (including reclassification adjustments) that are not recognised in profit or
loss as required or permitted by IFRS Accounting Standards. Reclassification adjustments are amounts reclassified to profit
or loss in the current period that were recognised in other comprehensive income in previous periods. Transactions with the
owners of the Group and Company in their capacity as owners are recognised in the statement of changes in equity.

The Group presents its statement of financial position broadly in order of liguidity from the least liquid to the most liquid. An
analysis regarding recovery or settlement within twelve months after the reporting date (current) and more than 12 months
after the reporting date (non-current) is presented in the notes.

In preparing these financial statements, management has made judgements, estimates and assumptions. that affect the
application of the accounting policies adopted by the Group. Although such estimates and assumptions are based on the
directors’ best knowledge of the information available, actual results may differ from those estimates. The judgements and
estimates are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, and any revisions to such estimates are recognised in the year in
which the revision is made. The areas involving the judgements of most significance to the financial statements, and the
sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment within the next financial year,
are disclosed in notes 1 and 2 of these financial statements.
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES 70 THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
FOR THEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

1.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (centinued)

()

{i

New Standards, New Interpretations and Amendments to Standards

The section below provides a summary of () new standards and amendments that are effective for the first time for periods
commencing on or after 1 January 2024 {i.e. years ending 31 December 2024), and (ji) forthcoming requirements, being
standards and amendments that became or will become effective on or after 1 January 2024.

New standards and amendments - applicable 1 January 2024

The following standards and interpretations apply for the first time to financial reporting periods commencing on or after 1

January 2024:
International Financial Reporting Standards and amendments effective for the first time for December2024 year-end
Number Effective date Executive summary
Amendments to IAS 1, Annual periods beginning | These amendments clarify how conditions with which an entity must
‘Presentation of Financial | on or after 1 january 2024 comply within twelve months after the reporting period affect the

Statements’ - Non-current
liabilities with covenants

(Pubiished January 2020
November 2022)

classification of a liability. The amendments also aim to improve
information an entity provides related to liabilities subject to these
conditions.

Amendment to IFRS 186,
‘Leases’ - sale and
leaseback

Annual pericds beginning

on or after 1 January 2024
(Pubtished September
2022)

These amendments include requirements for sale and feaseback
transactions in IFRS 16 to explain how an entity accounts for a sale
and leaseback after the date of the transaction. Sale and leaseback
transactions where some or all the lease payments are variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or rate are most likely to be
impacted.

Amendments to Suppller
Finance  Arrangements
{IAS 7 ‘Statement of Cash
Flows’ and 1IFRS 7
‘Financial  Instruments;
Disclosure”)

Annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2024

{Published May 2023)

These amendments require disclosures to enhance the transparency
of supplier finance arrangements and their effects on a company’s
liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk.

The disclosure requirements are the IASB's response to investors’
concerns that seme companies’ supplier finance arrangements are
not sufficiently visible, hindering investors’ analysis.

The above standards and amendments did not have a significant impact on the Company's and Group’s financial statements.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNYING POLICIES (continued)

1.

(b}
®

New Standards, New Interpretations and Amendments to Standards (Continuad)

Forthcoming requirements

temnational Financial Reporting Standar

s, interpretations and amendment

issued but not effectiv

“Number

Effective date

Executive summary

Amendments fo IAS 21,
‘The Effects of Changes in
Foreign Exchange Rates’ -
Lack of Exchangeability
{Amendments to 1AS 21)

Annual pefrieds beginning
on or after 1 January 2025

{Published August 2023)

An entity is impacted by the amendments when it has a transaction or
an operation in a foreign currency that is not exchangeable inte
another currency at a measurement date for a specified purpose. A
currency is exchangeable when there is an abilify to obtain the other
currency (with a normal administrative delay), and the transaction
would take place through a market or exchange mechanism that
creates enforceable rights and ohligations.

Amendment to IFRS 9,
“Financial Instruments”
and IFRS7, “Financial
Instruments: Disclosures”
~Classification and
Measurement of Finangial
Instruments

Annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2026

{Published May 2024)

These amendments;

¢ clarify the requirements for the timing of recognition and
derecognition of some financial assets and liabilities, with a new
exception for some financial liabilities settled through an electronic
cash transfer system;

o clarify and add further guidance for assessing whether a financial
asset meets the solely payments of principat and interest (SPPI)
criterion;

# add new disclosures for certain instruments with contractual
terms that can change cash flows {such as some instruments with
features linked to the achievement of environment, social and
governance (ESG) targets); and

s make updates to the disclosures for equity Instruments
designated at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income
(FVOCI).

[FRS 18, ‘Presentation
and Disclosure in
Financial Statements’

Annual pericds beginning
on or after 1 January 2027

(Published April 2024)

The objective of IFRS 18 is to set out requirements for the presentation
and disclosure of information in general purpose financial statements
(financial statements) to help ensure they provide relevantinformation
that faithfully represents an entity's assets, liabilities, equity, income
and expenses,

IFRS 18 replaces IAS 1 'Presentation of Financial Statements’ and
focuses on updates to the statement of profit or loss with a focus on
the structure of the statement of profit or loss; required disclosures in
the financial statements for cerfain prefit or loss performance
measures that are reported outside an enfity's financial statements
(that is, management-defined pedformance measures); and enhanced
principles on aggregation and disaggregation which apply to the
primary financial statements and rotes in general.

Many of the other existing principles in 1AS 1 are retained, with limited
changes. IFRS 18 will not impact the recognition or measurement of
items in the financial statements, but it might change what an enity
repots as its ‘operating profit or loss’.

IFRS 19, ‘Subsidiaries
without Public
Accountability’

Annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2027

(Published May 2024)

The objective of IFRS 19 is to provide reduced disclosure requirements
for subsidiaries, with a parent that applies the Accounting Standards
in its consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 19 is a voluntary Accounting Standard that eligible subsidiaries
can apply when preparing their own consolidated, separate or
individual financial statements

The above standards are not expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s and Company’s financial statements.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1.

{b)
)

(i)

Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group and its subsidiaries as at 31 December
2024. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable retums from its involvement with the investee
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee.

Specifically, the Group controls a subsidiary if, and only if, the Group has:

«  Powerover the subsidiary (i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee);
. Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

+  The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included/excluded in the consolidated financial statements from the date the Group gains control untii the date when the
Group ceases te control the subsidiary.

At company level, the investment in subsidiary is presented as an asset in the statement of financial position and measured at
cost.

Profit or loss and each component of OCi are attributed to the owners of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if
this resuHs in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries te bring their accounting policies in iine with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, inceme, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated
in full on consolidation.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction. If the
Group loses contrel over a subsidiary, it:

. Derecognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary;

. Derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest;

. Derecognises the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;

. Recegnises the fair vafue of the consideration received;

. Recognises the fair value of any investment retained;

. Recognises any surplus or deficit In profit or loss; and

. Reclassifies the parent's share of components previously recognised in other comprehensive income to profit or loss or
retained earnings, as appropriate.

The Group financial statements reflect the result of the consclidation of the financial statements of the group and its
subsidiaries, CIC General Insurance Limited, CIC Life Assurance Limited, CIC Asset Management Limited, CIC Africa Insurance
(SS) Limited, CIC Africa (Uganda) Limited and CIC Africa Co-operatives insurance (Malawi) Limited details of which are
disclosed in note 19, made up to 31 December 2024.

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without change of control
Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in foss of control are accounted for as equity transactions - that
is, as transactions with the owners in their capacity as owners. The difference hetween fair value of any consideration paid and

the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on
disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.
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1. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

{e)

Basis of consolidation {continued)

{lii) Associates

()

An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant infiuence and which Is neither a subsidiary nor a joint arrangement.
The Group's investment in its associate is accounted for using the equity method of accounting while the Company's investment
in associate is accounted for using the cost method.

Under the equity method, the investment in the associate is carried in the statement of financial position at cost plus post-
acquisition changes in the Group's and company’s share of net assets of the associate. Goodwill relating to an asseclate is
inckuded in the carrying amount of the investment and is neither amortised nor individually tested for impairment.

The statement of profit or loss reflects the share of the results of operations of the associate. Where there has been a change
recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the Group recognises its share of any changes and discloses this, when
applicable, in the statement of changes in equity, either directly or through other comprehensive income. Profits or losses
resulting from transactions between the Group and the associate are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associate.

The share of profit of the associate is shown on the face of the statement of profit or loss. This is profit attributable fo equity
holders of the associate and, therefore, is profit after tax and non-controlling interests in the subsidiaries of the assoctates
after factoring in other comprehensive income.

The financial statements of the associate are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group. Where necessary,
adjustments are made to bring its accounting policies in line with the Group. After application of the equity method, the Group
determines whether it is necessary to recognise an additional impairment loss on the Group's investment in assoclates. The
Group determines at each reporting date, whether there is any objective evidence that the investment iIn the associate is
impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount
of the asscciate and its carrying value and recognises the amount in the ‘share of profit of an associate’ in the statement of
profit and loss.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures and recognises any remaining investment atits fair
value. Any differences between the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of significant influence and the fair value of the
remaining investment and proceeds from disposal are recognised in profit or loss. Any interest in the equity of the associate
that was recorded directly in other comprehensive income of the investor is recycled to the profit or loss and is included in the
calcutation of the gain or loss on disposal.

Business combinations and goodwili

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acyuisition is measured as the
aggregate of the consideration transferred measured at acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-controfling
interests in the acquiree. The Group's identifiable assets and liabilities are measured at their acquisition-date fair value,

Non-controiling interests in an acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle their hoiders to a proportionate share
of the entity's net assets in the event of liguidation, are measured at either fair value or the present ownership instruments'
proportionate share in the recognised amounts of the acquiree's net identifiable assets. Non-controlling interests that are not
present ownership interests are measured at fair value. This accounting policy choice can be made on an individual business
combination basis.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and included in administrative expenses.
Wien the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition

date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, any previously held equity Interest is re-measured at its acquisition date fair
value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. It is then considered in the determination of goodwill,
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1.

)

{e)

Business combinations and goodwili (Continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset orliability that is afinancial instrument and within the scope of IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, is measured at fakr value with changes in fair value recognised either in profit or
loss or as a change to OCl Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not re-measured and subsequent settfement
is accounted for within equity.

Goodwil] is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount
recognised for non-contralling interests, and any previous interest held, over the netidentifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests, and any previous interest held, the Group re-assesses whether it has correctly
identified all of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts
to be recognised at the acquisition date. If the re-assessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired
over the aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is recognised in profit or loss.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units that are expeeted to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the
acquiree are assigned to those units.

Insurance contracts

Summary of measurement approaches

The Group uses different measurement approaches, depending on the type of contract, as follows:

Product classification Measurement model

Insurance contracts issued

Ordinary life group:

Crdinary life contracts

Insurance contracts

Genera! Measurement Model (GMM)

Annuity contracts Insurance contracts General Measurement Model (GMM)
Group life group:

Group life contracts Insurance contracts Premium Allocation Approach (PAA}
Group credit annual premiums contracts | Insurance contracts Premiunt Allocation Approach (PAA)
Group credit single premiums contracts [nsurance contracts General Measurement Model (GMM)
Deposit administration group:

Direct participating contracts Investment contracts Premium Allocation Approach (PAA)

General business confracts

insurance contracts

Premitim Allocation Approach (PAA)

Reinsurance contracts held

Life reinsurance contracts

Reinsurance contract held

Premium Allocation Approach (PAA)

General business contracts

Reinsurance contract held

Premium Aliocation Appreach (PAA)

(i) Classification of contracts

Insuranee contracts are contracts under which the Group accepts significant insurance risk from a policyholder by agreeing to
compensate the policyholder if a specified uncertain future event adversely affects the policyholder.

In making this assessment, all substantive rights and obligations, including those arlsing from law or regulation, are considered
on a contract-by-contract basis. The Group uses judgement to assess whether a contract transfers insurance risk (that is, if
there is @ scenario with commercial substance in which the Group has the possibility of a loss on a present value basis) and
whether the accepted insurance risk is significant.
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1. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

(&)

Insurance contracts (Continued)
(i) Classification of contracts {continued)

The Group issues certain insurance contracts that are substantially investment-related service contracts where the return on
the underlying items is shared with policyholders. Underlying items comprise specified portfolios of investment assets that
determine amounts payable to policyholders. The Group's policy is to hold such investment assets.

An insurance contract with direct participation features is defined by the Group as ane which, at inception, meets the following
criteria:

» the contractual terms specify that the policyholder participates in a share of a clearly identified pool of underlying items;

» the Group expects to pay to the polieyholder an amount equal to a substantial share of the fair value returns on the
underlying items; and

= the Group expects a substantial proportion of any change in the amounts to be paid to the policyholder to vary with the
change in fair value of the underlying items,

These criteria are assessed at the individual contract level based on the Group's expectations at the contract’s inception, and
they are not reassessed in subsequent periods, unless the contract is modified.

in the normal course of business, the Group uses reinsurance to mitigate its risk exposures, A reinsurance contract transfers
significant risk if it transfers substantially all of the insurance risk resulting from the insured portion of the underlying insurance
contracts, even if it does not expose the reinsurer to the possibility of a significant loss.

(i) Separation of components of insurance contracts

Before the Group accounts for an insurance contract based on the guidance in IFRS 17, it analyses whether the contract
contains components that should be separated. IFRS 17 distinguishes three categories of components that have to be
accounted for separately:

o Cash flows relating to embedded derivatives that are required to be separated;
«  Cash flows relating to distinct investment components; and
»  Promises to transfer distinct goods or distinct non-insurance services

The Group applies IFRS 17 to all remaining components of the contract.
{iii} Level of aggregation of insurance contracts

The Group manages insurance contracts issued by product lines within an operating segment. Insurance contracts within a
product line that are subject to similar risks and are managed together are aggregated into a portfolio of contracts. Each
portfolio is further disaggregated info groups of contracts that are issued within a calendar year (annual cohorts) and are;
i. contracts that are onerous at initial recognition;
i. contracts that at initial recognition have no significant possibility of becoming onerous subsequently; or
ili. a group of remaining contracts.

These groups represent the level of aggregation at which insurance coniracts are initially recognised and measured. Such
groups are not subsequently reconsidered.

{(iv} Recognition

Groups of insurance contracts issued are initially recognised from the earliest of the following:

+  The beginning of the coverage period;

s The date when the first payment from the policyholder is due or actually received, if there is no due date;and

+  When the Group determines that a group of contracts becomes onerous

Insurance contracts acquired in a business combination or a portfolio transfer are accounted for as if they were entered into at
the date of acquisition er transfer,
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(e)

Insurance contracts {Continued)
(iv) Recognition (continued}

The Group recognises a group of proportionate reinsurance contracts held (quota share reinsurance) from the later of:
» The beginning of the coverage period of the group of reinsurance contracts held; and
¢  The date of initial recognition of any underlying contract

If the Group recognises an onerous group of underlying contracts before the beginning of the coverage period of the group of
reinsurance contracts held, then the group of propertionate reinsurance contracts held is recognised at the same time as the
onerous group of underlying contracts.

The Group recognises a group of non-proportionate reinsurance contracts held (such as group-wide catastrophe stop-loss
reinsuranee) from the beginning of the coverage period of the group of reinsurance contracts; this is typically the first period in
which premiums are paid or reinsurance recoveries are received.

Reinsurance contracts are to be recognised in full for all underlying insurance contracts expected to be issued that fall within
the boundary of the reinsurance contracts held. An instrance contract is derecognised when itis:

«  Extinguished (i.e. when the obligation specified in the insurance contract expires or is discharged or cancelled); or

+ The contract is modified and certain additional criteria are met.

(v¥) Modification

When an insurance contract is modified by the Group as a result of an agreement with the counterparties or due to a change in
regulations, the Group treats changes in cash flows caused by the modification as changes in estimates of the fuifilment cash
flows (FCF), untess the conditions for the derecognition of the original contract are met. The Group derecognises the original
contract and recognises the modified contract as a new contract if any of the following conditions are present:

(8) if the modified terms had been included at contract inception and the Group would have concluded that the modified
contract:
(i} isnotinscopeof iFRS 17;
(i} results in different separable compenents;
{iii} results in a different contract boundary; or
{iv) belongs to a different group of contracts;

{(b) the original contract represents an insurance contract with direct participation features, but the medified contract no
longer meets that definition, orvice versa; or

{(c) the original contract was accounted for under the premium allocation approach (PAA), but the modification means that
the contract no longer meets the eligibility criteria for that approach.

(vi) Derecognition

When an insurance contract not accounted for under the PAA is derecognised from within a group of insurance contracts, the

Group:

{a) adjusts the FCF to eliminate the present value of future cash flows and risk adjustment for non-financial risk relating to
the rights and obligations removed from the Group;

{b} adjusts the contractual service margin (CSM) (unless the decrease in the FCF is allocated to the loss component of the
liability for remaining coverage (LRC) of the Group) in the following manner, depending on the reason for the
derecognition;

(iy if the contract is extinguished, in the same amount as the adjustment to the FCF relating to future service;

{(if) if the contractis transferred to a third party, in the amount of the FCF adjustment in (a) less the premium charged by
the third party;

(iiiy H the original contract is modified resulting in its derecognition, in the amount of the FCF adjustment in {a) adjusted
for the premium the Group would have charged had it entered into a contract with equivalent terms as the new
contract at the date of the contract modification, less any additional premium charged for the modification. When
recognising the new contract in this case, the Group assumes sitch a hypothetical premium as actually received;

(e) adjusts the number of coverage units for the expected remaining coverage to refiect the number of coverage units
removed.
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®)

Insurance contracts (Continued)
{vi} Derecognition {continued)

When an insurance contract accounted for under the PAA is derecognised, adjustments to the FCF to remove related rights and

obligatiens and account for the effect of the derecognition result in the following amounts being charged immediately to profit

or loss:

(a) ifthe contract is extinguished, any net difference between the derecognised part of the LRC of the original contract and
any other cash flows arising from extinguishment;

(b) ifthe contract is transferred to the third party, any net difference between the derecognised part of the LRC of the original
contract and the premium charged by the third party;

(c) ifthe original contract is modified resulting in its derecognition, any net difference between the derecognized part of the
LRC and the hypothetical premium the entify would have charged had it entered into a contract with equivalent terms as
the new contract at the date of the contract modification, less any additional premium charged for the modification.

(vii) Measurement
Fulfillment cash flows

The fulfitment cash flows (FCF) are the cument estimates of the future cash flows within the contract boundary of a group of
contracts that the Group expects to collect from premiums and pay out for claims, benefits and expenses, adjusted to reflect
the timing and the uncertainiy of those amounts.

The estimates of future cash flows:

{a) are based on a probability weighted mean of the full range of possible outcomes;

{b) are determined from the perspective of the Group, provided the estimates ave consistent with observable market prices
for market variables; and

{c) reflect conditions existing at the measurement date.

An explicit risk adjustment for nor-financial risk is estimated separately from the other estimates. For contracts measured
under the PAA, unless the contracts are onerous, the explicit risk adjustment for non-financial risk is only estimated for the
measurement of the Hability for incurred ¢laims (LIC),

The estimates of future cash flows are adjusted using the current discount rates to reflect the time value of money and the
financial risks related to those cash flows, to the extent not included in the estimates of cash flows. The discount rates reflect
the characteristics of the cash flows arising from the groups of insurance contracts, including timing, currency and liquidity of
cash flows, The determination of the discount rate that reflects the characteristics of the cash flows and liguidity characteristics
of the insurance contracts requires significant judgement and estimation,

In the measurement of reinsurance contracts held, the probability weighted estimates of the present value of future cash flows
include the potential credit losses and other disputes of the reinsurer to reflect the non-performance tisk of the reinsurer.

The Group estimates certain FCF at the portfolio level or higher and then allocates such estimates to groups of contracts. The
Group uses consistent assumptions to measure the estimates of the present value of future cash flows for the group of
reinsurance contracts held and such estimates for the groups of underlying insurance contracts,

Insurance acquisition cash flows arise from the activities of selling, underwriting and starting a group of contracts that are
directly atiributable to the portfolio of contracts to which the group belongs. Other costs that are incurred in fulfilling the
contracts include:

» Claims handling, maintenance and administration costs;

*  Recurring commissions payable on instalment premiums receivable within the contract boundary;

*  Costs that the Group will incur in providing investment services;

»  Costs that the Group will incur in performing investment activities to the extent that the Group performs them to enhance
benefits from insurance coverage for policyholders by generating an investment return from which policyholders will
benefit if an insured event occurs; and

» Income tax and other costs specifically chargeable to the policyholders under the terms of the contracts,
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Insurance contracts (Continued)
{(viy Measurement (coniinued)
Contract boundary

Cash flows are within the boundary of an insurance contract if they arise from the rights and obligations that exist during the
period in which the policyholder is obligated to pay premiums or the Group has a substantive obligation to provide the
policyholder with insurance coverage or other services. A substantive obligation ends when:
(a) the Group has the practical ability to reprice the risks of the particular policyhelder or change the levet of benefits so that
the price fully reflects those risks; or
{b) both of the following criteria are satisfied:
(@ the Group has the practical ability to reprice the contract or a portfolio of contracts so that the price fully reflects the
reassessed risk of that porifolio; and
(i) the pricing of premiums related to coverage to the date when risks are reassessed does not reflect the risks related
{o periods beyond the reassessment date.

In assessing the practical ability te reprice, risks transferred from the policyholder to the Group, such as insurance risk and
financial risk, are considered; other risks, such as lapse or surrender and expense risk, are notincluded.

Riders, representing add-on provisions to a basic insurance policy that provide additional benefits to the policyholder at
additional cost, that are issued together with the main insurance contracts, form part of a single insurance contract with all the
cash flows within its boundary.

Some insurance contracts issued by the Group provide policyholders with an option {o buy an annuity 2pon the initially issued
policies’ maturity. The Group assesses its practical ability to reprice such insurance contracts in their entirety to determine if
annuity-related cash flows are within or outside of the insurance contract boundary. As a result of this assessment, non-
guaranteed annuity options are not measured by the Group until they are exercised.

Cash flows outside the insurance contract's boundary relate to future insurance contracts and are recognised when those
contracts meet the recognition criteria.

Cash flows are within the boundaries of investment contracts if they result from a substantive obligation of the Group to deliver
cash at a present or future date,

For groups of reinsurance contracts held, cash flows are within the contract boundary if they arise from substantive rights and
obligations of the Group that exist during the reporing petiod in which the Group is competled to pay amounts to the reinsurer
or in which the Group has a substantive right to receive services from the reinsurer.

The Group's quota share iife reinsurance agreements held have an unlimited duration but are canceliable for new underlying
business with a one-year notice period by either party. Thus, the Group treats such reinsurance contracts as a seties of annual
contracts that cover underlying business issued within a year., Estimates of future cash flows arising from all underlying
contracts issued and expected to be issued within one-year's boundary are included in each of the reinsurance contract’s
measurement.

The excess of loss reinsurance contracts held provides coverage for claims incurred during an accident year. Thus, all cash
flows arising from claims incurred and expected to be incurred in the accident year are included in the measurement of the
reinsurance contracts held. Some of these contracts may include mandatory orvoluntary reinstatement reinsurance premiams,
which are guaranteed per the contractual arrangements and are thus within the respective reinsurance contracts’ boundaries.

Risk adjustment for non-financial risk
The risk adjustment for non-financial risk is applied to the present value of the estimated future cash flows and refiects the
compensation the Group requires for bearing the uncertainty about the amount and timing of the cash flows from non-financial

tisk as the Group fulfifs insurance contracts.

For reinsurance contracts held, the risk adjustment for nen-financial risk represents the amount of risk being transferred by the
Group to the reinsurer.
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Insurance contracts (Continued)

{viiy Measurement (continued)

Initial measurement - groups of contracts not measured under the PAA
Contractual service margin

The CSM is a component of the carrying amount of the asset or liability for a group of insurance contracts issued representing
the unearned profit that the Group will recognise as it provides coverage in the future.

At initial recognition, the CSM is an amount that results in no income or expenses {unless a group of contracts is onerous)

arising from:

(a) theinitial recognition of the FCF;

(b} the derecognition at the date of Initial recognition of any asset or liability recognised for insurance acquisition cash flows;
and

(c} cash flows arising from the contracts in the group at that date.

A negative CSM at the date of inception means the group of insurance contracts issued is onerous. A foss from onerous
insurance contracts is recognised in profit or loss immediately with no CSM recognised on the balance sheet on initial
recognition.

For groups of reinsurance contracts held, any net gain or loss at initial recognition is recognised as the CSM unless the net cost
of purchasing reinsurance relates to past events, in which case the Group recognises the net cost immediately in profit or loss.
For reinsurance contracts held, the CSM represents a deferred gain or loss that the Group will recognise as a reinsurance
expense as it receives reinsurance coverage in the future.

For insurance contracts acquired, at initial recognition, the CSM is an amount that results in no income or expenses atising

from:

(a) theinitial recognition of the FCF; and

{b) cash flows arising from the contracts in the group at that date, inciuding consideration received for the contracts as a
proxy for the premiums received at the date of acquisition. In a business combination, the consideration received is the
fairvalue of the contracts at that date.

Subsequent measurement - Groups of contracts not measured under the PAA

The carrying amount at the end of each reporting period of a group of insurance contracts issued is the sum of;
(a} theLRC, comprising:

(i} the FCF related to future service allocated to the group at that date; and

(i} the CSM of the group at that date; and
{b) theLIC, comprising the FCF related to past service allocated to the group at the reporting date.

The carrying amount at the end of each reporting period of a group of reinsurance contracts heid is the sum of:
(@) the remaining coverage, comprising:

(I} the FCF related to future service allocated to the group at that date; and

(i1} the CSM of the group at that date; and
(b) the incurred claims, comprising the FCF related to past service allocated to the group at the reporting date.

For a group of contracts to which the premium allocation approach does not apply, the Group continues to treat the premiums

receivable from the intermediary as future cash flows within the boundary of an insurance contract and, applying IFRS 17,
includes them in the measurement of the group of insurance contracts until recovered in cash.
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1. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(&) Insurance contracts (Continued)
(vii) Measurement (continued)
Subsequent measurement - Groups of contracts not measured under the PAA (continued)
Changes in fulfilment cash flows

The FCF are updated by the Group for current assumptions at the end of every reporting period, using the current estimates of
the amount, timing and uncertainty of future cash flows and of discount rates.

The way in which the changes in estimates of the FCF are treated depends on which estimate is being updated:

(a) changes that relate to current or past sewice are recognised in profit or loss; and

(b) changes that relate to future service are recognised by adjusting the CSM or the loss component within the ERC as per the
policy below.

Forinsurance contracts measured under the GMM, the following adjustments relate to future service and thus adjust the CSM:

(a) experience adjustments arising from premiums received in the period that refate to future service and related cash flows
such as insurance acqtisition cash flows and premium-based taxes;

(b) changes in estimates of the present value of future cash flows In the LRC, except those relating to the effect of the time
value of money and the effect of financial risk and changes thereof;

(c) differences between any investment companent expected to become payahble in the period and the actual investment
component that becomes payable in the period;

(d) differences between any policyholder loan expected to become repayable (plus any insurance finance income or expenses
related to that expected repayment before it becomes repayable in the period) and the actual poticyholder loan that
becomes repayable in the period; and

(e) changes in the risk adjustment for non-financial risk that relate to future service.

Adjustments (a) to (d) are measured using the lecked-in discount rates as described in the section /nferest accretion on the
CSMbelow.

Ferinsurance contracts under the general measurement model (GMM), the following adjustmenis do not refate to future service
and thus do not adjust the CSM:

{a) changes in the FCF for the effect of the time value of money and the effect of financial risk and changes thereof;

{b} changes in the FCF relating to the LiC; and

{c} experience adjustments relating to insurance service expenses (excluding insuranee acquisition cash flows).

Changes to the contractual service margin

For insurance contracts issued, at the end of each reporting period, the carrying amount of the CSM is adjusted by the Group

to reflect the effect of the following changes:

(a) the effect of any new contracts added to the group;

{b) forcontracts measured under the GMM, interest accreted on the carrying amount of the CSM;

{c) changes in the FCF relating to future service are recognised by adjusting the CSM. Changes in the FCF are recognised in
the CSM to the extent the CSM is available. When an increase in the FCF exceeds the canying amount of the CSM, the
CSM is reduced to zero, the excess is recognised in insurance service expenses and a loss component is recognised within
the LRC. When the CSM is zero, changes in the FCF adjust the loss component within the LRC with correspondence to
insurance service expenses. The excess of any decrease in the FCF over the loss component reduces the foss component
to zero and reinstates the CSM;

(d) the effect of any currency exchange differences; and

(e) the amount recognised as insurance revenue for services provided during the period determined after ali other
adjustments above.

For a group of reinsurance contracts held, the earrying amount of the CSM at the end of each reporting period is adjusted to
reflect changes in the FCF inthe same manner as a group of underlying insurance contracts issued, except that when underlying
contracts are onerous and thus changes in the underlying FCF related to future service are recognised in insurance service
expenses by adjusting the loss component, respective changes in the FCF of reinsurance contracts held are also recognised in
the insurance service result,

The Group does not have any reinsurance contracts held measured under the GMM with underlying contracts measured under
the PAA.
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1. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(e

Insurance contracts (Continued)

{viiy Measurement (continued)

Subsequent measurement - Groups of centracts not measured under the PAA (continued)
Interest acceretion on the CSM

Under the GMM, interest is accreted on the CSM using discount rates determined at initial recognition that are applied fo
nominal cash flows {locked-in discount rates). if more contracts are added to the existing groups in the subsequent reporting
periods, the Group revises the locked-in discount curves by calculating weighted-average discount curves over the period that
contracts in the group are issued. The weighted-average discount curves are determined by multiplying the new CSM added to
the group and their corresponding discount curves over the total CSM.

Adjusting the CSM for changes in the FCF relating to future service

The CSM is adjusted for changes in the FCF measured applying the discount rates as specified above in the Changes in
fulfitment cash flows section.

Release of the CSM to profit or loss

The amount of the CSM recognised in profif or loss for services in the period is determined by the allocation of the CSM
remaining at the end of the reporting period over the current and remaining expected coverage period of the group of insurance
contracts based on coverage units.

The total number of coverage units in a group is the quantity of coverage provided by the contracts in the group over the

expected coverage period. The coverage units are determined at each reporting period end prospectively by considering:

{a) the guantity of benefits provided by contracts in the group;

(b} the expected coverage duration of contracts in the group; and

{c) the likelihood of insured events accuning, only fo the extent that they affect the expected duration of contracts in the
group.

For reinsurance contracts held, the CSM is released to profit or loss as semvices are received from the reinsurer in the period,

The Group cianges the treatment of accounting estimates made in previous interim financial statements when applying IFRS
17 in subsequent interim financial statements and in the annual reporting period.

Onerous contracts - loss component

When adjustments to the CSM exceed the amount of the CSM, the group of contracts becomes onerous and the Group
recognises the excess in insurance service expenses and records it as a loss component of the LRC.

When a loss component exists, the Group allocates the following befween the loss component and the remaining component
of the LRC for the respective group of contracts, based on the ratio of the foss component to the FCF refating to the expected
future cash outflows:

(a) expected incurred claims and expenses for the period;

(b} changes in the risk adjustment for non-financiat risk for the risk expired; and

{c) finance income (expenses) from insurance contracts issued.

The amounts of loss component allocation in (a) and (b) above reduce the respective compaonents of insurance revenue and
are not reflected in insurance service expenses.

Decreases in the FCF in subsequent periods reduce the remaining loss component and reinstate the CSM after the loss
component is reduced to zero, Increases in the FCF in subsequent periods Increase the loss component.
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()

Insurance contracts (Continued)

(vii) Measurement {continued)

Subsequent measurement - Groups of contracts not measured under the PAA {continued)
Reinsurance contracts held - loss-recovery component

A loss-recovery component is established or adjusted within the asset for remaining coverage for reinsurance contracts held
for the amount of income recogrised in profit or loss when the Group recognises a loss on initial recognition of an onerous
group of underlying insurance contracts or op addition of onerous underlying insurance contracts to that group.

Subsequently, the foss-recovery component is adjusted to reflect changes in the loss component of an onerous group of
underlying insurance contracts as presented in the Onerous contracts - loss component section above. The loss-recovery
component is further adjusted, if required, to ensure that it does not exceed the portion of the canrying amount of the loss
component of the onerous group of underlying insurance contracts that the Group expects to recover from the group of
relnsurance contracts held.

The loss-recovery component determines the amounts that are presented as a reduction of incurred claims recovety from
reinsurance contracts held and are consequently excluded from the reinsurance expenses determination.

Initial and subsequent measurement - groups of contracts measured under the PAA

The Group uses the PAA for measuring contracts with a coverage period of one year or less, or where it reasonably expects that
such a simplification would produce a measurement of the liability for remaining coverage that would not differ materially from
the one that would be produced by applying the General Measurement Model (GMM). This is the case for the engineering
portfolio, under General business contracts, whose LRC determined sing GMM does not differ materially frem that measured
under PAA. The Group uses PAA for measuring reinsurance contracts held with a coverage period of one year or less. The
reinsurance contracts held by the Company have coverage periods of one year or less, hence the Company uses PAA for
measuwring such reinsurance contracts held.

On initial recognition of insurance contracts issued, the Group measures the ERC at the amount of premiums received, less any
acquisition cash flows allocated to the group of coentracts adjusted for any amounts arising from the derecognition of any
prepaid acquisition cash flows asset. On initial recognition of reinsurance contracts held, the Group measures the remaining
coverage at the amount of ceding premiums paid.

The canying amount of a group of insurance contracts issued at the end of each reporting period is the sum of:
{a) the LRC;and
(b} thelIC, comprising the FCF related to past service allocated to the group at the reporting date.

The carrying amount of a group of reinsurance contracts held at the end of each reporting period is the sum of:
(a) the remaining coverage; and
(b) theincurred claims, comprising the FCF related to past service aliocated to the group at the reporting date.

For insurance contracts issued, at each of the subsequent reporting dates, the LRC is:

(a} increased for premiums received in the period;

(b) decreased for insurance acquisition cash flows paid in the period (if applicable);

(c) decreased for the amounts of expected premiums received recognised as insurance revenue for the services provided in
the period;

(d) increased for accretion of interest {if applicable); and

(e) increased for the amortisation of insurance acquisition cash flows in the period recognised as insurance service expenses
(if applicable).

Faor reinsurance contracts held, at each of the subsequent reporting dates, the remaining coverage is:

(a) increased for ceding premiums pald in the period; and

(b) decreased for the amounts of ceding premiums recognised as reinsurance expenses for the sewices received in the
period.

The Group does not adjust the LRC for insurance contracts issued and the remaining coverage for reinsurance contracts held

for the effect of the time value of money where, at initial recognition, the entity expects the time between any premium
becoming due and providing the related insurance contact services is one year or less.
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1. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

(e)

Insurance contracts (Continued)
{vii} Measurement (continued)
Initial and subsequent measurement - groups of contracts measured under the PAA (continued)

If a group of contracts becomes onerous, the Group increases the carrying amount of the LRC to the amounts of the FCF
determined under the GMM with the amount of such an increase recognised in insurance service expenses.

Subsequently, the Group amortises the amount of the loss component within the LRC by decreasing insurance service
expenses. The loss component amortisation is based on the passage of time over the remaining coverage period of contracts
within an onerous group. If facts and circumstances indicate that the expected profitability of the onerous group during the
remaining coverage has changed, then the Group remeasures the FCF by applying the GMM and reflects changes in the FCF by
adjusting the loss component as reguired until the loss component is reduced to zero.

{viii) Presentation

Portfofios of insurance contracts that are assets and those that are liabilities, and portfolios of reinsurance contracts that are
assets and those that are liabilities, are presented separately in the statement of financial position. Any assets or liabilities
recognised for cash flows arising before the recognition of the related group of contracts (Including any assets for insurance
acquisition cash flows) are included in the canrying amount of the related portfolios of contracts.

The Group disaggregates amotunts recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income {OCH into (a)
an insurance service result, comprising insurance revenue and insurance service expenses; and (b) insurance finance income
Or eXpenses.

Amounts recognised in comprehensive income

Income and expenses from reinsurance contracts are presented separately from income and expenses from insurance
contracts. Income and expenses from reinsurance contracts, other than insurance finance income or expenses, are presented
on a net basis as ‘ret expenses from reinsurance contracts’ in the insurance service result.

Insurance revente and expenses
Insurance reventie - contracts not measured under the PAA

The Group recognises insurance revenue as i satisfies its performance obligations - i.e. as it provides services under groups
of insurance contracts.

For contracts not measured under the PAA, the insurance revenue relating to services provided for each year represents the

total of the changes in the liability for remaining coverage that relate to sewvices for which the Group expects to receive

consideration, and comprises the following items:

*  Arelease of the CSM, measured based on coverage units provided;

+  Changes in the risk adjustment for non-financial risk relating to current services;

=  Claims and other directly attributable expenses incurred in the year, generally measured at the amounts expected at the
beginning of the year. This includes amounts arising from the derecognition of any assets for cash flows other than
insurance acquisition cash flows at the date of initial recognition of a group of contracts, which are recognised as
insurance revenue and insurance service expenses at that date;

+  Otheramounts, including experience adjustments for premium receipts for current or past services for the life risk segment
and amounts related to incurred policyholder tax expenses for the participating segment.

In addition, the Group allocates a portion of premiums that relate to recovering insurance acquisition cash flows to each period
in a systematic way based on the passage of time. The Group recognises the allocated amount, adjusted for interest accretion
at the discount rates determined on initial recognition of the related group of contracts, as insurance revenue and an equal
amount as insurance service expenses.
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(e)

Insurance centracts (Continued)
(viii) Presentation (continued)
Insurance revenue - contracts measured under the PAA

For contracts measured under the PAA, the insurance revenue for each period Is the amount of expected premium receipts for
providing services in the period. The Group allocates expected premiums equally to each period of related insurance contract
services, unless the expected pattern of the release of risk during the coverage period differs significantly from an even basis.

{oss components

For contracts not measured under the PAA, the Group establishes a loss component of the liability for remaining coverage for
onerous groups of insurance contracts. The loss component determines the amounts of fulfilment cash flows that are
subsequently presented in profit or loss as reversals of losses on onerous contracts and are excluded from insurance revenue
when they occur. When the fulfilment cash flows are incurred, they are allocated between the loss component and the liability
for remaining coverage excluding the loss component on a systematic basis.

Insurance service expenses

Insurance service expenses arising from insurance contracts are recognised in profit or loss generally as they are incurred. They

exclude repayments of investment components and compiise the following items.

« Incurred claims and other insurance service expenses: For some life risk contracts, incurred elaims also include premiums
waived on death or detection of critical {liness;

e  Other incurred directly attributable expenses;

*  Amoriisation of insurance acquisition cash flows: For contracts not meastired under the PAA, this is equal to the amount
of insurance revenue recognised in the year that relates to recovering insurance acquisition cash flows. For contracts
measured under the PAA, the Group amortises insurance acquisition cash flows on a straight-line basis over the coverage
period of the group of contracts

e losses on onerous contracts and reversals of such losses

+ Adjustments to the liabilities for incurred claims that do not arise from the effects of the time value of money, financiat
risk and changes therein

+ Impairment losses on assets for insurance acquisition cash flows and reversals of such impairment losses

Other expenses not meeting the above categories are included in other operating expenses in the statement of profit or loss.
Net expenses from reinsurance contracts

Net expenses from reinsurance contracts comprise an allecation of reinsurance premiums paid less amounts recovered from
reinsurers. The Group recognises an alfocation of reinsurance premiums paid in profit or loss as i receives sewvices under
groups of reinsurance contracts. For contracts not measured under the PAA, the aliocation of reinsurance premiums paid
relating to setvices received for each period represents the total of the changes in the asset for remaining coverage that refate
to services for which the Group expects to pay consideration.

For contracts measured under the PAA, the allocation of reinsurance premiums paid for each period is the amount of expected
premium payments for receiving services in the period.

For a group of reinsurance contracts covering onerous underlying contracts, the Group establishes a loss-recovery component

of the asset for remaining coverage to depict the recovery of losses recognised:

=  Onrecognition of onerous underiying contracts, if the reinsurance contract covering those contracts is entered into before
or at the same time as those contracts are recognized

+  For changes in fulfilment cash flows of the group of reinsurance contracts relating to future services that result from
changes in fulfilment cash flows of the onerous underlying centracts

The loss-recovery component determines the amounts that are subsequently presented in profit or loss as reversals of
recoveries of losses from the reinsurance contracts and are excluded from the atlocation of reinsurance premiums paid. It is
adjusted to reflect changes in the foss component of the anerous group of underlying contracts, but it cannot exceed the portion
of the loss component of the onerous group of underlying contracts that the Group expects to recover from the reinsurance
contracts.
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{e) Insurance contracts (Continued)
(viii} Presentation {continued}
Insurance finance income and expenses

Insurance finance income and expenses comprise changes in the carrying amounts of groups of insurance and reinsurance
contracts arising from the effects of the time value of money, financial risk and changes therein, unless any such changes for
groups of direct participating contracts are allocated to a loss component and included in insurance service expenses, They
include changes in the measurement of groups of contracts caused by changes in the value of underlying items (excluding
additions and withdrawals).

The Group has chosen not to disaggregate insurance finance income and expenses between profit or boss and OCL. All insurance
finance income and expenses for the period is presented in profit or loss.

The Groep has chosen not to disaggregate the change in risk adjustment for non-financial risk between the insurance sewvice
result and the insurance finance resuit. The entire change is recognised in the insurance service result.

H Income

() Investmentincome

Interest income is recognised in the statement of profit or loss as it accrues and is calculated by using the effective interest
rate (EIR) method. Interest income is recognised using EIR method for all financial assets measured at amortised cost. Interest
income on interest bearing financial assets measured at fair value through 0Cl is aiso recorded using the EIR method. The EIR
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or liability or
when appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross cartying amount of the financial asset.

The EIR {(and therefore the amortised cost of the financial asset) is calculated taking into account transaction costs and any
discount or premium on acquisition of the financial asset, as well as fees and costs that are an integral part of the EiR. The
Group recognises interest income using the EIR method.

The group calculates interest income on financial assets, other than those considered credit impaired, by applying the EIR to
the gross carrying amount of the asset.

Fees and commissions that are an integral part of the effective yield of the financial asset or liability are recognised as an
adjustment to the effective interest rate of the instrument. Investment income aiso includes dividend income which is
recognised when the right to receive the payment is established.

(ii) Rental income

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The excess of rental income on a straight-line over cash
received is recognised as an operating lease liability/asset. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental income.
Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are eamed.

{iii} Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised on the date when the Group's right to receive the payment is established. Dividend income is
presented gross of any non-recoverable withholding taxes which is included as part of investment income.

{iv) Realised / unrealised gains and losses

Realised / unrealised gains and losses recorded in the statement of profit or loss on investments include gains and losses on
financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss and investment properties. Gains and osses on the sale of
investments are calculated as the difference between net sales proceeds and the original or amortised cost and are recorded
on occurrence of the sale transactions. More details on the on how the gains have been arrived has been discussed in the
specific policies relating to the assets.
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1. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(i  Income (continued)

(v) Revenue from contract with customers
Revenue from asset management services

The Group recognizes revenue only when it satisfies a performance obligation by transferring control of the service to its
customers. The performance obligation is satisfied over time as the customer simultaneously consumes the benefits provided
by the Group as the Group performs.

The Group provides fund management services. The agreement for fund management setvices specifies {he performance
obligation as to canry out the management and administration of the fund, be responsible for investing and re-investing the
assets, Accordingly, the Group allocates the fransaction price based on the value of the asset portfolio managed.

This financial services income includes income from investment management and related activities. This is based on the value
of the assets managed on behalf of clients such as fund management fees, collective investment and linked product
administration fees. Initial fees that relate to the future rendering of sewices are deferred and recognised as those future
services are rendered.

{g) Operating and other expenses

Expenses are recognised in profit or loss when a decrease in future economic benefits related to a decrease in an asset or an

increase of a liability has arisen that can be measured reliably and is independent from transactions with equity participants.

This means, in effect, that recognition of expenses occurs simuitaneously with the recognition of an increase in liabilities or a

decrease in assets (for example, the accrual of employee entitlements or the depreciation of equipment).

{y When economic benefits are expected to arise over several accounting periods and the association with income can only
be broadly or indirectly determined expenses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss on the hasis of systematic
and rational allocation procedures. This is often necessary in recognising the equipment associated with the using up of
assets such as property and equipment. In such cases the expense is referred to as a depreciation or amortisation. These
allocation procedures are intended to recognise expenses in the accounting periods in which the economic henefits
associated with these items are consumed or expire.

(i} An expense is recognised immediately in profit or loss when expenditure produces no future econoemic benefits or when,
and to the extent that future economic benefits do not qualify, or cease to qualify, for recognition in the statement of
financial position as an asset.

Operating and other expenses that are directly attributable to acquisition of insurance business are recognised in insurance service
expenses as per note 1(e){viii} above. Other expenses not meeting the categories in note 1(e}{viii} are included in other operating
expenses in the statement of profit or loss.

() Taxation
Current incame tax

Current income tax is the amount of income tax payable on the taxable profit for the year determined in accordance with the
respective countries’ income Tax Legislations. income tax expense is the aggregate amount charged/ (credited) in respect of
current tax and deferred tax in determining the profit or loss for the year. Current income tax assets or iabilities are based on
the amount of tax expected to be paid or recovered in respect of the taxation authorities in the future. Tax is recognised in profit
or loss except when it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income, in which case it is also recognised in other
comprehensive income, or to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is also recognised directly in equity.

Current income tax is provided on the basis of the results for the year, as shown in the financial statements, adjusted in
accordance with tax legislation. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or
substantively enacted as at the reporting date. The prevailing tax rate and the amount expected to be paid are highlighted in
note 11 of these financial statements,

The group offsets current tax assets and current tax liabilities when:
- Ithas a legally enforceabie right to set off the recognised amounts; and
- ltintends either to settle on a net basis, or fo realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously,

The net amount of current income tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included on a separate line in
the statement of financial position of these financial statements.

64



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

1. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

{h}

U]

Taxation (continued)
Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is determined using the liability method on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their cantying amounts for financlal reporting purposes, using tax rates and laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date and expected to apply when the related deferred income {ax asset is realised, or the deferred tax
liahility is settled.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences except those arising on the initial recognition of goodwiil, the initial
recognition of an asset or liahility, other than a business combination, that at the time of the transaction affects neither the
accounting nor taxable profit nor loss. In respect of taxahle temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised where the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences can be controlled and i is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and
interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences
will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be avallable againstwhich the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset fo be utilised. Unrecognised
deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. The aceounting of deferred tax movements is driven by
the accounting treatment of the underlying transaction that led to the temporary differences.

Deferred tax relating to items recorded in profit or loss is recognised in profit or loss, while deferred tax relating to items
recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss in other comprehensive income or equity.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, If a legally enforceable right exists fo set off current tax assets against
current income tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Income Taxes
Value Added Tax (VAT) and premium taxes

Revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities are recognised net of the amount of VAT and premium taxes except:

e when the VAT or premium tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority,
in which case the VAT is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as
applicable, or receivables and payables that are measured with the amount of VAT or premium tax included.

Outstanding net amounts of VAT or premium tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of
receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.

Earnings pershare

The Group calculates basic eamings per share amounts for profit or loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent
entity and, if presented, profit or loss from continuing operations attributable to those equity holders. Basic earnings per share
is calculated by dividing profit ot loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent entity (the numerator) by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding (the denominator) during the period.

For the purpose of calculating basic eamnings per share, the amounts attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent entity
in respect of:

(i} profit or loss from continuing operations attributable to the parent entity; and

(i} profit orloss attributable to the parent entity

are the amounts in (i) and (ji) adjusted for the after-tax amounts of preference dividends, differences arising on the settlement
of preference shares, and other similar effects of preference shares classified as equity.
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MATERIAE ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

1.

)]

Translation of forelgn cutrencies

The presentation currency of each of the Group's consolidated entities is the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates. The consolidated and company’s financial statements are presented in Kenyan Shilling {“KShs")
which is alse the company’s functional currency.

Monetary assets and liabilities are translated into each entity's functional currency at the applicable exchange rate at the
respective reporting dates. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of the transactions performed by
the companies of the Group and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities into each entity's functional currency
are recognized in profit or loss. Effects of exchange rate changes on the fair value of equify instruments are recorded as part of
the fair value gain or loss.

The resuits and financial position of each group entity {are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

i} assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the applicable closing rate at
the respective reporting date;

(ii} income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss and statement of other comprehensive income are transiated
either at the rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions or at average exchange rates (in case this average is a
reasonable approximation of the cumaulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates).

The resuits and financial position of an entity whose functional currency is the currency of a hyperinfiationary economy shall be
translated into the group’s presentation currency using the following procedure: all amounts {i.e. assets, liabilities, eguity
items, income and expenses) shall be translated at the closing rate at the date of the most recent statement of financial
position.

When amounts are translated into the currency of a non-hyperinflationary economy, comparative amounts shall be those that
were presented as current year amounts in the relevant prior year financial statements (i.e. not adjusted for subsequent
changes in the price level or subsequent changes in exchange rates).

Inflation accounting

One of the subsidiaries of the Group, CIC Africa Insurance (South Sudan) was considered to operate in hyperinflationary
economy until 31 December 2023. In 2024, South Sudan ceased being hyperinflationary and the subsidiary discontinued the
preparation and presentation of the financial statements in accordance to the IAS 29 standard. It freated the carrying amounts
expressed in the measuring current unit at 31 December 2023 as the basis for opening canying amounts for the 2024 financial
statements.

Significant judgement

The Group exercises significant judgement in determining the onset of hyperinfiation in countries in which it operates and
whether the functional currency of its subsidiaries is the currency of a hyperinflationary economy.

Various characteristics of the economic enviranment of each country are taken into account. These characteristics include, but
are not limited to, whether:

+ the general popuiation prefets to keep its wealth in non-monetary assets or in a relatively stabte foreign currency;

«  prices are quoted in a relatively stable foreign currency;

s sales or purchase prices take expected losses of purchasing power during a short credit pertiod into account;

o interest rates, wages and prices are linked to a price index; and

s the cumulative inflation rate over three years is approaching, or exceeds, 100%.

The analysis of the cumulative inftation rate over three years resulted in the Group considering whether South Sudan's economy
was hyperinflationary. Based on the available information, the Group concluded that the ecomomy is currently not
hyperinfiationary.
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Property and equipment

Property and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses except for
buildings which are measured based on revalued amounts. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset as appropriate only when the future economic benefits assoclated with the item will flow to the
group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Buildings are measured according to the revaluation modet stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the
reporting date.

Increases in the carrying amount of land and buildings arising on revaluation are dealt with through other comprehensive
income and accumulated under a separate heading of revaluation surplus in the statement of changes in equity. Decreases
that offset previous increases of the same asset are dealt with through other comprehensive income and reversed from
revaluation surplus in the statement of changes in equify; all other decreases are charged to profit or loss for the year.
Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity such that the carrying amounts do not differ materially from those that
would be determined using fair values at the end of each reporting period.

Depreciation is calculated on straight line basis to write down the cost of each asset, or the revalued amount, to its residual
value over its estimated useful life as follows:

Buildings 40 years
Computers 4 years
Motor vehicles 4 years
Furniture, fittings and equipment 8 years
Leasehold improvements 10 years

Property and equipment are reviewed for impairment as described in note (s) whenever there are any indications of impairment
identified.

Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use.

An item of property and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no further economic benefits are expected from its
continued use or disposal. Gains and losses on derecognition of property and eguipment are determined by reference to the
difference of the canrying amounts and disposal proceeds. On disposal of revalued assets, amounts in the revaluation reserve
relating to that asset are transferred to retained eamings. The date of disposal of an item of property, and equipment is the
date the recipient obtains control of that item in accordance with the requirements for determining when a performance
chligation is satisfied. The amount of consideration to be included is the gain or loss arising from the derecognition of property
and is determined in accordance with the requirements for determining the transaction price in IFRS 15.

The residual value, useful lives and methods of depreciation of property and equipment are reviewed at each financlal year end
are adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.

Investment properties

Investment property is property held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Investment property Is initially
recognised at cost including the transaction costs. The investment properties are subsequently carried at fair value,
representing the open market value at the reporting date determined by annual valuations by independent valuers. Gains or
losses arising from changes in the fair value are included in the profit or loss for the year to which they relate.

The carrying amount includes the cost of replacing part of an existing investment property atthe time that cost is incurred if the
recognition criteria is met; and excludes the costs of day-to-day servicing of an investment property.

Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed off (i.e., at the date the recipient obtains control)
or when the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its
disposal. On disposal of an investment property, the difference between the disposal proceeds and the carnrying amount is
charged or credited to profit or loss. The date of disposal of investment property is the date the recipient obtains control of that
item in accordance with the requirements for determining when a performance obligation is satisfied, The amount of
consideration to be included in the gain or loss arising from the derecognition of investment property is determined in
accordance with the requirements for determining the transaction price in IFRS 15.
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Investment properties (continued)

Transfers are made to (or from) investment property only when there is a change in use. For a transfer from investment property
to owner occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent acceunting is the fair value at the date of change in use. if owner-
occupied property becomes an investment preperty, the Group accounts for such praperty in accordance with the policy stated
under plant and equipment to the date of change in use.

Intangible assets

Software licence costs and computer software that are not an integral part of the refated hardware are initiatly recognised at
cost, and subsequently carried at cost less accumutated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Costs that are
directly attributable to the production of identifiable computer software products controlled by the Group are recognised as
intangible assets.

Softwares under implementation are recognised as work in progress at historical costs less any accumulated impairment loss.
The cost of such softwares includes professional fees and costs directly attributable to the software. The softwares are not
amortised until they are ready for the intended use.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite. The group does not have assets with indefinite
life and hence the amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to write down the cost of each licence or item of
software over its estimated useful life (four years).

Amortisation begins when the asset is available for use, i.e. when it is in the location and condition necessary for it to be
capabtle of operating in the manner intended by management, even when idie. Amortisation ceases at the earlier of the date
that the asset is classified as held for sale and the date that the asset is derecognised.

Intangible assets have finite lives and are assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset
may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are
reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of coansumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset
is accounted for by changing the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting
estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in profit or loss in the expense category
consistent with the function of the intangible asset. The date of disposal of an item of intangible asset is the date the recipient
obtains control of that item in accordance with the requirements for determining when a performance obligation is satisfied.
The amount of censideration fo be included in the gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an intangible asset is
determined in accordance with the requirements for determining the transaction price in IFRS 15.

Accounting for leases

The Group leases rental office spaces. The Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the coniract conveys the right {o control the use of an identified asset for a period in exchange for consideration. To
assess whether a eontract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset, the Group uses the definition of a lease in
IFRS 16.

Groip acling as a lessee

On the commencement date of each lease (excluding leases with a term, on commencement, of 12 maonths or [ess and leases
for which the underlying asset is of low value) the Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability.

The lease liability is measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid on that date. The lease payments
include fixed payments, variable payments that depend on an index or a rate, amounts expected to be payable under residual
value guarantees, and the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably ceitain to exercise that option. The
lease payments are discounted at the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group's
incremental borrowing rate is used. The incremental borrowing rate is the internal cost of debt determined as the risk free
borrowing rate adjusted for country premium.

For lzases that contain non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration payable to the lease and non-fease
components hased on their relative stand-alone components.
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Accounting for leases {continued)

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost comprising the initial measurement of the lease liability, any lease payments
made on or hefore the commencement date, any initial direct costs incurred, and an estimate of the costs of restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required under the terms of the lease.

Subsequently the lease liability is measured at amortised cost, subject to re-measurement to reflect any reassessment, lease
modifications, or revised fixed lease payments.

Depreciation is caleulated using the straight-line methed o write down the cost of each asset to its residual value over its
estimated useful life. If ownership of the underlying asset is not expected to pass to the Group at the end of the lease term, the
estimated useful life would not exceed the lease term.

For leases with a term, on commencement, of 12 months or less and leases for which the underlying asset is of low value (such
as leased electronic equipment) the total lease payments are recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease
period.

Leases where the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership are classified as finance
leases. Finance leases are recognised as a liability at the inception of the lease at the lower of the fair value of the leased
assets and the present value of the minimum lease payments. The interest rate implicit in the lease is used as the discount
factor in determining the present value. Each lease payment is allocated between the liabitity and finance cost using the
interest rate implicit in the lease. The finance cost is charged to the profit and loss account in the year In which it is incurred.
Property and equipment acquired under finance leases are capitalised and depreciated over the estimated useful ife of the
asset.

The changes in leases which do not fali under the scope of COVID 19 related concessions are treated as lease modifications.
Right of use assets are re-measured and gains or losses thereof recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease Hlabilities for short-term leases. The Group recognises
the lease payments associated with these leases as an expense over the lease term.

A short-term lease in this context is defined as any arrangement which has a lease term of 12 months or less. L.ease payments
associated with such arrangements are recognised in the income statement as an expense on a straight-line basis. The Group's
total short term and low value lease portfolio is not material. The Group also leases office equipment such as printers and for
which certain leases are short term.

Determination

The determination of whether an amangement is, (or contains), a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement at the
inception date, The arrangement is assessed for whether fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific
asset or assets or the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset or assets, even if that right is not explicitly specified in an
arrangement.

Group as a lessor

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of an asset are classified as
operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased
asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in
the period in which they are earned.

When an operating lease is terminated, any payment required by the lessor by way of penaity is recognised as an expense in
the period in which termination took place. The Group is both lessee-and a lessor.
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Accounting for leases {continued)
The Group as the lesser - Investment properties leasing arrangements

The investment properties are leased to tenants under operating leases with rentals payable monthly. Lease payments for some
contracts include Consumer Price Index (CPY) increases, but there are no other variable lease payments that depend on an
index or rate.

At inception or on modification of a contract that contains a lease compenent, the Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to each Iease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone prices.
When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each fease is a finance lease or an operating lease.

To classify each lease, the Group makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers substantially all of the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If this is the case, then the lease Is a finance lease; if not, then itis an
operating lease. As part of this assessment, the Group considers certain indicators such as whether the lease is for the major
part of the economic life of the asset. On a consolidated basts, the business evaluated the praportion of the properties that are
owner occupied and reclassified them to Property and Equipment

If an arrangement contains iease and non-lease compaonents, then the Group applies IFRS 15 to allocate the consideration in
the contract.

Provisions

Generat provisions

Provisions for liabilities are recognised when there is a present obligation (fegal or constructive) resulting from a past event,
and itis probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be
matde of the monetary value of the obligation. Where the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, the
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, but only when the reimbursement Is virtually certain. The expense relating
fo any provision is presented in profit or loss net of any reimbursement. If the effect of the time value of money is
material,provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where approptiate, the risks specific to the liability.
Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

Onerous contracts

A provision is recognised for onerous contracts in which the unavoidable costs of mesting the obligations under the contract
exceeds the economic benefits expected to be received under it. The unavoidable costs reflect the least net cost of exiting the
contract, which is the lower of the cost of fulfilling it and any compensatien or penalties arising from failure to fuffil it.
inventories

Land held for sale

Land heid for sale is stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costincludes the cost of acquisition, and development

and borrowing costs during development. When development is completed, borrowing costs and other holding charges are
expensed as incurred.
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Employee benefits

Defined contributions provident fund

The Group operates a defined contributions post-employment provident fund for eligible employees. The fund is funded by
contributions from the employees and the Group. The assets of the fund are held and administered independently of the
Group’s assets.

Statutory pension scheme

The Group afso makes contributions to the statutory defined contribution schemes in the four countries where operations are
based. Contributions to defined contribution schemes are recognised as an expense in profit or loss as they fait due,

Leave

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liahility for annual leave accrued at the reporting date.

Bonus

An acerual is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus if the Group has a present legal and
constructive obligation to pay this amount as a resulf of past sewvice provided by the employee, the obligation can be estimated
reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation.

Termination benefits

The Group recognises a liability and expense for termination benefits at the earlier of when the entity can no longer withdraw
the offer of those benefits and when the entity recognises costs for a restructuring that is within the scope of IAS 37 and involves
the payment of termination benefits.

()  For termination benefits payable as a resuit of an employee's decision to accept an offer of benefits in exchange for the
termination of empioyment, the time when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of termination benefits is the earlier
of when the employee accepts the offer and when a restriction (eg a legal, regulatory or contractual requirement or other
restriction) on the entity's ability to withdraw the offer takes effect. This would be when the offer is made, if the restriction
existed at the time of the offer,

(i) For termination benefits payable as a result of the Group’s decision to terminate an employee’s employment, the Group
then can no longer withdraw the offer when it has communicated to the affected employees a plan of termination meeting
all of the following:

- Actions required to complete the plan indicate that it is unlikely that significant changes to the plan will be made;

- The plan identifies the number of employees whose employment is to be terminated, their job classifications or functions
and their locations (but the plan need not identify each individual employee) and the expected completion date; and

- The ptan establishes the termination benefits that employees will receive in sufficient detail that employees can determine
the type and amount of benefits they will receive when their employment is terminated.

71



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND TS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

1.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

®

)

Segment reporting

An operating segment is a component of an entity:

(i That engages in business activities from which it may eamn revenues and incur expenses (including revenues and
expenses relating to transactions with other components of the same entity);

(i) Whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the entity's chief operating decision maker to make decisions about
resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance; and

(ifi}  Forwhich discrete financial informaticn is available.

Operating segments are reperted in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief aperating decision
maker (the Group Chief Executive Officer). The Group Chief Executive Officer allocates resources to and assesses the
performance of the operating segments of the Group. The operating segments are based on the Group’s management and
internal reporiing structure.

Under IFRS 8, the Group's reportable segments are fong-term business, general insurance business, asset management and
other. Long-term business comprises the underwriting of risks relating to death of an insured person and includes contracts
subject to the payment of premiums for a long-term dependent on the termination or continuance of the life of an insured
person. General insurance business refates to all other categories of insurance business written by the Group and is analysed
into several sub-classes of business based on the nature of the assumed risks. Asset management comprises fund
management, advisory services businesses and investments. Others comprises of the regional companies; CIC Africa Uganda,
CIC Africa Malawi and CIC Africa South Sudan. It alse includes the holding company. The Group’s main geographical segment
of business is in Kenya, which contributes over 87% (2023 88%) of the Group’s total insurance revenue.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication
exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group estimates the asset's recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit's fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use,
The recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset, uniess the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs of disposal, an appropriate valuation modei is
used.

Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in profit or loss in those expense categories consistent with the
function of the impaired asset, except for property previously revalued where the revaluation was taken to other comprehensive
income. In this case the impairment is also recognised in other comprehensive income up to the amount of any previous
revaluation. The Group bases its impairment calculation on detailed budgets and forecast calculations which are detailed in
its five-year strategic plan. For longer periods, a long-term growth rate is calculated and applied to project future cash flows
after fifth year.

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised impairment
tosses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the Group makes an estimate of recoverable
amount. A previous impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset's
recoverable amount since the Jast impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case the canying amount of the asset is
increased to its recoverable ameunt. That increased amount cannot exceed the canying amount that would have been
determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is
recognised in the profit or loss to the amount of an impairment already taken fo profit or loss while the remainder will be a
revaluation amount through other comprehensive income.
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Fairvalue measurement

The Group measures financial instruments classified as financial assets at fair value through OCI and financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss including investment properties at fair value at each reporting date.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

= In the principal market for the asset or liability; or

= Inthe absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or Hability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to by the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the
asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in
its highest and best use.

The Group uses vafuation technigues that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unohservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fair
value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole:

= Level 1 - Quoted {unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities:

= level 2 - Valuation technigues for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly
or inditectly observable; and

= Level 3 - Valuation technigues for which the Jowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unohservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the group determines whether
transfers have occutred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting petiod.

Involvement of external valuers is decided upon annually by the Finance General Manager {GM), who discusses the basis and
assumptions with the valuer. The Group Chief Financial Officer then approves this. Selection criteria include market knowledge,
reputation, independence and whether professional standards are maintained.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of the nature,
characteristics and risks of the asset or Hability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above. Fair value related
disclosures have been set out in note 54.

Financial instruments

Afinancial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equfty instrument
of another entity.

Date of recognition

Financial assets and liabilities are initially recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.
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Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition and subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through other
comprehensive income (0CI}, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and
the group's business model for managing them. The Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a
financial asset not at fair value through profit or ioss, transaction costs. Recelvables that do not contain a significant financing
component are measured at the fransaction price determined under IFRS 15.

Financial assets

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or at fair value through OCI, it needs to give rise
to cash flows that are ‘solely payments of principal and interest (SPPIY’ on the principal amount outstanding. This assessment
is referred to as the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level.

The Group's business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate
cash flows. The business modetf determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the
financial assets, or both,

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by regulation or convention
inthe market place (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in four categories:

* Financial assets at amortised cost {debt instruments);

+ Financial assets at fair value through OC} with recycling of cumulative gains and losses (debt instruments);

* Financial assets designated at fair value through OCl with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses upon derecognition
{equity instruments); and

= Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met:

= The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows; and

* The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates o cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective inferest rate (EIR) method
and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.

The Group's financial assets at amortised cost include loans receivable, cash and cash equivalents, deposits with financial
institutions, commercial papers, corporate bonds, other receivables, government securities at amertised cost and due from
related parties.

Business model assessment

The group determines its business model at the level that best reflects how it manages groups of financial assets to achieve its
business objective.

The Group holds financial assets to generate returns and provide a capital base to provide for settiement of claims as they
arise. The Group considers the timing, amount, and volatility of cash flow requirements to support insurance Hability portiolios
in determining the business model for the assets as well as the potential to maximise return for shareholders and future
business development. The expected frequency, value, and timing of asset sales are important aspects of the Group's
assessment,
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Financial instruments (continued)
Business model assessment (continued)

The business model assessment is based on reasonably expected scenarios without faking “worst case” or “stress case”
scenarios into account. If cash flows after initial recognition are realised in a way that is different from the Group's original
expectations, the Group does not change the classification of the remaining financial assets held in that business model but
incorporates such information when assessing newly originated or newly purchased financial assets going forward.

The SPPI test

As a second step of its classification process the Group assesses the contractual terms to identiy whether they meet the SPPI
test.

“Principal” for the purpose of this test is defined as the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition and may change
over the life of the financial asset (for example, if there are repayments of principal or amortisation of the premium/discount).

The most significant elements of interest within a debt arrangement are typically the consideration for the time value of money
and credit risk. To make the SPP{ assessment, the Group applies judgement and considers relevant factors such as the petiod
for which the interest is set.

Financial assets at fair value through OCI (debf instruments}

The Group measures debt instruments at fair value through OC! if both of the following conditions are met:

« Thefinancial asset is held within a business model with the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and
selling; and

e  The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding,

The classification of financial assets at initlal recognition depends on the financial assets contractual cash flow characteristics
and the Group's business model for managing them. Except for other receivables and amount due from refated parties, which
do not contair significant financing components, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fairvalue plus, inthe case
of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs.

For a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or at fair value through OC), it needs to give rise to cash
flows that are 'solely payments of principal and interest {SPPI)’ on the principal amount outstanding. This assessment is
referred to as the SPP1test and is performed at an instrument level.

For debt instruments at fair value through QCI, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and impairment losses or
reversals are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and computed in the same manner as for financial assets measured
at amortised cost. The remaining fair value changes are recognised in OCL. Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value
change recognised in OCl is recycled to profit or loss.

Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI (equity instrumerits)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably its equity investments as equity instruments designated at
fair value through OCI when they meet the definition of equity under IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not
held for trading. The classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as other income in the
statement of profit or loss when the right of payment has been established, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds
as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in OCI. Equity instruments
designated at fair value through OCI are not subject to impairment assessment. The unquoted financial assets have been
designated at fair value through OCI because the Group intends to hold the assets into perpetuity. The Group has designated
its equity investments previously classified as available-for-sale as equity investments at FVOC( on the basis that these are not
held for trading.

The Group’s financial assets designated at fair value through OCI (equity instruments} are the unquoted equity investments.
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1.

(W

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading, financial assets designated upon
initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or financial assets mandatorily required to he measured at fair value.
Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selting or repurchasing in the near
term. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated
as effective hedging instruments. Financial assets with cash flows that are not solely payments of principal and interest are
classified and measured at fairvalue through profit or foss, imespective of the business model, Notwithstanding the criteria for
debt instruments to be classified at amortised cost or at fair value through 0CI, as described above, debt instruments may be
designated at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or significantly reduces, an
accounting mismatch,

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with net
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

The Group has classified quoted equify instruments and investments in collective investment scheme in this category.

Derecognition
Derecognition other than for substantial modification

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised ({i.e., removed from the Group’'s statement of financial position) when:
+ The righis to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

* The Group has transfetred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material defay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either {a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or {b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred confrol of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights o receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership. When it has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to
recognise the fransferred asset to the extent of its continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an
associated labitity. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be required fo repay.

Derecagnition due to substantial modification of terms and conditions

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the terms and conditions have been renegotiated to the extent that,
substantiafly, it becomes a new instrument, with the difference recognised as derecognition gain or loss. When assessing
whether or net to derecognise an instrument, amongst others, the Group considers the following factors: introduction of an
equity feature, change in counterparty and if the modification is such that the instrument would no longer meet the SPP}
criterion.

If the modification does not result into cash flows that are substantially different, the modification does not result in
derecognition. Based on the change in cash flows discounted at the original EIR, the Group records a modification gain or foss.
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Financial instruments (continued)
Impairment of financial assets
Overview of ECL principles

The ECL allowanee is based on the credit losses expected to arise over the life of the asset (the lifetime expected credit loss or
LTECL), unless there has been no significant increase in credit risk since origination, in which case, the allowance is based on
the 12 months’ expected credit loss (12mECL).

The 12m ECL is the portion of LTECLs that represent the ECLs that result from default events on a financial instrument that are
possible within the 12 months after the reporting date.

The Group has established a policy to perform an assessment, at the end of each reporting period, of whether a financial
instrument's credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, by considering the change in the risk of default
occurring over the remaining life of the financial instrument.

The calculation of ECLs

The Group calculates ECLs based on three probability-weighted scenarios to measure the expected cash shortfalls, discounted
at an approximation to the EIR. A cash shortfall is the difference between the cash flows that are due to an entity in accordance
with the contract and the cash fiows that the entity expects to receive.

The mechanics of the ECL calculations are outlined helow and the key elements are as follows:

e PD: The Probability of Default is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon. A default may only
happen at a certain time over the assessed period, if the facility has not heen previously derecoghised and is still in the
porifolio,

e EAD: The Exposure at Default is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, considering expected changes in the
exposure after the reporting date, including repayments of principal and interest, whether scheduled by contract or
otherwise, expected drawdowns on committed facilities, and accrued interest from missed payments.

*  LGD: The Loss Given Default is an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a default occurs at a given time. It is based
on the difference between the contractual cash flows due and those that the lender would expect to receive, including
from the realisation of any collateral. It is usually expressed as a percentage of the EAD,

The Group does not have financial guarantees, loan commitments, letters of credit and financial assets which are purchased
or originated credit impaired (POCI). :

The maximum period for which the credit losses are determined is the contractual life of a financial asset at amortised cost
unless the Group has the legal right to call it eariier.

The Group allocates its assets subject to ECL caleulations into these categories determined as follows:

e 12MECL (Stage 1) -The 12mECL is calculated as the portion of the LTECL that represents the ECL that result from
default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date. The Group
calculates the 12mECL allowance based on the expectation of a default occurring within 12 months following the
reporting date.

« LTECL (Stage 2)-This is recorded when a financial instrument has shown a significant increase in credit risk since
origination.

¢ Impairment (Stage 3} -For debt instruments considered credit-impaired, the Group recognises the fifetime expected
credit losses for these instruments.

+  For other receivables, the Group applies a simpliified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the Group does not
track changes in credit risk, butinstead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
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Financial instruments (continued)

Forward looking information

The inputs and models used for calculating ECLs may not always capture all characteristics of the market at the date of the
financial statements. To refiect this, qualitative adjustments or overlays are occasionally made as temporary adjustments when
such differences are significantly material.

The Group incorporates forward-looking information into both its assessment of whether the credit risk of an instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition and its measurement of ECL. It formulates a 'base case' view of the future
direction of relevant economic variables and a representative range of other possible forecast scenarios based on advice from
the risk committee and economic experts and consideration of a variety of external actuaf and forecast information. This
process involves developing two or more additional economic scenarios and considering the relative probabilities of each
oufcome.

The base case represents a best estimate and is aligned with Information used by the group for other purposes, such as
strategic planning and budgeting. The other scenarios represent more optimistic and more pessimistic outcomes. The Group
also periodically carries out stress-testing of more extreme shocks to calibrate its determination of these other representative
scenarios.

Collateral valuation

To mitigate its credit risk on financial assets (staff loans}), the Group seeks to use coliateral, where possible. The cellateral is in
form of real estate or motor vehicles. Coliateral, unless repossessed, is not recorded on the Group’s statement of financial
position. However, the fair value of collateral affects the calculations of ECLs for staff loans. i is generally assessed, at a
minimum, at inception and reassessed on annual basis. Collaterals such as real estate, is valued based on data provided by
third parties such as real estate valuers.

Collateral repossessed

The Group’s accounting policy under IFRS 9 remains the same as it was under IAS 39. The Group’s policy is to determine
whether a repossessed asset can be best used for its internal operations or should be sold. Assets determined to be useful for
internal operations are transferred to their relevant asset category at the lower of the repossessed value or the canying amount
of the original secured asset, Assets for which selfing is determined to be the better option are transferred to assets held for
sale at their fair value (if financial assets) and fair value less cost to sell for non-financial assets at the repossession date in
line with the Group’s policy.

In its normal course of business, the Group does not physically repossess propetties or motor vehicles but engages its
procurement department to auction the asset to settle the outstanding debt. Any surplus funds are returned to the abligers.
Because of this practice, the real estate properties and maotor vehicles under legal repossession processes are not recorded in
the balance sheet.

Write offs

Financial assets are written off either partially or in entirety only when the Group has stopped pursuing the recovery. If the
amount to be written off is greater than the accumulated loss allowance, the difference is first treated as an addition to the
allowance that is then applied against the gross carrying amount Any subsequent recoveries are credited to credit foss expense.
There were no write offs over the perlod reported in these financial statements.

The inputs and models used for calculating ECLs may not always capture all characteristics of the market at the date of the
financiai statements. To reflect this, qualitative adjustments or overlays are oeccasionally made as temporary adjustments when
such differences are significantly material.
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Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
borrowings, and payables. All financial Habilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings
and payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include other payables, borrowings, payables arising out of reinsurance arrangements and
amounts due to related parties.

Subsequent meastirement

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below:
Financial liabifities at fairvalue through profit or loss

Financial liabifities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and financial Kabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss,

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred for the purpese of repurchasing in the near term. Gains
or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Financlal liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or foss are designated at the initial date of
recognition, and only if the criteria in IFRS 9 are satisfied. Separated embedded derivatives are also elassified as held for
trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss are designated at the initial date of
recognition, and only if the criteria in IFRS 9 are satisfled.

Management only designates, on an instrument - by~ instrument basis, an instrument at FVYPL upon initial recognition when
one of the following criteria are met:

+  The designation eliminates, or significantly reduces, the inconsistent treatment that would otherwise arise from measuring
the assets or liabilities or recognising gains or losses on them on a different basis

The Group has designated unit linked contracts as financial labilities at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

After initial recognition, payahles are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EIR method. The effective interest
methed is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated fufure cash payments through the expected life
of the financial liability, or {where apprepriate) a shorter period, to the carrying amount on initial recognition. Amortised cost
is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the
EiR.

Redesignation of financial assefs

As part of the initial implementation of IFRS 17, /psurance Contracts, effective 1 January 2023, the Group reassessed its
business model for eligible financial assets in line with the requirements of paragraphs C29 to €33 of {FRS 17. The
redesignation was based on the facts and circumstances that existed at the date of initial application of IFRS 17 and the
designations and classifications were applied retrospectively without the use of hindsight.

The applied designations and classifications were based on how the performance of the financial assets is evaluated, reported

to key management personnel, the risks that affect the perfermance of the deposit administration fund and expected liguidity
needs of the holders of the instruments.
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)

(w)

)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, depesits held at call with
banks and other short-term highly liquid investment comprising of fixed deposits with financial institutions with original
maturities of three months or fess, and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Dividends

Dividends on crdinary shares are charged directly to equity in the period in which they are declared and approved. Dividend
distribufions to the shareholders are recognised as a liability in the financial statements in the year in which the dividends are
declared and approved by the shareholders.

Events after the reporting date

If the Group receives information after the reporting period, but prier to the date of authorisation for issue, about conditions
that existed at the end of the repotting period, the Group will assess if the information affects the amounts that it recognises
in the Group's financial statements. The Group will adjust the amounts recognised in is financlal statements to reflect any
adjusting events even after the reporting period and update the disclosures that relate to those cenditions in the light of the
new information. For nen-adjusting events after the reporting period, the Group will not change the amounts recognised in its
financial statements but will disclose the nature of the non-adjusting event and an estimate of its financial effect, or a
statement that such an estimate cannot be made, if applicable. Refer to note 60 for more details.
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(y) Share capital and share premium

Ordinaty shares are recognised at par value and classified as ‘share capital' in equity. Any amounts received over and above
the par value of the shares issued are classified as ‘share premium’ in equity.

Incremental costs attribetable o the issue or cancellation of equity instruments are recognised directly in equity, net of tax if
applicable.

(z Statutory fund

This relates to CIC Life Assurance Limited. The Group matches the assets to liabilities, after which there is a surplus/deficit
that is transferred to the statutoty fund. The Insurance Act regulations stipulate that only a maximum of 30% of this can be
transferred to the shareholders. The statutory actuary advises on the amount to be fransferred to the shareholders, When a
transfer is made to the shareholders, tax at the prevailing cerporation rate 2024: 30% (2023: 30%) is incurred.

(@  Product classification

Insurance contracts are those contracts where the Group {the insurer) has accepted significant insurance risk from another
party (the policyholders) by agreeing to compensate the policyholders if a specified uncertain future event (the insured event)
adversely affects the policyholders. As a general guideline, the Group determines whether it has significant insurance risk, by
comparing benefits payable after an insured event with benefits payable if the insured event did not occur.

Insurance contracts can also transfer financial risk. Investment contracts are those contracts that transfer significant financial
risk, but not significant insurance risk. Financial risk is the risk of a possible future change in one or more of a specified interest
rate, financial instrument price, commodity price, foreign exchange rate, index of price or rates, credit rating or credit index or
other variable, provided in the case of a non-financial variable that the variable is not specific to a party to the contract. Once
a contract has been classified as an insurance contract (life and general}, it remains an insurance contract for the remainder
of its lifetime, even if the insurance risk reduces significantly during this period, unless all rights and obligations are
extinguished or expire. Investment contracts ean, however, be reclassHied as insurance contracts after inception i insurance
risk hecomes significant.

Insurance and investment contracts are further classified as being either with or without DPF, The insurance contracts with
DPF are majorly for Life Assurance, while the insurance contracts without DPF are both in general and fife businesses. The
group have direct participating contracts, in the form of deposit administration contracts. The investments contracts without
DPF Include the unit linked contracts.

DPF is a contractual right to receive, as a supplement to guaranteed benefits, additional benefits that meet the following
conditions: '

» Likelyto be a significant portion of the total contractual benefits; and
e The amount or timing of which is contractually at the discretion of the issuer.

That are contractually based on:

*  The performance of a specified pool of contracts or a specified type of contract;
. Realised and/or unrealised investment returns on a specified pool of assets held by the issuer; and
e The profit or loss of the company, fund or other entity that issues the contract.

{z) Policy loans

Pelicy loans, considered part of the insurance contract under IFRS 17, have been incorporated in insurance contract liabilities. IFRS 17
requires an entity to present separately in the statement of financial position the carrying amount of portfolios of insurance contracts
issued that are liabilities. Prior to the adoption of IFRS 17, loans to policyholders were classified as IFRS 9 foans and receivables under
Loans receivable {i.e. separately from the insurance contract). However, these loans do not meet the requirements in IFRS 17 to be
treated as separate IFRS 9 investment components and have been considered within insurance contract liabilities,
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CRITiCAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Estimates and assumptions are an integral part of financial reporting and as such have an impact on the assets and liabilities of the
Group. Management applies judgement in determining the best estimate of future experience. Judgements are based on historicat
experience and management’s best estimate expectations of future events, taking into account changes experienced historically.
Estimates and assumptions are regularly updated to refiect actual experience. Actual experience in future financial years can be
materially different from the current assumptions and judgements and could require adjustments to the canying values of the
affected assets and liabilities.

The Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the consolidated financial statements were prepared.
Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to market changes or circumstances
arising that are beyond the control of the Group. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur,

A

@

®)

(c)

(@

Critical judgements in applying the group’s accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations, that the directors have made in the process of
applying the Group's accounting policies and that will have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in financial
statements:

Assessment of significance of insurance risk

The Group applies its judgement in assessing whether a contract transfers to the issuer significant insurance risk. A contract
transfers significant insurance risk only if an insured event could cause the Group to pay additional amounts that are significant
in any single scenario and only if there is a scenario that has commercial substance in which the issuer has a possibility of a
loss on a present value basis upon an occurrence of the insured event, regardless of whether the insured event is extremely
unlikely. The assessment of whether additional amounts payable on the occurrence of an insured event are significant and
whether there is any scenatio with commercial substance in which the issuer has a possibility of a loss on a present value basis
involves significant judgement and is performed at initial recognition on a contract-by-contract basis. The type of contracts
where this judgement is required are those that transfer financial and insurance risk and resuit in the latter being the smaller
benefit provided. All contracts issued by the Group accept significant insurance risk and the reinsurance contracts held transfer
significant insurance risk and therefore no judgement was involved.

Combination of insurance contracts

Determining whether it is necessary to treat a set or series of insurance contracts as a single contract involves significant
judgement and careful consideration. In assessing whether a set or series of insurance contracts achieve, or are designed to
achieve, an overall commercial effect, the Group determines whether the rights and obligations are different when looked at
together compared to when locked at individually and whether the Group is unable to measure one contract without
considering the other. No respective judgement is applicable to the Group.

Separation of insurance components of an insuranice contract

The Group issues some insurance contracts that combine protection for the policyholder against different types of insurance
risks in a single contract. IFRS 17 does not reguire or permit separating insurance components of an insurance contract unless
the legal form of a single contract does not reflect the substance of its contractual rights and obligations. In such cases,
separate insurance elements must be recognised. Overriding the ‘single contract’ unit of account presumption involves
significant judgement and is not an accounting policy choice. When determining whether a legal contract reflects its substance
or not, the Group considers the interdependency between different risks covered, the ability of all components to lapse
independently, and the ability to price and seil the components separately. No respective judgement is applicable to the Group.

Determination of the contract boundary

The measurement of a group of insurance contracts includes all the future cash flows arising within the contract boundary. In
determining which cash flows fall within a contract boundary, the Group considers its substantive rights and obligations arising
from the terms of the contract, from applicable law, regulation and customary business practices. Cash fiows are considered
to be outside of the contract boundary if the Group has the practical ability to reprice existing contracts to reflect their
reassessed risks, and if the contract’s pricing for coverage up to the date of reassessment only considers the risks until the next
reassessment date. The Group applies its judgement in assessing whether it has the practical ability to set a price that fully
reflects all the risks in the contract or portfolio.

For the Group, the date of initial recognition will be the start of the coverage period for the group of insurance and reinsurance
contracts. In some contracts such as direct participating contracts, the Group has the practical abitity to reprice upon renewal.
The contract boundary ends at the end of the coverage period (e.g., maturity date/expiry date of the contract, or renewal date).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING THE GROUP'S ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

A. Critical judgements in applying the group's accounting policies (continued)
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ldentification of portfolios

The Group defines a portfolio as insurance contracts subject to similar risks and managed fogether. Contracts within the same
product Hine are expected to be in the same portfolio as they have similar risks and are managed together. The assessment of
which risks are simitar and how contracts are managed requires the exercise of judgement. Where similar products are issued
by different entities within a group, they are considered to be separate porifolios. Despite the oversight provided by
management at the group level, the Group determines that these contracts are managed at the local issuing entity level. This
is not an area of significant judgement for the Group since the Group is a multi-fine insurer where each product line is monitored
and managed on its own.

The Group applies the same assessment for the group of reinsurance contracts heid.
Level of aggregation

The Group applies judgement when determining the contract sets within portfolios and whether the Group has reasenable and
supportable information to conclude that all contracts within a set would fall inte the same group,

Assessment of loss component

Aggregation of insurance contracts issued on initial recognition into groups of onerous contracts, groups of contracts with no
significant possibility of becoming onerous and groups of other contracts. Simlilar grouping assessment for reinsurance
contracts held is done. For contracts measured under the PAA, management has applied judgement to assess whether facts
and circumstances indicate that a group of contracts has beceme onerous. Further, Judgement Is applied to assess whether
facts and circumstances indicate that any changes in the onerous group’s profitability and whether any loss component
remeasurement is required. The Group uses loss ratios to identify onerous contracts. The Group did not identify any facts or
circumstances that might have indicated that a group of contracts measured under the PAA had become onerous.

Assessment of directly attributable cash flows

The Group uses judgement in assessing whether cash flows are directly attributable to a specific portfolio of insurance
contracts. Insurance acquisition cash flows are included in the measurement of a group of insurance contracts only if they are
directly attributable to the individual contracts in a group, or to the group iself, or the portfolio of insurance contracts to which
the group belongs. When estimating fulfilment cash flows, the Group also allocates fixed and variable overheads fulfilment
cash flows directly attributable to the fulfilment of insurance contracts.

Assessment of eligibility for PAA

For short term (ve)insurance contracts with a coverage perlod extending beyond one year, the Group elects to apply the PAA if
at the inception of the group, the Group reasonably expects that it will provide a liability for remaining coverage that would not
differ materially from the General Model. The Group exercises judgement in determining whether the PAA eligibility criteria are
met at initial recognition.

The Group carried out PAA eligibility assessment for the engineering porifolio in general business whose LRC determined using
GMM does not differ materially from that measured under PAA and concluded that they qualiy to be measured under PAA. The
Group carried out PAA eligibitity assessment for the direct participating contracts portfolio, and assessed that the coverage
period is one year or less, given the ability to reprice the portiolio annually.

Determination of contractual service margin (CSM)
The CSM of a group of contracts is recognised in profit orloss to reflect services provided in each year based en the number of
coverage units provided in the year, which is determined by considering for each contract the quantity of the benefits provided

and its expected coverage period. The coverage units are reviewed and updated at each reporting date.

The Group determines the quantity of the benefits provided under each contract as follows;
«  Term life insurance contracts - Expected presentvalue of claims
+  Annuity contracts - Annuity amount payable in each period
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING THE GROUP'S ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

A. Critical judgements in applying the group’s accounting policies {continued)

t}  Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit fosses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in aceordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to
the contractual terms. ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12-months {a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining fife of
the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

The Group tracks changes in credit risk and recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each repoiting date. See
specific notes for financial assets that are subject to impairment assessment.

The Group measures ECL an an individual basis, or on a collective basis for class of assets that share similar economie risk
characteristic. Each of these is associated with different PDs, EADs and LGDs. When relevant, the assessment of multiple
scenarios also incorporates how defauited loans are expected to be recovered, including the probability that the staff loans
and mortgages will cure and the value of collateral or the amount that might be received for selling the asset.

A number of significant judgements are also required in applying the accounting requirements for measuring ECL, such as:
+  Determining the criteria for significant increase in credit risk;
»  Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of ECL;

+  Establishing groups of similar financial assets for the purposes of measuring ECL;

¢ Determining the relevant period of exposure to credit risk; and

+ Determining the appropriate business models and assessing the “selely payments of principal and interest (SPPI}"
reguirements for financial assets.

Income faxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in the various jurisdictions of operatiens. Significant judgementis required in determining
the Group’s provision for income taxes and to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based on
the likely timing and the level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies. The Group uses judgement
to determine whether each tax treatment should be considered independently or whether some tax treatments should be
considered together. The decision is based on which approach provides better predictions of the resolution of the uncertainty.
The Group assumes that the taxation authority will examine amounts reported to it and will have full knowledge of all relevant
information when doing so. Where the Group concludes that it is prebable that a particular tax treatment will be accepted, it
determines taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused fax losses, unused tax credits or tax rates consistently with the tax
treatment included in its income tax filings. If the Greup concludes that it is not probable that a particular tax treatment will be
accepted, it uses the most likely amount or the expected value of the tax treatment when determining taxable profit (tax loss),
tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates.

Particularly, the Group has applied judgement in concluding that on initial adoption of IFRS 17, the transition adjustments are
subject to income tax charge/credit for some jurisdictions of operations. In addition, the existing income tax laws are based
on IFRS 4 and therefore, judgment has been applied in calculating the current income tax charge for the year based an IFRS
17 numbers. To the best of the directors’ knowledge, the calculated tax obligations are reflective of the tax Hability at 31
December 2024.

84



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES 70 THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

2.

CRITICAL ACCCUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

A. Criticat judgements in applying the group's accounting policies (continued)

{m} Revaluation of property and investment propetties

)

(o)

()

The Group carries certain classes of property and equipment at fair value, with ehanges in fair value being recognised in other
comprehensive income. Land and buildings were valued based on open market value by independent valuers. For investment
praperties valuation methodologies were used by reference to properties of similar nature, location and condition amongst
other factors which are highly judgmental,

Investment property is classified as held for sale under IFRS 5 where its carrying amount will be recovered principally through
a sale transaction rather than continuing use.

For a property to he classified as held for sale, the foliowing conditions need to be met:
» the asset must be avaflable for immediate sale in its present cendition; and
e the sale must be highly probable.

Impairment of associate

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that the investment in the associate is
impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount
of the associate and its carrying value and recognises the amount to the statement of profit or loss. in the current and the
previousyeat, the results of the impairment assessment tests performed on the investment in the associate did not result in
impairment as detailed in Note 18.

Impairment of subsidiaties

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that the investment in the subsidiaries is
impaired. if this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount
of the respective subsidiaries and its carrying value and recognises the amount to the statement of profit or foss. In the current
and previous year, the results of the impairment assessment tests performed on the investment in the subsidiaries resulted in
no impairment as detailed in Note 19.

Recoverabilify of deferred fncome tax asset
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred

tax assets that can be recognised, based upen the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with future tax
planning strategles.
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND TS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES T0 THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

2. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING THE GROUP'S ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

B. Keysources of estimation uncertainty

The following are key estimations that the directors have used in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies and
that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in financial statements.

(@)

Insurance contract assets and liabilities and reinsurance contract assets and fiabilities

By applying IFRS 17 to measurement of insurance contracts issued and reinsurance contracts held, the Group has made
estimations in the following key areas. They form part of the overall balances of insurance contract assets and liabilities
and reinsurance contract assets and Habilities:
+  Future cash flows, including Liability for Incurred Claims (LIC}
»  Discount rates
« Aliocation rate for insurance finance income or expenses

Risk adjustment for nan-financial risk

Allocation of asset for insurance acquisition cash flows to cutrent and future groups of contracts

Every area, including the Group’s estimation methods and assumptions used and other sources of estimation uncertainty
are discussed below. At 31 December 2024, the Group's total carrying amount of:

« Insurance contracts issued that are liabilities was KShs 41.84 billion (2023: KShs 34.2 billion)
¢  Reinsurance contracts issued that are assets was KShs 5.1 bilfion (2023: KShs 3.7 biiion)
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
2. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING THE GROUP'S ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
B. Keysources of estimation uncertainty {continued)
Sensitivity analysis of carrying amounts to changes in assumptions
The following tables present information on how reasonably possible changes in assumptions made by the Group with regard to underwriting risk variables impact insurance liabilities and profit or loss
and equity before and after risk mitigation by reinsurance contracts held. For contracts measured under the PAA, only the Liability for incurred claims (LIC) component of insurance liabilities is sensitive

to possible changes in underwriting risk variables.

‘the analysis is based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated. No
changes were made by the Group in the methods and assumptions used in preparing the below analysis.

Contracts measured under PAA - General insurance contracts

As at 31 December 2024 As at 31 December 2023
Liability for incurred  Impacton LIC  Impact on profit Impact on equity Liability forincurred  Impacton LIC  Impact on profit Impact on equity
claims (LIC) before income tax claims (LIC) befere income tax
KShs'G0G KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs’000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'C0G KShs'000

insurance contract liahilities 6,942,478 6,458,197
Reinsurance contract assets (1,443,120 (1,697,715}
Net insurance contract liabilities 5,499,358 4,760,482
Average claim cost - 10% increase
Insurance contract liabilities 399,861 (399,861) (279,903} 371,968 (371,968) (260,377)
Reinsurance contract assets {95,904) 95,904 67,133 {112,823} 112,823 78976
Net insurance contract liabilities 303,957 (303.957) (212 770} 259,145 {259,145) (181,401
Discount rate - 1% increase
Insurance contract liabilities (119,539} 119,539 83,677 {111,200) 111,200 77,840
Reinsurance contract assets 27,790 {27.790) {19,453) 32,693 {32,693) (22,885}
Net insurance contract liabilities {91.749) 91,749 64,224 (78,5017 78,507 54,955
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

2.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING THE GROUP'S ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

B.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Sensitivity analysis of carrying amounts to changes in assumptions (continued)

Life insurance contracts

{nsurance contract liabilities
Reinsurance contract assets
Net insurance contract liabilities

Lapse/surrender - 10% fncrease
insurance contract liabilities
Reinsurance contract assets
Net insurance contract liabilities

Mortality rate - 1% increase
insurance contract liabilities
Reinsurance contract assets
Net insurance contract liabilities

Expenses rate - 5% increase
Insurance contract liabilities
Reinsurance contract assets
Net insurance contract liabilities

Fulfilment cash
flows (FCF)
KShs'000

10,413,185

(1,478,945)
8,934,240

CSM
KShs'000
3,843,123

3,843,123

As at 31 December 2024

Total Impacton FCF

KShs'000 KShs'000

14,256,308

(1.478.945)
12,777,363

19,630

{5457)
14,173

333,700

{(92.775)
240,925

99,760

(26.883)
72,877
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Impact on CSM

KShs'C00

(12,456}

(12,456)

(211,764)

(211,764)

(63,307)

(63,307)

Total impact Remaining CSM

KShs'000

7,174

(5,.457)
1,717

121,936

(92,775)
29,161

36,453

(26.883)
9,570

KShs'000

3,830,667

3,830,667

3,631,359

3,631,359

3,779,816

3,779,816

Impact on profit Impact on equity

before tax

(7,174)
5.457
(1,717)

(121,936)
92,775
(29.161)

(36,453)
26,883
(9,570)

KShs'000

(5,022)
3.820
(1,202)

(85,355)
64.942
(20,413)

(25,517)
18.818
(6,699)



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND TS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

2.

B. Keysources of estimation uncertainty {continued)

Sensitivity analysis of carnrying amounts to changes in assumptions (continued)

Life insurance contracts {continued)

Insurance confract liabilities
Reinsurance contract assets
Net insurance contract liabilities

Lapse/surrender - 10% increase
Insurance contract liabilities
Reinsurance contract assets
Net insurance contract liabilities

Mortality rate - 1% increase
Insurance contract liabifities
Reinsurance contract assets
Net insurance contract liabilities

Expenses rate - 5% Increase
insurance contract liabilities
Reinsurance contract assets
Net insurance contract liabilities

Fulfilment cash
fiows (FCF)
KShs'000

9,744,834

(1.262.289)
8.482.545

CSM
KShs'000
2,549,419

2.549.419

Total Impacton FCF

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

Total impact Remaining CSM

As at 31 December 2023
Impact on CSM
KShs'000 KShs'Q00 KShs'000 KShs'000
12,294,253
(1.262 289)
11,031,964
18,370 (8,263) 10,107
{4,658} - {4,658)
13,712 (8,263) 5,449
312,282 {140,478) 171,804
(79.184) - (79.184)
233,098 (140,478) 92,620
93,357 {(41,996) 51,361
(22.,945) - 22,945
70,412 (41,996) 28,416
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KShs'G00

2,541,156

2,541,156

2,408,941

2,408,941

2,507,423

2,507,423

Impact on profit impact on equity

hefore tax
KShs’000
(10,106) {7,074)
4,658 3.261
{5,448) (3,813)
(171,804) (120,283)
79.184 55,429
{92,620) {64.834)
{51,361) {35,953)
22,945 16,062
(28,416) (19,891)



THE CIC INSURANCE GRGUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
FOR THEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

2.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

B. Keysources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(b) Technique for estimation of future cash flows

)

In estimating fulfilment cash flows included in the contract houndary, the Group considers the range of all possible
outcomes in an unbiased way specifying the amount of cash flows, timing and probability of each scenario reflecting
conditions existing at the measurement date, using a probability-weighted average expectation. The probability weighted
average represents the probability-weighted mean of all pessible scenarios. In determining possibie scenarios, the Group
uses all the reasonable and supportable information available to them without undue cost and effort, which includes
information about past events, current conditions and future forecasts.

Cash flow estimates include both market variables directly observed in the market or derived directly from markets and
non-market variables such as mortality rates, accident rates, average claim costs, probabilities of severe claims, policy
surrender rates. The Group maximises the use of chservable inputs for market variables and utilises internally generated
group-specific data. For life insurance contracts, the Group uses national statistical data for estimating the mortality rates
as the national statistical data is more current than internal moitality statistics.

Method of estimating discount rates

in determining discount rates for different products, the Group uses the bettom-up approach for cash flows of
nonparticipating contracts that do not depend on underlying items. Applying this approach, the discount rate is determined
as the risk-free yield adjusted for differences In Hquidity characteristics between the financial assets used {o derive the
risk-free yield and the relevant liability cash flows (known as an Hliquidity premium).

To derive the risk-free yield curve, the Group uses the published Nairobi Securities Exchange (NSE) yield curve for the
Kenyan entities. This yield curve is published monthly and is based on the current yields of government securities issued
by the Central Bank of Kenya. For Uganda and Matawi, a yield curve will be constructed from the Treasury Bond yietds
published by the Bank of Uganda and the Reserve Bank of Malawi respectively.

The Group will apply an illiquidity premium of zero to its risk-free yield curve. This is due to lack of sufficiently deep corporate
bond market for which to derive the illiquidity premium. In addition, the groups of contracts are short-term, liguid and
canceliable by providing a specified notice period.

biscount rates applied for discounting of future cash flows are listed below:

All general and life insurance contracts - KES currency

Period lyear 2years Jyears 4years 5Syears Gyears Tyears B8years 9yearsiQyears
31December2024 11.41% 12.30% 13.44% 14.16% 14.14%  13.87%13.60% 13.47% 13.61% 13.60%
31 Pecember 2023 16.10% 17.92%17.96% 17.87% 17.45%  16.79%16.32% 15.97% 15.73% 15.70%

All general and ife insurance contracts — UGX currency

Period lyear 2years 3years 4dyears Syears Gyears Tyears 8years 9 yearslyears
31 December 2024 14.93% 14.95%15.80% 15.78% 16.04%  16.26%16.44% 16.60% 16.74% 16.50%
31 December 2023  12.83% 13.00% 13.94% 14.24% 14.50%  14.67%14.83% 14.97% 15.09% 15.20%

All general and life insurance contracts - MWK currency

Peripd lyear 2years 3years 4years bHyears Gyears 7years B8years 9yearsiQyears
31 becember2024 26.00% 28.75%30.00% 31.24% 32.00% 33.31%34.00% 34.78% 35.00% 35.00%
31December 2023 24.00% 26.75%28.00% 29.24% 30.00%  31.26%32.00% 32.70% 33.28% 33.00%

All general and life insurance contracts - SSP currency

Period lyear 2vyears 3years dyears 5Syears Gyears Tyears B8years 9years10years
31 December2024 11.41% 12.30% 13.44% 14.16% 14.14%  13.87%13.60% 13.47% 13.61% 13.60%
31 December2023 16.10% 17.92% 17.96% 17.87% 17.45%  16.79%16.32% 15.97% 15.73% 15.70%
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

3.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

In accordance with IFRS 8: Operating segments, the information presented hereafier by operating segment is the same as that
reported to the Chief Operating Decision Maker {the Group Chief Executive Officer) for the purposes of making decisions about
allocating resources fo the segment and assessing its performance.

Under IFRS 8, the Group’s reportable segments are long term husiness, general insurance business, asset management and other.
Long-term business comprises the underwriting of risks relating to death of an insured person and includes contracts subject to the
payment of premiums for a long-term dependent on the termination or continuance of the life of an insured person. General insurance
business relates to all other categories of insurance business written by the Group and is analysed into several sub-classes of
business based on the nature of the assumed risks. Asset management comprises fund management, advisory sewices businesses
and investments. Others comprises of the regional companies; CIC Africa Uganda, CIC Africa Malawt and CIC Africa South Sudan. it
also includes the holding company. The Group’s main geographical segment of business is In Kenya, which contributes 88% (2023:
87%) of the Group's total insurance revenue,

Measurement of operating segment profit or loss, assets and liabilities

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as those described in the material accounting policies. There are no
intersegment revenues and no single customer accounts for more than 10% of the revenue.

Factors that management use fo identify the entity's reportable segments

The CIC Insurance Group PLC segments are strategic companies that offer different products and are managed separately based on
regulatory requirements.

Description of the types of products and senvices from which each reportable segment derives its revenues

The CIC Insurance Group PLC has reportable segments; general insurance business, long term insurance business, asset
management and other business.

Group management internally evaluates its performance based upon:
*  Reportable segment profits after tax,
e  (apital employed (defined as the total of intangible and tangible assets and working capital).

The various products and services that the reporting segments detive their revenues from have been described as folows.

(@) Insurance revenue 2024 2023
KShs'000 KShs’000
General insurance business
Medical 10,349,906 7,634,142
Non-medical 8,175,932 10,145,279
Sub - total 18,525,838 17,779,421
Long term business
Ordinary life 562,742 456,375
Group life 7,260,170 6,535,833
Deposit administration* 67,954 629,273
Sub - total 7,890,866 7,621,481
Total insurance revenue 26,416,704 25,400,902

*Deposit adminisiration represents direct participating contracts
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION {continued)
(b} Insurance service expense 2024 2023
KShs'000 KShs'000
General insurance busingss
Medical 8,009,856 7,141,090
Non-medical 10,352,479 8,171,821
Sub - totai 18,362,335 15,312 911
Long term busingss
Ordinary life 385,140 455,340
Group life 5,313,322 6,106,149
Deposit administration 170,481 675,400
Sub - total 5,868,943 7,236,889
Total insurance service expenses 24,231,278 22,548,800
{c} Net expenses from reinsurance contracts held
General insurance business
Medical 1,257,227 106,801
Non-medical (120,804) 2,190,348
Sub - total 1,136,423 2,297,149
Long ferm business
Ordinary life 9,131 3,259
Group life 627,935 {237,5633)
Sub - total 837,066 (234,274)
Total net expenses from reinsurance contracts held 1,773,489 2,062,875

Refer to note 4 for the detalled analysis of insurance revenue, insurance service expense and net expenses from reinsurance

contracts held.
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(g} Investment income

General instrance business
(1} Interest revenue calculated using the effective interest method

Government securities at amortised cost - debtinstruments
Financial assets at amortised cost - corporate bonds

Debt instruments at FVOCI

Staff loan receivables

Peposits with financial institutions at amortised cost

Sub - total

(i) Other investment income

Dividend income from equity instruments at FYPL
Rental income from investment properties

Sub - total

Long ferm business

(i} interest revenue calculated using the effective interest method
Government securities at amortised cost - debt instruments
Corporate bonds at amortised cost

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income - debt instruments

Deposits with financial institutions at amortised cost

Staff lean receivables

Sub - total

(i) Other investment income

Dividend income
Rental income from investment properties

Sub - total

93

2024 2023
KShs'000 KShs’000
139,872 177,505
320 651
691,994 684,549
2,621 2,909
606,900 326,999
1,441,707 1,192,613
26,547 23,694
120,700 122,532
147,247 146,226
2,930,159 149,732
91) 1,061
864,975 893,906
506,816 205,038
58,574 53,883
4,360,433 1,303,620
18,818 23,777
43314 38,852
62,132 62,629




THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued}
FOR THEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

)

investment income (continued)

Asset management business
(i} Interest revenue calculated using the effective interest method

Goverament securities at amortised cost

Financial assets at amoriised cost - corporate bonds
Deposits with financial institutions

Sub ~ total

{li) Other investment income

Dividend income

Sub - total

Other businesses
(i) Interest revenue calculated using the effective interest method

Deposits with financial institutions
Staff loan receivables

Sub - total

Total interest revenue (i)
Total other investment income (ii)

Total investment Income (i &il)
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2024 2023
KShs'000 KShs'000
86,506 90,912
1,334 1,354
77,835 33,274
165,675 125,540
1,150 708
1,150 708
9,423 7,126
1,161 1,319
10,584 8,445
5,878,399 2,630,218
210,529 209,561
6,188,928 2,839,779




THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

{e) Other disclosures: General Long-term
Insurance Assurance Asset Other
business business  Management businesses Total
KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000

31 December 2024
Reportable segment profit/(loss) 1,420,280 951,847 555,790 (73,284) 2,854,633
Reportable segment total assets 17,074,647 32,842,613 2,086,711 14,913,871 66,917,842
Less intrasegment balances:

: Related party balances - - - (751,705) (751,705)

: Investment in subsidiaries - - - {4,228 410) {4,228,410)
Reportable segment total assets - net 17,074,647 32,842,613 2,086,711 9,933,756 61.937.727
Reportable segment total abilities 11,695,887 29,688,165 83,679 10,207,856 51,675,587
Less: related party balances - - - (751,705} (751,705)
Reportable segments totai liabilities - net 11,695,897 29,688,165 83.679 9,456,151 50,923,892
Insurance service result (981,137) 1,325,120 - - 343,983
Net investment result 2,686,353 (40,256) 195,571 977,153 3,818,821
Net revenue from asset management
senvices - - 1,267,493 1,267,493
Other net gains 118,472 259,555 g7 (66,226) 311,898
Other expenses (509,161)  (265,982) (709,394} (240,169) (1,724,706)
Gain/{loss) on monetary position 508,068 44,846 - - 552914
Other finance costs and share of
associate - - (986) (575,697) (576,683)
Profit/{foss) before income tax 1,822,585 1,323,283 752,781 95,061 3,993,720
Income tax expense (402,315) (371,436) {196,991} (168,345) (1,139,087)
Profit/{loss) for the year 1,420,280 951,847 555,790 (73,284) 2,854,633
31 December 2023
Reportable segment profit/{loss) 702,384 900,715 496,937 (658,221) 1,441,815
Reportable segment total assets 14,418,503 24,342,006 1,660,326 14,379,692 54,800,527
Less intrasegment balances:

: Related party balances - - - (273,076) (273,076}

: Investment in subsidiaries - - - {4,228.410) (4,228,410}
Reportable segment total assets - net 14,418,503 24,342,008 1,660,326 9,878,206 50.299.041
Reportabie segment total liabilities 10,270,474 22,820,744 98,068 9,770,653 42,959,939
Less: related party balances - - - (273,076) (273,076)
Reportable segments total liabilities - net 10.270.474 22,820,744 98,068 9,497,577 42,686,863
insurance service result 169,360 618,867 - - 788,227
Net investment result 1,260,580 780,474 117,871 36,101 2,195,026
Net revenue from asset management
services - - 1,163,775 - 1,163,775
Other net gains 157,461 175,022 14 36,500 368,997
Other expenses (417,543)  (256,019) (576,223} (201,390) (1,451,175)
Other finance costs and share of
associate (16,771) (10,787) (1,466} (491,833) (520,857)
Profit/(loss) before income tax 1,153,087 1,307,557 703,971 {620,622) 2,543,993
Income tax expense (460,703}  {(406,842) {207,034) {(37,599) (1,102,178)
Profit/(loss) for the year 702,384 900,715 496,937 {658,221) 1,441,815
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cantinued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

3

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

31 December 2024

Insurance revenue
Insurance service expenses
Net expenses from
reinsurance contracts held
Insurance segvice result

Profit/ (loss) before income
tax

Total assets

31 December 2023

Insurance revenue
Insurance service expenses
Net expenses from
reinsurance contracts held
Insurance service result

Profit/{{oss) before income
tax

Total assets

Kenya

KShs’000

22,815,096
{20,292,404)

(1,037,202}
1.485.480

3,751,423

62,232,412

22,150,178
(19,576,178)

{1.533,921)
1,040,009

3,145,179

49,543,876

South Sudan Uganda
KShs'000 KShs'000
738,553 1,685,397
{2,044,004) (899,357)
89,389 746,381
(1,394,840 39,659
396,691 31,375
1,813,520 1,833,967
582,870 1,721,636
(927,045)  (1,154,547)
(63,961) (464,689)
(408,136) 102,400
{187,553) 85,194
1,815,047 2,501,204
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Malawi Inter segment Total
eliminations
KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000
1,177,658 - 26,416,704
(995,513) - (24,231,278)
99.483 = (1.773.489)
281.628 - 411,937
199,231 (385,000) 3,993.720
951,478 {4,893.651) 61,937,726
946,218 - 25,400,902
(892,030) - (22,549,800)
(234 E 2,062,875
53,954 - 788,227
(33.827) {465,000} 2,543,993
924,200 (4,485,286} 50,299,041



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)

FOR THEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

4,

INSURANCE SERVICE RESULT

(a} Insurance revenue

The breakdown of insurance revenue by major product lines is presented below:

Ordinary life
Group life

Total life

Medical
Non-medical

Total general

Total

Ordinary life
Deposit
administration*
Group life

Total life

Medical
Non-medical

Total general

Total

2024

Contracts not measured under PAA

Expected incurred
ctaims and other
directly atiributable
expenses
KShs'G0D

291,048
1.340.352

1,631,400

IFa

Changes in risk
adjustment for
non-financial risk
for expired risk

KShs'000

22,893
72,249

95,142

0

85,142

CSM recognised
for the services
provided
KShs'000

131,720
647,952

179,742

119,742
2023

Contracts not measured under the PAA

Expected incurred

Changes in risk
adjustment for

claims and otheron-financial risk for

directly attributable
expenses
KShs'000

289,029

1,274.930

1,563,959

1,563,959

expired risk
KShs'000

16,187

n
Co
{le]
(%)

=
Nm
[N
[9+]
=

1e

75,134

*Deposit administration represents direct participating contracts

a7

CSM recognised
for the senvices
provided
KShs'000

91,508

Ha

478,508

Insurance
acquisition cash
flows recovery
KShs’000

117,011
225.709

342,720

Insurance
acquisition cash
flows recovery

KShs'000

59,641

177,92

237,570

i

237,570

Insurance revenue

from contracts
measured under Total
the PAA  insurance
revenug
KShs'000 KShs'000
- 562,742
4,973,908 7,260,170
4973908 1,822212
8,175,932 8,175,932
10,349,906 10,349,906
18,525,838 18.525,838
23,499,746 26,348,750
Insurance revenue
from contracts
measured under Total
the PAA  insurance
revenuse
KShs'000 KShs'000
- 456,375
629,273 629,273
4637037 6535833
266,310 7,621,481
7,634,142 7,634,142
10,145279 10,145,279
17,779,421 17.778.421
23,045,731 25,400,902



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

FORTHEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

4.

INSURANCE SERVICE RESULT (continued)

(b} Insurance service expenses

The breakdown of insurance semvice expenses by major groups of insurance contracts is presented below:

Ordinary life
Deposit
administration
Group tife
Total life

Medical
Non-medical

Total generat

Total

Ordinary life
Deposit
Administration
Group life
Total life

Medical
Non-medical

Total general

Total

Incurred
claims expenses
KShs'000

(54,655)

3,750,287

3,695,642

7,630,483
5,017,263

12,647,746

16,343,388

Incurred

claims expenses
KShs'000
50,217

532,122
4,471,782

5,064,121

6,140,633
4,003,501

10,144,134

15,198,2

Other directly
attributable
expenses
KShs'000
356,744

170,481
1,439,278

1,966,503

1,441,063
1,601,664

3.042.727

5,009,230

Other directiy
attributabie
expenses
KShs'000
314,504

143,278
1,293,536

1,751,318

1,284,097
1,676,065

2.960,162

4,711,480

2024

Changes in risk
adjustments on Changesin
liability for loss
incurred claims component
KShs'000 KShs'000
(5,153) (28.807)
(112,564) 10,602
(117.717) 18,205
13,007 436,769
27,315 (19,580)
14,218 417.189
(131,935) 398,984

2023

Changes in risk
adjustments on Changes in
liability for loss
incurred claims component
KShs'000 KShs'000
(10,818) 41,796
1474 161,428
{9,344) 203,224
2,751 (4,748}
27,764 5,846
30,515 1,098
21,171 204,322

Insurance
acquisition cash

flows amortisation Total
KShs'000 ¥Shs'000
117,011 385,146
- 170,481
225,709 5,313,322
342,720 5.868.943
831,067 10,352,479
1,437,824 8009856
2,268,891 18,362,335
2,611,611 24231278
Insurance
acquisition cash
flows amortisation Total
KShs'000 KShs'000
58,641 455,340
- 675,400
177929 6,106,149
237570 7,236,889
749,088 8,171,821
1427914 7,141,090
2,177,002 15312911
2,414,572 22,549,800



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)

FOR THEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

4,

INSURANCE SERVICE RESULT {continued)

(c) Net expenses / (income) from reinsurance contracts held

The analysis of net income / {(expense) from reinsurance contracts by major product lines is presented below:

Ordinary life
Group life

Total life

Medical
Non-medical

Total general

Total

Ordinary life
Group life

Total life

Medical
Non-medical

Total general

Total

Reinsurance

Insurance

acquisition cash

expenses flows amortisation

KShs'00G
12,614
1,758,791
1,771,305

(56,530)
2.817.551

2,761,021

4,532,326

KShs’000
(419.074)
(419,074)

(796,963}
796,963

{1,216,037)

Insurance

Reinsurance acquisition cash
expenses flows amortisation

KShs'000

13,112
1,723,411

1,736,523

349,769
3.399,332

3,749,101

5,485,624

KShs'000

(6,635)
383,286

389.921

(885,210}
(885,210}

1,275,131

99

2024
Changes in risk
adjustments on

asset for
incurred claims
KShs'000

2023
Changes In risk
adjustments on

asset for
ineurred claims
KShs'000

39.971
39,971

(8,835)
88

{8,767)

{48,738)

Changesin
loss recovety
component
KShs'000

(14.242)
(14.242)

(1,361)
8.174

Changesin
loss recovery
companent
KShs'000

(13,008)
(13.006)

9.544

Incurred claims

recovery Total
KShs'000 KShs'000
(3,383} 9,131
(708.941) 627,935
712.324 637,066
(63,018} (120,804)
780,499 1257227
(843517 1,136,423
{1.655.841) 1,773.489
Incurred claims
recovety Total
KShs'000 KShs'000
(3,218) 3,259
{1,524 681}  (237.533)
{1.527.899) (234.274)
{234,133) 106,801
(327,304) 2,190,348
561,437) 2.297.149
(2.089.336) 2,062,875



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THEYEAR ENDED 31 BECEMBER 2024

4.

INSURANCE SERVICE RESULT (continued)

{e) Expected recognition of the contractual service margin

Nimber of years until expected to be
recognised
As at31Dec2024

S N =
[ T
= O W
[

>10

Total

Asat31Dec2023

Ordinary life
KShs'000

135,541
216,389
180,348
313,065
137,736

283,079

93,593
154,819
127,994
211,965

89,527

677,898

100

Group life
KShs'000

573,686
1,017,784
791,951
475,093
1,530

2,860,044

330,621
663,730
523,161
363,929

80

1871521

An analysis of the expected recognition of the CSM for insurance contracts issued remaining at the end of the reporting period in profit
or loss is provided in the following table:

Total CSM for insurance

contracts issued
KShs'000

709,227
1,234,173
972,299
788,158
139,266

43,12

424,214
808,549
651,155
575,894

89.607

2,549,419



THECIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES T0 THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
FORTHEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

5. REVENUE FROM ASSET MANAGEMENT SERVICES
Asset Management business
fund management fees
Administration fee
Total
6. INVESTMENT INCOME
a) GROUP
() Interest revenue calculated using the effective interest method
Government securities at amortised cost
Corporate bonds at amortised cost
Deposit with financial institutions at amortised cost

Staff loan receivables
Government securities at 0Cl

(i) Otherinvestmentincome

Dividend income
Rental income from investment properties

Total

Investment income earned on financial assets analysed by category of assets:

Financial asset at amortised cost

Financial asset at fair value through OCI

bividend income

Investment income earned on non-financial assets

Total

2024 2023
KShs'000 KShs'000
1,106,314 1,026,502
161,179 137,273
1,287,493 1,163,775
3,224,430 418,148
1,563 3,066
1,200,975 572,437
62,356 58,111
1,556,969 1,578,455
6,046,353 2,630,218
486,515 48,177
164,014 161,384
210,529 209,561
6,256,882 2,838,779
4,489,384 1,051,763
1,556,969 1,578,455
46,515 48,177
164,014 161,384
6,256,882 2,839,779

Other fair value gains refating to financial assets classified as fair value through profit or loss are included in other income in note 7.

b) COMPANY

(i) interest revenue calculated using the effective interest method
Interest on deposits with financial institutions
Interest on staff loans

(ii) Other investment income

Dividend income

101

2024
KShs'000

4,386

1,161
2,547

385,000

2023
KShs'000

6,327

1,319
7,646

465,000



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND TS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES T0 THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

7.

OTHER GAINS

a) GROUP

Net gains from fair value adfjustments to investment properties
Fairvalue gain on investment properties (note 15 (a))

Net losses on FVTPL investments

Fairvalue loss on quoted equity investments at fair value through profit or loss {note 25)
Fair value gain on investment in collective investment scheme (note 26(a))

Foreign exchange gain
b} Toial other gains
Medical administration fee

Fees on deposit administration schemes
Misceflaneous income™*

¢} COMPANY

Net gains from fair value adjustments fo investment properties
Fairvalue gain on investment property (Note 15(h))

Net fosses on FVTPL investments
Fair value on investment in coliective investment scheme (Note 26(b)}

Other net gains
Miscellaneous income

Total other gains

2024
KShs'000

1,010,000

169,541
17.363

1.010,000

2023
KShs'000

132,383
(134,364)
15,874

(118.490)

82.565

132,991
132,500
103,506

368.997

*Miscellaneous income includes medical administration fees, sale of scraps, medical card replacement fees and sate of tenders and

branded merchandise.
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

8.  NETINSURANCE FINANCE EXPENSES

2024
Finance expenses from insurance contracts issued Finance income from reinsurance contracts held
Changes in interest Changes in interest Changes in interest
Changes in interest ratesonrisk  Finance expenses rates on present rates on risk Finance income from

rates on present value adjustment from insurance value to incurred adjustment reinsurance contracts Net insurance
Interest accreted  to incurred claims  to incurred claims contracts issued  Interest accreted claims  toincurred claims held finance expenses
KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'G00 KShs'000G KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000
Crdinary life 1,335,807 144,911 18,032 1,498,750 - - - - 1,498,750
Group fife 913,954 371,103 19,861 1,304,918 {85,122) {12,353) (2,828) (100,303) 1,204,615
Deposits admin 1,840,867 - : 1,840.867 - - - - 1.840.867
Total life 4,090,628 516.014 37.893 4,644,535 (85.122) (12,353} (2.828) {100.303) 4,544,232
Non-medical 542,575 114,857 1,252 658.684 (156.695} (29.005) {383) (186.083) 472,601
Total general 542,575 114,857 1,252 658,684 (156.695} {29,605} {383) {186.083) 472,601
Total 4,633,203 630,871 39,145 5,303,219 (241.817) {41,358) (3.211) (286.386) 5.016.833
2023
Finance expenses from insurance contracts issued Finance income from reinsurance contracts held
Changes in interest Changes in interest Changes in interest
Changes in interest rates onrisk  Finance expenses rates on present rates on risk Finance income from
rates on present value adjustment from insurance value to incurred adjustment reinsurance contracts Net insurance
Interestaccreted  toincurred claims  to incurred claims contracts issued  Interest accreted claims  toincurred claims held finance expenses
KShs'C00 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'0G0 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000

Ordinary life 59,912 (60,234) 10,335 10,013 - - - - 10,013
Group life 324,859 208,344 8821 542,024 (4,366) (39,001) 29} (43,396) 498,628
Total life 384,771 148,110 19,156 552,037 {4,366) (39.001) 29) (43,396) 508.641
Non-medical 385.357 (48.367) {733) 336,257 (125,202) 15,893 223 {109,086) 227,171
Total general 385,357 48,367 (733) 336,257 (125.202) 15.893 223 (109,086) 227,171
Total 770,128 99,743 18,423 888,294 {129,568) (23,108) 194 (152.482) 735,812



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FORTHEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

8.

NET INSURANCE FINANCE EXPENSES (continued)

Investment income and insurance finance expenses

2024

Net investment income/ (expenses) - underlying assets

Interest revenue from financial assets not measured at FVTPL

Other investment income
Net gains on FVTPL investments
Net credit impairment losses

Net gains on investments in debt securities measured at FYOCI
Net gains on investments in equity securities measured at FVOCI
Net investment income/ (expenses) - underlying assets

Net investment income - other investments

Net gains from fair value adjustments to investment properijes

Foreign exchange gain

Net investment income -other

Total net investment income

Finance expenses from insurance contracts issued
Finance income from reinsurance contracts held

Net insurance finance expenses

Summary of the amounts recognised in profit or loss
Net investment income - underlying assets

Net investment income -other
Net insurance finance expenses
Net investment result

Summary of the amounts recognised in OCI
Net investment income - underlying assets

Ordinary Life

631,801
11,439
56,002

2,164

358,402

1,059,808

1,059,808
(1,498,750
{1.498.750)

701,406
(1,498,750

(797,344)

358,402
104

Group life

1,200,167
50,693
40,701
15,122

454,973

1,761,656

26,145
26,145
1,787,801

(1,304,919
100,303

(1,204,616)

1,306,683
26,145
(1,204,618)

128,212

454,973

DA

2,650,198

2,650,198

2,650,198
{1,840,867)

{1,840,867)

2,650,198

(1,840,867)

809,331

Non-medical

629,191
115,729
70,136
3,334
506,657
2,148
1,327,795

235,306
235,306
1,563,101
{658,683}

186,083

(472,600)

818,390
235,306
{472,600}

581,096

509,405

Medical

758,162
18,155
272,816

1,832
1,050,965

1,103,574
1,103,574

2,154,539

776,317

1,103,574

1,879,801

274,648

Other

176,834
32,668
1,910
(3,777)
142,833

350,468

1,010,000

1,010,000

1,360,468

207,635

1,010,000

1,217,635

142,833

Total

6,046,353
210,529
186,904
16,843
1,735,681
4,580

8,200,890

1,010,000
1,365,025
2,375,025
10,675,915
{5,303,218)
286,386

(5,016.833)

6,460,629
2,375,025
(5,016,833}

3,818,821

1,740,261



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

8.  NETINSURANCE FINANCE EXPENSES (continued)

Investment income and insurance finance expenses (continued)

2023 Ordinary Life  Group life Non-medical Medical Other Total
Net investment income/ (expenses) - underiying assets
interest revenue from financial assets not measured at FVTPL 509,569 794,052 625,506 567,106 133,985 2,630,218
Qther investment income 14,460 48,169 146,226 - 706 209,561
Net gains on FVTPL investments (41,323) (33,285) (36,671) (263) (6,948) (118,490}
Net credit impairment losses - (2,763} (2,017) (418) 201) (5,399}
Net gains on investments in debt securities measured at FVGCI - - (959,752} - (34,208) {993,960)
Net gains on investments in equity securities measured at FVOCl - - {416} - - (416}
Net investment income/ (expenses) - underlying assets 482,706 806,173 (227,124) 566,425 93,334 1,721,514
Net investment income - other investments
Net gains from fair value adjustments to investment properties - 132,383 - 132,383
Foreign exchange gain - - 59.103 23,46 - 82,565
Net investment income -other - - 191,486 23,462 - 214,948
Total net investment income 482,706 806,173 (35,638) 589,887 93,334 1,936,462
Finance expenses from insurance contracts issued (10,013) (542,024) (336,257) - (888,294)
Finance income from reinsurance contracts held - 43,396 109,086 - - 152,482
Net insurance finance expenses (10.013) {498,628) (227.171) - = {735.812)
Summary of the amounts recognised in profit or loss
Net investment income - underlying assets 482,706 806,173 732,954 566,425 127,542 2,715,800
Net investment income -other - - 191,576 23,462 - 215,038
Net insurance finance expenses (10,013} {498,628) (227,171 - - {735,812}
Net investment result 472,693 307,545 697,359 589,887 127,542 2,185,026
Summary of the amounts recognised in 0CI
Net investment income - underlying assets - - (960.168) - (34,208) (994,376}
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND TS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (centinued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

9. OPERATING AND OTHER EXPENSES

(a) GROUP 2024 2023
KShs'000 KShs'000
Staff costs (note 7 (b)) 2,699,003 2,696,936
Commission expenses 351,744 322,042
Auditors’ remuneration 49,580 36,849
Birectors’ emoluments - fees 30,781 29,391
Directors’ other expenses {travel and accommodation) 9,624 8,530
Depreciation of property and equipment (note 13 (a)) 97,790 80,066
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 16 (a)) 60,707 57,589
Allowance for expected credit losses - -
Interest on tease liabilities 16,354 -
Depreciation on the right of use (note 14(a} 79,454 76,426
Premium tax 251,132 177,533
Staff welfare 402,322 396,030
Utilities 256,980 246,487
Software licence costs 155,872 136,676
Printing and stationery h9,184 64,254
Business advertising and promation 854,008 634,627
Sales promotions - 258,713
Professional fees 404,242 297,193
Statutory levies 79,763 139,830
Professional subscriptions 13,205 7,374
Loan renewal fees - 19,830
impairment of investment in associate - -
Kiambu land subdivision costs 80,691 43,281
Amortisation of loan expenses 17,693 21,139
Donatiens 7,510 16,151
Other expenses™ 156,297 395,808
Total 6,733,936 6,162,655
Represented by:
Insurance service expenses 5,009,230 4,711,480
Other operating expenses 1,724,706 1,451,175
Total 6,733,936 6,162,655

*Commission expense relate to the commission incurred by the asset management business.
**0ther expenses relate to tender costs, postage, entertainment and other sundry expenses.

{b) STAFFCOSTS

2024 2023
KShs'000 KShs'000

Staff costs include the following:
- Salaries and allowances™* ** 2,211,385 2,209,189
- Bonus provision 139,208 104,098
- Restructuring costs***+* 84,818 198,688
- Defined pension contribution expense 140,528 124,108
- Termination benefits expense 94,795 30,787
- Leave pay 28.271 30,066
2,699,003 2,696,936
Number of employees 893 193

***Included in the staff costs is salary and allowances of KShs 89 million (2023: KShs 79 million) paid to the Group Chief Executive
Officer, who is also a director.

** **Restructuring costs relate to severance pay for employees who opted to retire/exit under the voluntary early retirement/ exit
programme in the year.
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

9. OPERATING AND OTHER EXPENSES (continued)

(¢} COMPANY

Depreciation of property and equipment (note 13 (b))
Amortisation of intangible assets {note 16 (b))
Auditor's remuneration

Annual General meeting expenses
Professional fees

Share registration cost

Amortisation of loan expenses
Advertisement and Promotion

Printer leases

Loan renewal fees

Kiambu land subdivision costs

Donations

Other expenses

{d) The reconciliation of expected credit losses (ECL) is as follows:

GROUP: 2024

- Corporate bonds at amortised cost

- Loans recelvables

- Deposits with financial institutions

- Government securities at FV0CI

- Government securities at amortised cost
- Other receivables

- Receivables from related parties

- Cash and cash eguivalents

Total

GROUP: 2023

- Corporate bonds at amortised cost

- {oans receivables

- Deposits with financial institutions

- Government securities at FVOCI

- Government securities at amortised cost
- Other receivables

- Receivables from related parties

- Cash and cash equivalents

Total

2024 2023

KShs'000 KShs'000

24,677 19,246

23,856 26,046

3,622 2,460

2,354 -

28 468

6,321 4,962

17,693 21,139

7,499 -

- 3,432

- 19,830

80,691 43,281

7,209 16,151

9345 7,601

183,296 164,616
ECLat1 Charge /(credit) through ECLat31
January P&L December
KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000
(449) {3,015) (3,464)
(11,575) 54 {11,521)
{27,617) 21,881 {5,736)
(2,870) 1,668 {1,202}
(847) (641) {1,488)
(12,393) {1,695) (14,088)
(5,573) {1,409) (6,982)
(1,012) - {1,012)
(62,336) 16,843 (45,493)
ECLat1 Charge /(credit) Write off ECLat31
January through P&L December
KShs'000 KShs’000 KShs'000 KShs'000
(83,408) 344 82,615 {449)
(11,463) (112) . (11,575)
(32,007) 4,390 - (27,617)
- (2,870) - 2,870%
(375) (a712) - 847)
{8,746) (3,647) - {12,393)
(2,541) (3,032) . (5,573)
(1,012) - - (1,012}
{139,552) {5,399) 82,6156 {62,336}
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

9. OPERATING AND OTHER EXPENSES {(continued)
{d) The reconciliation of expected credit losses (ECL) is as follows:

The reconciliation of expected credit losses (ECL) is as follows:

COMPANY: 2024

- Loans receivable - Mortgage loans {note 22(b)
- Receivables from related parties (note 28)

- Deposits with financial institutions (note 29{b)
-Other receivables

Total

The reconciliation of expected credit losses (ECL) is as follows:

COMPANY: 31 December 2023

- Loans receivable - Mortgage loans (note 22(h)
- Receivables from related parties (note 28)
- Deposits with financial institutions (note 29{b}

Total

ECLat1l Charge / ECLat31
January {credit) in P&L December
KShs'000 KShs’000 KShs'G00
288 - 288
1,996 404 2,400

70 (37) 33

- 63 63

2,354 430 2,784
ECLatl Charge / ECLat 31
January {credit) in P&L December
KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000
288 - 288
1,783 213 1,996

82 {12) 70

2,153 201 2,354
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THE CiC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

10. OTHER FINANCE COST

(a) GROUP

Interest expense on borrowings (note 39)
Interest expense on lease liability (note 14 (a))

{b) COMPANY

11, TAXATION

Interest expense on borrowings (note 35)
Interest expense on related party loan (note 28 {c}}

GROUP

(@)

Statement of profit or loss

Current income tax
Deferred income tax (note 17(a))

Income tax expense

COMPANY

{b)

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

Current income tax
Deferred income tax {note 17 (b))

income tax expense

Statement of financial position - Group
At 1 January
Current income tax
Prior year under/{over) provision
income tax paid
Effect of translation

At 31 December

Split as follows

Tax recoverable
Tax payable
Net

Statement of financial position - Company

At 1 January
Paid during the year

109

2024
KShs’000

577,215
986

578,201

564,615
40,130

604,745

667,372
471,715

1,139,087

170,036

170,036

142,652
667,372

{975,949)
2,456

(163,469)

{176,112}
12,643

{163,469)

2,000

—2,000

2023
KShs'G00

488,799
29,023

517,822

482,176
35,060

517,236

823,391
278,787

1,102,17

113,942
823,391
14,406
(813,579)
4,492

142,652

(87,155)
229,807
142,652

2,000

2,000



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THEYEAR ENDED 31 BECEMBER 2024

11, TAXATION (continued)

2024 2023
KShs'000 KShs'000
(c) Reconciliation of income tax expense to expected tax based on accounting
profit
GROUP
Profit before income tax 3,993,720 2,543,993
Tax calculated at a tax rate of 30% (2023:30%) for Kenya, 30% (2023:30%)
for Uganda, 0% far South Sudan {2023: 0%} and Malawi 30% (2023:30%) 1,194,609 969,112
Prior year (under)/ over provision - (595)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax* 86,293 281,020
Tax effect of income not taxable* * (141,815) (147,359)
Tax effect on bad debts written off - -
Taxation charge through profit or loss 1,139,087 1,102,178
The effective income tax rate is 43% (2023: 43%).
COMPANY
Loss hefore income tax 618,593 (195,248)
Tax calculated at a tax rate of 30% (2023: 30%) 185,578 (b8,574)
Tax effect of income not taxable** (115,500) {139,500)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax** 99,958 237,161
Prior year over provision - {595)
Current income tax charge through profit or loss 170,036 38,492

The effective income {ax rate is (20%) (2023: (20%)).
*These expenses are valuation fees, fringe benefit tax, excess pension contributions, loss on valuation of shares etc.
**These incomes are dividend income and interest on the infrastructure bond.

12, EARNINGS PER SHARE - BASIC AND DILUTED

Basic earnings per share is calcuiated based on the profit attributable to shareholders divided by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue in each period as follows:

GROUP
2024 2023
Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders' {(KShs'000) 2,716,408 1,497,950
Weighted average number of shares (in thousands) 2,615,578 2615578
Earnings per share (KShs) - Basic and diluted (KShs) 1.04 0.57

There were no dilutive shares during the year (2023: Nil}.
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 PECEMBER 2024

13. {(a} PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT - GROUP

2024

COST OR VALUATION

At 1 January

Additions

Disposals

Hyperinflation adjustment

Foreign exchange differences on translation

At 31 December

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

At 1 January

Charge for the year

Hyperinflation adjustment

Foreign exchange differences on translation
Elimination on disposal

At 31 December

CARRYING AMOUNT
At 31 December

Buildings
KShs'000

821,883

242,177
{283.310)

780,750

180.750

Motor
Yehicles
KShs'0G0

124,240
36,860

8,641
{10,661)

159,080

63,765
25,041

8,641
(9,439)

88,008

11072

Furniture

fittings &

Computers equipment
KShs'000 KShs'000
351,003 1,087,590
47,399 40,325
(1,211) (151)
6,626 30,049
{17.607) {35,365}
386,210 1,122.448
281,377 899,213
32,335 40,040
2,851 27,366
(9,162) (21,750)
{445) {151)
306,956 944.718
19,254 A17.730

Leasehold
improvements

KShs'000

4,728
3,650

Total
KShs'000

2,389,444
128,234
(1,362)

287,493
(348.051)

2,455,758

1,246,574
97,790
38,858

(40,814)
{596)

1.341.812

1,113,946

There are no property and equipment pledged as security for liabilities. There are no contractual commitments for the acquisition of property and equipment, except for CIC Plaza South

Sudan which is under finance lease.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
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13.

() PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT -~ GROUP {(continued)

2023

COST OR VALUATION

At 1 January

Additions

Disposals

Gain on revaluation

Foreign exchange differences on translation

At 31 December

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

At 1 January

Charge for the year

Foreign exchange differences on transiation
Elimination on disposal

At 31 December

CARRYING AMOUNT
At 31 December

Buildings
KShs'000

830,823

88,255
(97.195)

821,883

5,850

{5,850}

112

Motor
Vehicles
KShs'000

87,070
56,126
(13,871}

(5.085)

124,240

71,486

11,222

(5,072)
(13.871)
63,765

60,475

Furniture
fittings &
Computers equipment
KShs'000 KShs'000
289,147 1,008,222
66,297 115,800
(222) (22,239)
{4.219) {14.193)
351,003 1,087,590
259,699 898,784
26,248 35,109
4,437) {14,062)
133 {20,618)
281,377 899,213
69,626 188,377

Leasehold
improvements

KShs'000

3,880
2,265

{1.417)

4,728

Total
KShs'000

2,219,142
240,488
{36,332)

88,255
(122.109)

2.:389,344

1,231,218
80,066
(24,238)
(5,850)
(34.622)

1,246,574

1,142,870



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES 70 THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

13.

(a) PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT - GROUP {continued)

Anindependent valuation of the buildings in Kenya was carried out at 31 December 2024 by Crystal Valuers Limited, registered
valtiers, on open market value basis, There were no revaluation movements during the year for the property in Kenya. CIC Plaza
in South Sudan was revalued on 31 December 2024 by registered valuers, Kenval Realtors Limited on open market value basis.
The fair value of property and equipment are assessed every year. The valuation was conducted by an independent valuer, The
fair valuation technique and the inputs used have been disclosed under note 15. The buildings represent owner-occupied
portions of the investment property.

There were no borrowing costs related to the additions in property and equipment during the year and hence none has been
capitalised. Additionally, none of the above assets was pledged as collateral for the group liabilities except South Sudan
property that has been used as collateral on finance lease. The fair value disclosures for the measurement of the building has
been disclosed in note 54.

If buildings were stated on the historical cost basis, the net book amount would be KShs 762 million {cost of KShs 827 million
and accumulated depreciation of KShs 65 million).

(b) PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT - COMPANY

Furnifure
2024 Motor fittings &
Vehicles Computers Equipment Total

KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000
COST
At 1 January 2024 78,386 38,606 108,576 225,568
Additions - 6,849 2,024 8,873
Disposals - {557) - (857)
At 31 December 2024 78.386 44,898 110,600 233.884
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
At 1 January 2024 31,010 30,846 71,301 133,157
Charge for the year 14,194 3,718 6,767 24,677
Eliminated on disposal - (258) - (258)
At 31 December 2024 45,204 34,304 78.068 167,576
CARRYING AMOUNT
At 31 December 2024 33,182 40,594 32532 16,308
2023
COosT
At 1 January 2023 64,161 32,908 84,985 182,054
Additions 28,096 5,608 23,5091 57,385
Disposals (13.871) - - {13.871)
At 31 December 2023 78,386 38,606 108,576 225,568
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
At 1 January 2023 34,218 28,394 65,172 127,782
Charge for the year 10,665 2,452 6,129 19,246
Efiminated on disposal {13.871) - : (13.871)
At 31 December 2023 31,010 30,846 71,301 133,157
CARRYING AMOUNT
At 31 December 2023 41,376 1,760 37,275 92411

113



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

14. LEASES AS A LESSEE

(a8} Group 2024 2023
KShs'000 KShs'000
The statement of financial position shows the following amounts relating to leases:
Buildings - office spaces 146,094 241930
Right of use assef
At 1 January 241,930 209,218
Renewal/additions 12,316 113,512
Amortization (79,454) (76,426)
Lease remeasurement {29,221) (4,374)
At 31 December 145571 241,930
Lease lability
At 1 January 309,577 263,183
Renewal/additions 12,316 113,512
Accretion of interest 29,235 29,023
Payment of interest (29,235) {29,023)
Lease payments (86,963} (72,268)
Effect of translation {35.397) 5.150
At 31 December 199,533 309,577
Current lease Hability 84,753 108,889
Non-cutrent lease liability 114,780 200,688
199,533 309,577
Amounts recognised in profit or loss;
Interest on fease liabilities 29,235 29,023
Depreciation expense 79,454 76,426
Amounts recognised in statement of cash flows;
Payment of principai portion of the lease liabilities 86,963 72,268
Payment of interest 29,235 29.023
Total cash outflow for leases 116,198 101,291
Lease labifity maturily analysis
Group
2024 Due on Duewithind  Duebetween3 Due between 1 Due after 5
demand months  and 12 months and 5 years years Total
KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 KShs *000
Lease liabilities - 25,226 56,115 134,353 101 215,795
2023
Lease liabilities - 33,172 75,717 239,975 450 349,314
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NOTES TC THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

(a) GROUP CIC Plazain
Kenya and Kiambu Kajlado
South Sudan Land Land Total
KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000
At 1 January 2023 1,983,640 4,046,000 1,732,000 7,761,640
Foreign exchange differences on transiation (59,825) - - (59,825)
Fairvalue gains 132,383 - - 132.383
At 31 December 2023 2,056,198 4,046,000 1,732,000 7.834.198
At 1 January 2024 2,056,198 4,046,000 1,732,000 7,834,198
Foreign exchange differences on transiation (61,699) - - {61,699
Fairvalue gains - 1,010,000 . 1,010,000
Transfers to inventories - 5.056.000 - (5.056.000)
At 31 December 2024 1,994,499 1,732,000 3,726.499
(b} COMPANY 2024 2023
KShs'000 KShs'000
Kiambu Land Kiambu Land
At 1 January 4,046,000 4,046,000
Fairvalue gains (note 6) 1,010,000 -
Transfers to inventories {5.056.,000} -
At 31 December - 4,046,000
(c) INVENTORIES - GROUP & COMPANY
At 1 January - -
Transfers from inventories 5,056,000 -
At 31 December 5,056,000 -

Net rental income on CIC Plaza arising from operating lease arrangements has been disclosed in note 6 to the financial statements.
The Group’s investment properties include;

¢  CIC Plaza Kenya land and building valued at KShs 1.7 billion. The property was revaiued at 31 December 2024 and 2023 by
Crystal Valuers Limited who are registered professional valuers. The fair value of the investment property was determined on
the basis of open market value.

¢  CIC Plaza South Sudan land and building valued at KShs 294 million, The property was revalued at 31 Becember 2024 and
2023 by Kenval Realtors Limited who ate registered professional valuers. The fair value of the investment property was
determined on the basis of open market value.

+ Kajiado land valued at KShs 1.73 billion. The property was revalued at 31 December 2024 and 2023 by Crystal Valuers
Limited who are registered professional valuers. The fair vaiue of the investment property was determined on the basis of open
market value.

+  Kiambu land valued at KShs 5.06 billion. The property was revalued at 31 December 2024 and 2023 by Crystal Valuers
Limited who are registered professional valuers. The fair value of the investment property was determined on the basis of open
market value, The property has also been used as collateral on a bank ioan with Cooperative Bank of Kenya.

(¢} Amounts recognised in profit or loss for investment properties 2024 2023

KShs'000 KShs'000
Rental income from operating leases 164.014 161,384
Direct operating expenses from property that generated rental income (19,801} (14,721)

Direct operating expenses from property that did not generated rental income {80,691) (43,281)
Fairvalue gains 1,010,000 -
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15,

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

The Kiambu land is accounted for as inventories and is valued at KShs 5.06 biflien (2023: KShs 4.05 billion). The land which
measures 200 acres has been subdivided into 4 blocks (Blocks A, B, C and D) each with individual freehold titles. Two of the Blocks
(Block C and B) has been further subdivided into quarter-acre plots which generated 147 units (Block C) and 138 units (Block B}
whose sales launch was done in November 2022, Urban planners working under a consortium have been engaged for the
subdivision of the remaining blocks A and D.

At 31 December 2024, total deposits amounting to KShs 491.0¢ million (2023: KShs 83.0 million) have been received into an
escrow account with Co-operative Bank of Kenya. The amounts have been recognized in the cash book against a contract liahifity
account. During the year, deposits of Kshs 348 miltion (2023: KShs 94.9 million) were used to partly settle the borrowing with
Cooperative Bank. The receipts are deferred on the balance sheet and revenue will be recognised when full consideration is paid

and title of the property passes to the buyers. None of the deposits received met the revenue recognition criteria at 31 December
2024,

The tabie betow illustrates the information about significant unobservable inputs used at year end:

the current market conditions comparable market
transactions.

projected occupancy
of the property.

will increase/decrease the
market value of the

property.

Significant
Valuation approach ~ assuming use of the asset Significant Inter-relationship between | unobservable
in the highest and best use ohsevable inputs key observable inputs inputs
Valued using the Income Capitalization method. The valuation is Increase in the discount Discount rate;
Netincome is determined by considering gross determined on the and vacancy rate will 18.5%
income less operating expenditure. market weighted decrease the fair value of

average cost of the properties.

Capitalization of the rental income using the year | capital.
purchase method.
This method was applied te value CIC Plaza Kenya
land and building and CIC Plaza South Sudan
land and building.
The discount rate is determined with reference to | Tenancyis based on | Similarchanges In tenancy | Annual rent

growth rate; 3%

Valued using the Sales Comparison approach. in
this approach, the property is compared to similar

The comparable used
have similar or near

Similar properties
command fairly similar

No significant
unobservable

ones which have recently exchanged hands inthe | similar attributes to values in the market. input
market. the property being
appraised, such as
This method was applied to value the below date of sale, built up
properties; Kajiado Land and Kiambu Land. area, circumstances
of sale and physical
condition.
Description of valuation techniques used and key inputs o valuation on investment properties:
Valuatien technique Significant unobservable Inputs Average
Kshs’000
Capitalized rent income {year purchase) method Net annual rent 164,014

Considering the physical economic parameters in the country and the trends in property markets, management is of the opinion
that there will not be significant change in the inputs to the valuation method during the year. The valuation takes into account
recent prices of similar properties with adjustments made to reflect any changes in economic conditions since the date of the
transactions at those prices.

Valuations are performed on an annual basis and the fair value gains and losses are recorded within the profit or loss. The Kiambu
land property worth Kshs 5.06 billion has been pledged and charged as collateral on the bank loan with Cooperative Bank of Kenya.
The valuations of the properties are based on market value, that is price at which an interest in a property might reasonably be expected
to be sold by a private treaty at the date of valuation assuming:

a) awilling seller;

b) areascnable perfod within which to negotiate the sale by taking into account the nature of the property;

¢} values will remain static throughout the period;

d) the property will be freely exposed to the market within reasonable publicity;

e} no account is taken of an individual bid by a special purchaser.
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16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

{a) GROUP
Computer Workin
Software progress* Goodwill Totat
2024 Total
KShs'0C0 KShs'000 KShs'000
COsT
At 1 January 562,030 84,237 98,148 744,415
Additions 3,336 46,006 - 49,342
Hyperinflation adjustment 3,205 - - 3,205
Effect of foreign currency transiation {15,418) (1.522) - {16,940}
At 31 December 553,153 128,721 98,148 780.022
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION
At 1 January 443,017 - - 443,017
Charge for the year 60,707 - - 60,707
Foreign exchange differences on franslation {12,433) - - (12,433)
Hyperinfation adjustment 2.152 - = 2,152
At 31 December 493.443 - —— = 493.443
CARRYING AMOUNT
At 31 December 53.710 128.721 98,148 286,579
Computer Workin
Software progress* Goodwill Total
2023 Total
KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000
COST
At 1 January 516,555 46,719 98,148 661,422
Additions 34,701 36,629 - 71,330
Effect of foreign currency translation 10,774 889 _ - 11,663
At 31 December 562,030 84,237 98.148 744,415
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION
At 1 January 376,445 - - 376,445
Charge for the year 57,589 - - 57,589
Foreign exchange differences on transtation 8,983 - - 8983
At 31 December 443.017 - - 443,017
CARRYING AMOUNT
At 31 December 119,013 84,237 8,14 301,398

*work in progress refates to the underwriting and financial reporting software which is currently under implementation.,

The goodwill arose ;from the acquisition of CIC Africa Limited Malawi. In line with the impairment provisions under IAS 36,
management identified two clear cut cash generating units (CGUs); Life Business (Long term) and General Business (short term)
for CIC Africa Etd Malawi. This was consistent with the goodwill impairment assessment for the year ended 31 December 2023.
IAS 36 paragraph 33 (b) “in measuring value in use an entity shall base cash flow projections on the most recent financial
budgets/forecasts approved by management, which exclude any estimated future cash inflows or outflows expected to arise from
future restructurings or from improving or enhancing the asset's performance.”.
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FORTHEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

186.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

{(a) GROUP (continued)

The group tests whether goodwill has suffered any impairment on an annual basis. For the 2024 and 2023 reporting
periods, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating units {CGUs) was determined based on value-in-use calculations
which require the use of assumptions. The calculatiens use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
management covering a five-year period, Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the estimated
growth rates stated befow. These growth rates are consistent with forecasts included in industry reports specific to the
industry in which each CGU operates. Based on the results of the impairment test carried out, goodwill was assessed not

to be impaired.

The sensitivities to the assumptions are not material.

The following table sets out the key assumptions applied in determining the value in use calculations of the CGUs to which

goodwill was allocated:

Insurance revenue growth growth:

-year 1

-year2

-year 3

-year 4

-year5

Terminal growth rate
Discount rate

Directly attributable expenses
Investment inceme

General Life
26% 29%
25% 28%
22% 30%
22% 30%
22% 30%

4% 4%
25% 21%
10% 15%
15% 15%

Management determined the values assigned to each of the above key assumptions as follows:

insurance revenue growth

Long term growth rate
Discount rate

Directly attributable expenses
Investmentincome

Average growth based on market expectation and in fine with industry trend and
experience for previously gross earned premium. Management projects a
conservative growth trajectory for the business for the coming years.

Based on Malawi's projected GDP growth in 2024, The rates are consistent with
forecasts included in industry reports.

Weighted average cost of capital per CGU

Based on company’s historical experience and management expectations

Based on Malawi’s historical rate of retumn on investments
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16.  INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)
(b) COMPANY

2024

COST
At 1 January

At 31 Pecember
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION
At 1 January

Charge for the year

At 31 December

CARRYING AMOUNT

At 31 December

2023

COST

At 1Janvary

Additions

At 31 December
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION
At 1 January

Charge for the year

At 31 December

CARRYING AMOUNT
At 31 December

17. DEFERRED INCOMETAX

(a) GROUP

Computer
software
KShs'000

132,557

Computer
software
KShs'000

129,077
3.480

Work in
progress

39,636

39.536

38,536
Work in
progress

39,536

39,536

Total
2024
KShs'000

172,093

Total
2023
KShs'000

168,613
3.480

Deferred tax is calculated, in full, on all temporary differences under the liability method using a principal tax rate of 30%

(2023: 30%).

2024

Deferred tax asset
Deferred tax Hability
Net deferred tax asset

Deferred tax charge analyzed as follows:
Deferred tax recognized through profit or loss
Deferred tax recognized through OCi

KShs'000

979,172

1.014.886
35.714)

(435,441)
(281327}

(716,768)

119

2023
KShs'000

1,380,869

(663,540)
717,329

(278,787)
120,050

158,737



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (centinued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

17. DEFERRED TAXATION {continued)

(a} GROUP {continued)

Deferred tax movement;
2023 Movement 2024
Arising from: KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000
Unutilised tax losses 615,780 130,698 746,478
Property and equipment 93,734 (3,669) 90,065
Provisions for doubtful premium receivables 538,816 26,284 565,100
Revaluation investment property (101,226) (313,272) (414,498)
Life fund surplus (663,282) (351,485) (1,014,767)
Fair value losses through 0CI 222,750 (281,327) (58,577)
Other deductible differences 10,756 39.729 50,485
Net deferred tax asset 717,328 (753,042} (35,714)
GROUP 2022 Movement 2023
KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000
Unutilised tax losses 656,379 (40,599) 615,780
Propetty and equipment 96,042 (2,308) 93,734
Provision for doubtful premium receivables 401,575 133,599 535,174
Revaluation investment property (101,273) 47 (101,226)
Life fund surplus {(288,392) {(375,148) (663,540}
Fair value losses through OCI 102,700 120,050 222,150
Other deductible differences 9,034 5,622 14,656
Net deferred tax asset 876,065 {158,737) 717,328
Deferred tax charge analyzed as follows: 2024 2023
KShs'000 KShs'000
Deferred tax recognized through profit or loss (471,715) (278,787)
Deferred tax recognized through GCI (281,327) 120,050
(153.042) (158,737)

Net deferred tax asset/{liability)

2024 2023
KShs’'000 KShs’'000
The deferred tax asset/(liability) has been analysed as follows;
CIC Asset Management Limited 4,742 43,459
CIC General insurance Limited 476,934 660,049
CIC Life Assurance Limited (1,014,886) (663,540)
CIC Africa Malawi Limited 87,717 97,546
The CIC Insuranice Group Limited - Company 409,779 579.815
(35,714) 717,32
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17. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)
{t) COMPANY

Recognized in

] At31
At 1 January Profit or loss December
KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000
2024
Arising from:
Unutilised tax losses 615,780 130,698 746,478
Provisions 37,240 2,861 40,101
Fair value gains on revaluatien of investment property (73,800} (303,000} {376,800}
Prior year under provision 585 (595} -
Net deferred tax asset 579,815 {170,036) 409,779
2023
Arising from:
Unutilised tax losses 656,379 (40,599) 615,780
Provisions 35,728 1,612 37,240
Fair value gains on revaluation of investrment property {73,800) - (73,800)
Prior year under provision - 595 595
Net deferred tax asset 618,307 {38,492) 579,815

18, INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE

The investment in Takafu! Insurance of Aftica Limited represents 22% (2023 - 22%) of the issued ordinary share capital the
associate, which is a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in Kenya. Its principal activities are transaction of
general insurance and life insurance business. The company, whose financial year end is 31 December, is not listed on any
securities exchange.

The table below summarizes the changes in the investment in associate;

GROUP COMPANY
2024 2023 2024 2023
KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000
At 1 January 105,659 108,694 105,659 108,694
Share of (profit)/loss after tax 1,518 {3.035) 1518 {3,035)
At 31 December 107,177 105,659 107,177 105,659
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18. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE (continued)

Summarised financial information In respect of the associate is set out below:

2024 2023
KShs'000 KShs'G00
Current assets 1,210,809 838,219
Non- current assets 234,973 295,406
Current liabilities 710,614 561,380
Non- current Jiabilities 248,000 91,977
Equity 487,168 480,268
Cash and cash equivalents 501,486 462,999
Insurance service resuit 75,355 56,590
Net investment return 2,104 41,585
Operating expenses {70,557) (113,668)
(Profit) /loss from continuing operations for the year 6,902 (15,493)
Income tax expense - 1,699
(Profit)/loss for the year 6.902 (13.794)
Group's share of (profit)/loss 1,018 (3,035)
Group's share of associate’s contingent liabilities Nil Nit

The extent to which outflow of funds will be required on the Group’s share of assaciate’s contingent labilities is dependent on the
future operations of the associate being favourable than currently expected. In common practice with the insurance industry in
general, the associate is subjected to litigation arising in the normal course of insurance business. There are no significant
restrictions on the ability of associate to transfer funds to the entity in the form of cash dividend made by the group.

The are no commitments relating to the associate.

19, INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

(a) COMPANY 2024 2023
KShs'000 KShs'000

CiC Asset Management Limited:

15,550,000 ordinary shares of KShs 20 each at cost 311,000 311,000

CIC Generai Insurance Limited:

85,000,000 ordinary shares of KShs 20 each at cost 1,700,000 1,700,000

CIC Life Assurance Limited:

40,000,000 ordinary shares of KShs 20 each at cost 800,000 800,000

CIC Microinsurance Limited:

500,000 ordinary shares of KShs 100 each at cost 50,000 50,000

CIC Africa Insurance (South Sudan) Limited

690,000 ordinary shares of USD 5 each at cost {1 KShs =USD 0.93} 319,962 319,962

CIC Africa Co-operatives Insurance (Malawi) Limited

789,977 ordinary shares of MK 1,000 each at cost (1KShs = MK 7.2) 268,124 268,124

CIC Afiica (Uganda) Limited*

2,556,019,000 ordinary shares of UShs 10,000 each at cost (1Kshs = UShs 32.8) 779,324 779,324
4.228,410 4,228,410
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19. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Movement in investment in subsidiaries 2024
KShs'000
As at 1 January 4,228,410
Acquisition of ordinary shares in CIC Microinsurance Limited -
As at January and 31 December 4228410
Couniry of Proportion of
(b} COMPANY lncorporation  Principal activity ordinary shares heid
2024 2023
CIC Asset Management Limited Kenya Funds and assets management  100% 100%
Underwriting general insurance
CIC General Insurance Limited Kenya business. 100% 100%
Underwriting long-term
CIC Life Assurance Limited Kenya business. 100% 100%
CIC Microinsurance Limited Kenya Underwriting microinsurance
business 100% 100%
CIC Africa Insurance (SS) Limited Underwriting general and life
South Sudan  insurance business. 69% 69%
CiC Africa Co-operatives Insurance Underwriting generat and life
(Malawi} Limited Malawi insurance business. 91% 91%
Underwriting generat and life
CIC Africa (Uganda) Limited Uganda insurance business. 95% 95%

20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST- CORPORATE BONDS

2023
KShs'000

4,178,410
50.000

4,228 410
Proportion of
Shares held by non-
controlling

Inferests
2024 2023

31% 31%
9% 9%

5% 5%

The credit quality of each corporate bond is assessed and is acceptable within the parameters used to measure and moniter credit

risk.

GROUP

Real People Kenya Limited

Chase Bank

Kenya Mortgage Refinance Company Limited
East African Breweries Limited

Family Bank Limited

Total gross
Allowance for expected credit losses

The movement in the corporate bonds Is as follows:
At 1 January

Additions

Maturities

Write-off

Accrued interest on corporate bond

Gross
Allowance for expected eredit losses {note 8(d))
At 31 Decembey

2024

KShs'000

123

6,252

18,339
8,997
58,032

92,620

(3.464)
82,156

96,095
29
{2,486)

1.018

92,620
(3.464)
89,156

2023
KShs'000

1,258

20,867
8,981
58989

96,095
(449)
95,648

180,439

(2,189)
(82,615)
460

96,095
449
5,64
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20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST- CORPORATE BONDS {(continued}

2024 2023
KShs '000 KShs 000
Maturity analysis
Within 1 year - -
In 1-5 years - -
In over 5 years 92,62 96,09
92,620 96,095

An analysis of changes in the gross carrying amount and corresponding ECL allowances in corporate bends has been disclosed
in note 53.2(a). There are no corporate bonds held under lien.

21, FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COSTS: GOVERNMENT SECURITIES

GROUP 2024 2023
KShs '000 KShs 000
At 1 January 10,754,066 8,279,230
Additions 783,461 3,418,783
Maturities (584,384) (1,126,479)
Accrued interest 42,557 74,443
Effect of foreign currency transtation (81.153) 108.089
10,914,547 10,754,066
Allowance for expected credit foss (1,488) (847)
At 31 December 10,913,059 10,753,219
Maturity analysis
Within 1 year 431,884 453,209
In 1-5 years 3,241,459 3,467,450
in over 5 years 6,539,716 6.832,560

10,913,056 10,753,219

Government securities at amortised cost of KShs 10.1 billion {2023: KShs 10.1 billion) relate to treasury bonds held by the
Central Bank of Kenya under lien to the Commissioner of Insurance in accordance with the Kenyan Insurance Act. In addition,
Government securities at amortised cost of KShs 551 million (2023: KShs 384 million) relate to treasury bonds held by the Bank
of Uganda under lien accordance with the Ugandan Insurance Act 2017.

22, FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST: LOANS RECEIVABLES
The loans refer to advances given to staff and have coliateral held on them. Upon resignation the credit quality of each loan is
assessed and is acceptable within the parameters used to measure and monitor credit risk. Impairment losses have been

recognised on loans receivables and have been recorded in profit or loss.

Mortgage and other staff loans are advanced at an interest rate of 6%. Mortgage loans are repayable within 20 years, while other
staff loans which include the car loans and study loans are repayable within 4 years and 5 years respectively.

{a) MORTGAGE LOANS

2024 2023
KShs '000 KShs '000
{iy GROUP
At 1 fanuary 80,301 80,575
Loan repayments (5,967) (6,409)
Accrued interest 5,969 6,135
80,303 80,301
Allowance expected credit losses (note 8(d)) (11.696) (11.761)
At 31 December 68,607 68,540
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22, FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST: LOANS RECEIVABLES {continued)

(a) MORTGAGE LOANS {continued)

2024 2023
KShs '000 KShs '000
iy GROUP
Maturity profile:
Within 1 year - -
In 1-5 years 12,832 12,290
In over 5 years 55,775 58,250
68,607 68.540
(i) COMPANY
At 1 January 12,578 11,859
Loan repayments (619) (600)
Accrued interest 1,161 1,319
13,120 12,578
Allowance expected credit losses {note 9) (288) (288)
At 31 December 12,832 12,290
Maturity profile:
Within 1 year - -
In 1-5 years 12,832 12,290
12,832 12,290
(b} OTHER LOANS
2024 2023
KShs '000 KShs '000
( GROUP
Staff loans 9433 44,851
Movement:
At 1 January 44,665 9,747
Loans advanced 197 38,297
Loan repayments (35,604) (3,952)
Effect of foreign exchange transtation - 5713
9,258 44,665
Allowance expected credit losses (note 9) 175 186
At 31 December 9.433 44 851
Maturity profile:
Within 1 year 3,250 3,362
In 1-5 years - 2,808
In over 5 years 6.183 38,681
9433 44,851
Subtotal (a{i)) 68,607 68,540
Subtotal (b(i)) 9,433 44,851
78,040 113,391
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22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST: LOANS RECEIVABLES {continued)

(b) OTHER LOANS {continued)

2024 2023
KShs '000 KShs '000
i} COMPANY

At 1 January 3,329 810
Loans advanced - 2,519
Loan repayments (98} -
At 31 December 3231 3329

Maturity profile:
Within 1 year - -
In 1-5 years 3,23 3.329
At 31 December 3231 3329
Subtotal (a(ii)} 12,832 12,290
Subtotal (bfii}) 3231 3.329
16,063 15,619

An analysis of changes in the gross canying amount and corresponding ECL allowances in loans has been disclesed in note
53.2(a).

The foltowing table shows the maximum exposure to credit risk by of staff loans, the total fair value of collateral, any surplus

collateral {the extent to which the fair value of collateral held is greater than the exposure to which it relates), and the net exposure
to credit risk:

Group

31 December 2024 Maximum exposure Total  Exposure to fotal

In KShs ‘000 to credit risk collateral coltateral ratio Net exposure ECLs
Morigage ioans 68,607 133,458 51% - 11,761
Qther loans 12,159 37,664 32% - -
31 December 2023

Mortgage loans 68.540 133.458 51% - 11761
Other loans 12,159 37.654 32% - -
Company

31 December 2024 Maximum exposure Total  Exposure to total

In KShs to credit risk collateral collateral ratic Net exposure ECLs
Mortgage loans 13,120 12,935 95% - -
31 December 2023

Mortgage loans 12,290 12,935 95% - -

The collaterals on the mortgage loans relate fo the underlying plot and/or house, to which the loan relates to. The
propetty is charged on the Group and the group is able to sell the property in tase of default.

The other loans relate to staff loans, and are secured by the staff contracts.
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23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME: GOVERNMENT SECURITIES

2024 2023
(a) GROUP KShs’000 KShs'000
At 1 January 13,582,244 11,389,365
Additions 4,906,678 4,251,839
Disposals {1,925,870) (1,065,000
Reclassification to amertised cost - -
Fair value loss through GCI 1,735,681 993,960
Gross 18,298,733 13,582,244
Mllowance for expected credit loss {1.202) {2,.870)
At 31 December 18,297 13,579,374
Maturity analysis
Within 1 year 1,128,608 -
In 1-5 years 6,013,117 1,211,610
In over 5 years 11,155,806 12,367,764
18,297,531 13,579,374

An analysis of changes Inthe gross carrying amount and correspanding ECL allowances debt instruments at fair value through OCH
and at amortised cost has been disclosed in note 53.2(a).

24. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ~ UNQOUTED EQUITY INSTRUMENTS

GROUP 2024 2023
KShs'000 KShs'000

Unquoted investments:
Shares held in the 0il and gas consertium 10,266 8,418
Shares held in Co-op Holding Co-operative Society Limited 18.958 14,378
29,224 22,796

The movement in the investments is as follows:

At 1 January 22,796 21,647
Additions 2,858 -
Interest earned - R
Fairvalue foss 4,580 (416)
Effect of foreign currency translation (1,010) 1,565
At 31 December 29,224 22,798

The shares held in Co-op Holding Co-operative Society Limited were acquired before the initial public offer (IP0) in 2009 and are
not listed at the Nairobi Securities Exchange Limited (NSE). These shares are not available to the public market; they can only be
sold to other members of the Co-operative entity at a specified agreed value. Thus, the agreed price represents the exit price for
these shares which are to be valued at the higher of 60% of the average of the month's quoted Co-operative Bank of Kenya Limited
shares at the Nairobi Securities Exchange Limited or the value of the shares. In the current year the shares have been valved at
KShs 6.75 which approximates the fair vaiue. In 2024, the Group did not receive any dividends from its FYOC! equities. The Group
did not dispose of or derecognise any FYOC! equity instruments in 2024,
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25,

28,

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS-QUOTED EQUITY INSTRUMENTS

2024

KShs’000
At 1 January 647,506
Additions 139,240
Disposal (24,548)
Fairvalue loss 169,541

At 31 December 831,739

2023
KShs'000

1,060,004

106,091
(384,225)
(134,364)

641,506

At year end, these are valued at the welghted average price at the Nairobi Securities Exchange on the last day of trading in that

year.

{a) INVESTMENTS IN COLLECTIVE INVESFMENT SCHEMES THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS - GROUP

2024

KShs ‘000

At 1 January 1,368,501

Additions 639,623

Disposal (171,934)

Fair value gain 17,363

At 31 December 1,253,553

{b) INVESTMENTS IN COLLECTIVE iINVESTMENT SCHEMES THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS - COMPANY

At 1 January 14,501
Disposals -
Fair value gain 1,810
At 31 December 16,411
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2023
KShs ‘000

1,210,502
635,195
{493,070)
15,874

1,368,501

37,255
(25,000)
2,248

14,501
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27. OTHER RECEIVABLES

2024 2023
{a) GROUP KShs'000 KShs'000
Staff advances 18,169 13,584
Rent receivable 73,907 73,397
Prepayments 56,977 70,873
Sundry debtors 85,330 105,563
Administration fees receivable 163,588 142,724
Other deposits 79,450 100,265
Medical administration fees receivable - 52,258
CIC Society Ltd 14,160 14,380
Pension fund receivable 234,956 169,511
Withholding tax 69,008 22312
Other receivables 157,024 99,960
Allowance for expected credit losses {14,088} {12,393)
928,481 852,434

Movement in ECL:
1 January 12,393 8,746
Increase in expected credit losses (note 9{(d)) 1,695 3.647
At 31 December 14,088 12,393

{t) COMPANY

Other receivables 17,587 14,555
Prepayments 19,790 42,480
CiC Society Lxd 4,500 4,500
Alowance of expected credit losses (63) -
41,814 61,535
An analysis of changes in the gross canying amount and corresponding ECL allowances in other recelvables has been disclosed in

note 53.2(a).

*0ther deposits refate to deposits placed with the lead insurers under the NHIF civil servants account and the National Police Sewvice
{NPS) account to facilitate prompt payment of claims.

The cartying amounts disclosed above reasonably approximate fair values at the reporting date.
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28. RELATED PARTIES

The ultimate parent company is Co-operative Insurance Society Limited. The Group has various related parties, most of whom are
related by virtue of being the investor, and partly due to common directorships. The provisions for expected credit losses made on
refated party balances during the year was Kshs 8,982,000 (2023: Kshs 5,573,000). The amounts due from related parties are non-
interest bearing and the balances are not secured.

The CIC Insurance Group being the majority shareholder in the various related parties; is committed to providing the necessary
financial support to the related companies with capitalisation defici{ to ensure they meet their financial obligations.

GROUP 2024 2023
KShs’000 KShs'000

Due from related companies:
Co-operative Insurance Society Limited 260,795 188,620
Ailowance for expected credit losses (6,982) {5.573}
253,813 183,047

Movement in ECL:

1 January 5,573 2,541
Decrease in expected credit losses (note 9(d)) 1,409 3.032
At 31 December 6,982 5573

(8) Transaction with related parties during the year
The following fransactions were carried out with related parties during the year:

Payments on behalf of refated party*

Co-operative Insurance Society Limited 72,175 40,921
CIC Africa Co-operatives Insurance Limited Malawi 31,704 26,574
Dividends paid to Co-operative Insurance Society Limited 256,348 256,348
Premium receipts from Co-operative Bank of Kenya Limited 4,425,854 4,269,348
Claims payment to Co-operative Bank of Kenya Limited 2,260,921 1,046,303
Deposits with Co-operative Bank of Kenya Limited 5,966,584 3,920,426
Loans with Co-operative Bank of Kenya Limited 5,165,766 4,955,891

* In helping to reduce the administration burden there will be situations where one entity will pay expenses or receive premiums on
behalf of its sister entities or subsidiaries. Therefore, these transactions relate to the receipts to and payments from related parties
to reimburse the entity paying on behalf of the others or allocating the premiums received by the entity on behalf of the others.

(b} Keymanagement and director's remuneration

The remuneration of directors and other members of key management dusing the year were as follows:

2024 2023
Short-term employment benefits: KShs'000 KShs'000
Directors
- Salaries 88,696 78,717
- Birectors ‘emoluments - Fees 30,781 29,391
- Others (trave! and accommodation) 9,624 8,530
129,101 116,638
Key management staff*:
Salaries 280,100 162,078
Leave allowance 5,049 2,236
National Social Security Fund (NSSF 490 157
Gratuity 10,750 12,238
Contribution to defined contribution scheme 8.566 7.000
434,056 300,347

*Included in Kenya management staff is salary and aliowances of KShs 892 million (2023: KShs 79 million) paid to Group Chief
Executive Officer, who is also a director.
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28. RELATED PARTIES (Continued)
COMPANY

Due from related parties:

Co-operative Insurance Society Limited

CIC Africa (Uganda) Limited

CIC Africa Co-operatives Insurance (Malawi) Limited
CIC Africa Insurance (88) Limited

Allowance of expected credit losses

Due to related parties:

CIC Life Assurance Limited

CIC General Insurance Limited
CIC Asset Management Limited
CIC Microinsurance Limited

Related party loan payable fo:
CIC Africa (SS) Limited
CIC Asset Management Limited

Total

Deposits with Co-operative Bank of Kenya Limited
Loans with Co-operative Bank of Kenya Limited

Movement in intercompany loan payable:

At 1 January

Proceeds from intercompany lean - CIC Asset
Repayment of intercompany loan - CiC Africa 55
Interest accrued

At 31 December

2024
KShs'000

260,795
120,733
98,381
(2.400)
417,509
12,396
291,394

55,743
1,238

361,471
269,030
482,675
151,705

5,113
5,165,768

273,076
482,100
(43,602)

40.131

151,705

2023
KShs'000

188,620
111,518

66,677
35,161

(1,996)
399,980

434,700
171,056
47,478
2,736

655,970

273,076

273,076

46,496
4,955,891

238,016

35,060

273,07

The loan from CIC Africa (8S) Limited is unsecured and attracts interest at the rate of 12.5% per annum. It is repayable
on 13 February 2024, following a 2-year extension approval. The loan was structured as single draw-down with a bullet

repayment of principal sum at end of its tenure.

In the year 2024, CIC Asset Management Limited advanced the parent, CIC Insurance Group a loan of KShs 482 Million,
at a fixed interest rate of 14.5% with a tenure of 12 months and is due for repayment on 27th December 2025. The loan
was structured as a single draw-down with a bullet repayment of principal sum and accrued interest at end of the tenure.
The loan is secured by a share pledge on the shares of CIC Africa Insurance (SS) Limited.
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28,  RELATED PARTIES {Continued}

The company has various related parties, most of whom are related by common shareholding.

{i} Transaction with related parties during the year - Company 2024 2023
Kshs'000 Kshs'000

Receipts from related parties
CIC Asset Management Limited 38,641 43,675
CIC General Insurance Limited 429,023 559,498
CIC Life Assurance Limited 361,891 439,781
CIC Africa Insurance (SS) Limited 8,441 -

Payments to related parties

CIC Asset Management Limited 30,415 32,457
CIC General Insurance Limited 308,685 594,622
CiC Life Assurance Limited 784,195 398,960
CIC Africa (Uganda) Limited 9,215 15,118
CIC Africa Co-operatives Insurance Limited 31,704 26,574
CIC Africa Insurance (S5) Limited 43,602 1,166
Co-operative Insurance Society Limited 72,175 40,921

Loans to directors of the group and the company

The Group and its subsidiaries did not advance loans to the directots in the years ended 31 December 2024 and 31
December 2023.

An analysis of changes in the gross carying amount and corresponding ECL allowances in due from related parties has
been disclosed in note 53.2(a).

The carrying amounts disclosed above reasonably approximate fair values at the reporting date.
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28. DEPOSITS WITH FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

{a} GROUP

The Co-operative Bank of Kenya Limited
KCB Bank Kenya Limited*

Nico Asset Managers Limited

Equity Bank of Kenya Limnited

Equity Bank of Uganda Limited

1 and M Bank Limited

Middle East Bank of Kenya Limited
Family Bank Limited

Credit Bank Limited

FTB Bank Limited

Kenya Women's Micro Finance Bank
Stanbic Bank Limited

Ugafode Microfinance Limited

Feundation for international assistance (Finca) Bank

My bucks banking Corporation
NCBA Bank Kenya PLC

SBM Bank Kenya Limited

Kingdom Bank Ltd

Absa Bank Uganda Ltd

Postbank

Housing Finance Bank Uganda
Development Bank of Kenya Limited
National Bank of Kenya

NBS Bank Lid Malawi

First Discount House Bank Limited
Continental Asset Management Malawi
Bank of Africa

Expected credit losses allowance
Net deposits
Maturity analysis:

Maturing within three months
Maturing after 3 months

(i} Movement in deposits maturing after 3 months

As at January
Net increase/(decrease}

As at December

(i} Movement in ECL:
{a) GROUP

1 January
Decrease in expected credit losses (note 9)
At 31 December
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2024
KShs'000

5,966,584
1,475,066

270,231
1,108,226

11,202
25,392
140,785
228,956
44,236

14,870
12,004
694
18,543
635,395
306,798

361
124,468

79,578
615
2,575
360,505
868,675

11,695,759
{5,738}

11,690,023

9,194,250
2,501,509

11,695,759

3,016,848
(515.339)
2,501,509

27,617
(21.881)
2,136

2023
KShs'000

3,920,426
1,020,244
298,824
143,626
98,471

10,329
100,807
148,457

89,357
344,936

12,681

869

23,218

616,650

78,399
424
216,755
73,191
57,122

770
3,224
342,127

7,600,907
(27.617)

7,673,290

4,584,059
3.016.848

1,600,907

2,552,717
464,131
3,016,848
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29. DEPOSITS WITH FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS (Continued)

(b) COMPANY

KCB Bank Kenya Limited*
The Co-operative Bank of Kenya Limited
Expected credit losses allowance

Net deposits
Maturity analysis:

Maturing within 3 months
Maturing after 3 months

2024
KShs'000

58,998
5,113

(33)
64,078

64,111

2023
KShs'000

71,142
46,496

{70)
117,568

117,63

* With the exception of deposits with KCB Bank Kenya Limited, which are under lien, and Kshs. 248 million in KCB Bank Kenya
and Kshs. 1.1 billion in Co-operative Bank of Kenya which are placed as guarantee for fulfilment of some certain insurance
arrangements with insured, all the other deposits are available for use by the Group and have no lien conditions attached to them.
The weighted average interest rate eamed on the deposits with KCB Bank Kenya Limited under lien during the year was 2.5%

(2023: 2.5%).

The carrying amounts disclosed above reasonably approximate fair values at the reporting date.

30. SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised ordinary shares of
KShs 1 each (2023: KShs 1 each):
At 1 January and at 31 December

Issued and fully paid up share capitai:
At 1 January and at 31 December

31. SHAREPREMIUM

At 1 January and at 31 December

2024
Number of

shares
KShs'000

3,000,000

Share
capital
KShs'000

3,000,000

2023
Number of

shares
KShs'000

3,000,000

2,615,578

2024
KShs'000

162,179

Share

capital
KShs'C00

3,000,000

2,615,567

2023
KShs'000

--162,179

Share premium arose out of private placement at a cost of KShs. 22.50 which was KShs 2.50 abeve the nominal value of 20/- in
2011 resulting in a share premium of KShs 598 millien. Subsequently, the share premium was capitalized through issuance of
bonus amounting to 436 million shares of KShs 1 each.

32.  STATUTORY RESERVE

The statutory reserve represents the surplus on the long-term business which is not distributable as dividends as per the

requirements of the Kenyan Insurance Act.

Transfer from statutory reserve relates to the proportion of the long-term business surplus which is distributable as dividends and
therefore transferred to retained earnings. The Act restricts the amounts of surpluses of the long-term business available for
distribution to shareholders to 30% of the accumulated surplus of the long-term business.
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33.  CONTINGENCY RESERVE

The contingency resetve represents at 2% of the gross premium for non-life inserance business and 1% for life business that is set
aside as required by the Insurance Act in Uganda.

34.  REVALUATION SURPLUS
The revaluation surplus represents the surpiuses on the revaluation of buildings and Is not distributable as dividends.
35.  FORE!GN CURRENCY TRANSLATION RESERVE

The exchange differences arising on the translation of foreign operations to the presentation currency are transferred to the foreign
currency translation reserve, On disposal of the net investment, the cumulative exchange differences relating to the operations
disposed of are released to the statement of profit or loss.

2024 2023

KShs'000 KShs’000

At 1 January (673,927) (496,295)
Other currency translation differences (566,910) {70,051)
NCI share in translation differences 115,604 (7,581)
Total movement in the year (451,306} (77,632
At 31 December {1,025,233) {673,927}

36.  FAIRVALUERESERVE

The fair value reserve represents fair value gains / (fosses) arising from finaneial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income and is not distributable as dividends.

37.  RETAINED EARNINGS

The retained earnings balance represents the amount available for dividend distribution fo the shareholders of the Group.

Retained earnings include fair value gains on revaluation of investment properties which are unrealised and whose distribution is
subject to restrictions imposed by the Kenya Insurance Act 2015.

38.  NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

2024 2023

KShs'000 KShs'000

At 1 January {80,639) (32,085)
Profit for the year 138,225 (56,135)
Other comprehensive loss for the year {115,604) 1,581
Total comprehensive income for the year 22,621 (48,554)
At 31 December (58,018) {80,639

Summarised financial information has been presented below for CIC Africa (Malawi) Limited, CIC Africa (Uganda) Limited and CIC
Africa (South Sudan) Limited subsidiaries with non-controfling interest.

South Sudan Malawi Uganda

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
Proportion of ownership held by NCI 31% 31% 8% 9% 5% 5%
Proportion of voting rights held by NCI 31% 31% 9% 9% 5% 5%
NCI share of retained earnings/loss (KShs ‘000) 8,164 (30,503} 8,263 4,621 {26,088) {39,719)

NCI share of profit before income tax (KShs ‘000) 122,974  (58,141) 15,127 (1,568) i25 3,574
Dividends paid to NCI in the year (KShs ‘000} - - - -
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38.  NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)
Summarised financial information of the subsidiaries is provided below:
South Sudan Matawi Uganda
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
KShs'000 KShs'000  KShs'000  KShs'000  KShs'00D KShs'C00
Operating profit/(loss) 396,691  (187,553) 199,231 (33,3100 43,977 95,434
Profit/(loss) for the year 396,691  (187,553) 168,075 (17,418) 2,499 71,484
Other comprehensive income (320,332) 26,853 - (8,454) - 348
Total comprehensive income 76,359  (160,700) 168,075 (25,872) 2,499 71,832
Total non-current assets 495551 603,170 117,014 129,237 110,541 161,615
Total current assets 1,317,968 1,211,877 834,464 794,963 1,723,426 2,339,588
Total non-current fiabilities - - - - -
Total current Habilities 1,650,198 1,686,575 641,974 643,744 1,407,381 2,004,138
39.  BORROWINGS ~ GROUP AND COMPANY
{a) GROUP 2024 2023
KShs'000 KShs'000
1 January 5081,164 4,571,600
New loans 107,272 112,078
Principal repayment (462,012) (94,973)
Inferest repayment (13,694) (7,993)
Interest accrued 577,215 488,243
Effect of translation (18.576) 12,209
31 December 5,271,369 5,081,164
{b) COMPANY
1 January 4,955,891 4,571,600
Principal repayment (354,740) {94,973)
Interest repayment - (2,912)
Interest accrued 564,615 482,176
31 December 5,165,766 4,955,891

The borrowings relate to a bank loan of Kshs 3.4 billion (2023: Kshs 3.4 billion) from Co-operative Bank at a fixed interest rate of
12% with a tenure of 5 years and was due for repayment on 15th October 2024, The foan was structured as single draw-down with
a bullet repayment of principal sum at end of the tenure. Interest repayment is on trf - annual basis. A principal repayment of Kshs
355 million was made during the year with. The loan is secured by Kiambu land; LR No 28800/951, inventories held by the Group
whose fair value at 31 December 2024 was Kshs 5.06 billion (Note 15({b)).

The Company received an extension from Co-operative Bank to reschedule the loan repayments by 30 days upto 15t November
2024, As of 31 December 2024, the Company received an extension from Co-operative Bank to reschedule the loan repayments
by a further 60 days upto 15% January 2025. The extension periods were to aliow the parties to agree on the new restructuring
terms for the loan repayment.

The new loan was advanced to CIC Africa Uganda Limited during the year, an amount of KShs 107 million and is repayable within
ayear.

The Company is in the process of disposing the Kiambu fand which is held as inventories. At 31 December 2024, deposits
amounting to Kshs 491 million had been received and are included within other payables until revenue recognition criteria is met,
Proceeds from sale of the land will be used to settle outstanding loan referred to above.

136



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND TS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

40.  OTHER PAYABLES

2024 2023
KShs'000 KShs'000
{a)  GROUP

Sundry payables 1,199,022 809,761
Restructuring costs payable* - 76,961

Payroll creditors 162,301 215,111
Premiums received in advance 191,829 237,838

Staff annual leave pay provision 42,084 108,710

Payroll related accruals 39,701 68,192
Sewvice providers creditors 43,843 91,381

Other deposits*** 300,378 229,934

Life agents’ bond 14,478 12,704
Deposits on sale of land* * 490,796 183,633
2,484,432 2,034,225

(b}  COMPANY

Deposits on sale of fand** 490,796 183,633
Sundry payables 79,527 76,825
Service providers creditors 29,853 28,933
Withholding tax payable 2,340 (215)
602,516 289,176

*Restructuring costs payable relates to severance pay for employees who opted to retire/exit under the voluntary early
retirement/exit programme in the year, and their payments are due in the subsequent year.

**Deposits on sale of land relate to deposit received from the sale of Kiambu fand (Note 39). The carrying amounts disclosed
above reasonably approximate fair values at the veporting date.

#**(Other deposits relate to rent deposits from CIC Generat Insurance and CIC Life Assurance tenants, deposit on the National
Police Service (NPS) Medical scheme to cater for Ex-Gratia claims and funds held to facilitate claims payments to sewvice providers
on behalf of the NPS capitator.

Movement in restructuring costs payable

2024 2023

KShs'0G0 KShs'000

Balance at 1 January 2024 76,961 -
Additional provisions recognized in profit or loss 84,816 198,688
Paid in the year (181,777) {121.,727)
Balance at 31 December - 76,961

41,  DIVIDENDS

2024 2023

KShs'000 KShs'000

Declared and paid during the year 345,000 345,000
Proposed for approval at the annual general meeting {not recognised as a liability) - 345,000

Dividend on ordinary shares

a)  Dividend per share is arrived at by dividing the total dividends by the weighted average number of shares in issue during the
year.

b)  Payment of dividend is subject to withholding tax at the rate of 5% for resident and 10% for non-resident shareholders
respectively.
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42,

COMPOSITION OF THE BALANCE SHEET - INSURANCE CONTRACTS

An analysis of the amounts presented on the balance sheet for insurance contracts is included in the tabie below:

Non-medical
Medical

Total non-Hfe insurance contract liabilities

Ordinary life
Group life

Total life insurance contract liabilities
Investment contracts liabilities with DPF

Total investment contracts liabilities with
DPF

Total insurance contract liabilities

2024 2023
Insurance contract Reinsurance

liabilities contract assets liabilities
*Restated
KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000
8,674,658 3,485,081 7,998,087
3,075,959 94,696 3,064,351
12.650.617 3.579.777 11,062,438
5,362,798 (2,109) 4,007,320
8,883,510 1,481,050 8,286,933
14,256,308 1,478,945 12,294,253
14,935.180 - 10,870,586
14,935,180 10,870,586
41,842,105 5,058,722 34,227,277

Insurance contract  Reinsurance contract

assets
*Restated
KShs'000

2,402,096
69,608

2,471,704

1,262,289

1,262,289

3,733,993

Detailed reconciliations of changes in insurance contract balances during the reporting petiods are included in the subsequent

notes.

SUMMARY OF THE LIABILITY FOR INCURRED CLAIMS - GENERAL iINSURANCE CONTRACTS

2024
Liability for Risk

incurred claims adjustment Total
KShs’000 KShs'000 KShs'000

Insurance contract liabilities
Non-medical 5,670,141 79,590 5,749,731
Medical 1,272 337 10.971 1,283,308
Total 6.942,478 90,561 7.033.038

Reinsurance contract assets
Non-medical (1,418,746} (29,415) {1,448,161)
Medical {24.374) (76} {24,450)
Total (1,443,120} {29.491) (1,472,611)
Net 5,499,358 61,070 5.560,428
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2023
Liabitity for Risk
incurred claims  adjustment
KShs'000 KShs'000
5,253,205 106,980
1,204,992 7,713
6,458,197 114.703
(1,632,036) (37,001
{65,679) {181)
(1.697,715) (37,182)
4,760,482 77.521

Total
KShs’000

5,360,195
1,212,705

6,572,900

(1,669,037}
{65,860}

{1.734,897)
4,838.003
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42. COMPOSITION OF THE BALANCE SHEET - INSURANCE CONTRACTS (continued)

Reconciliation of the liability for remaining coverage {LRC) and liability for incurred claims {LIC) - Combined non-life and life insurance contracts

Combined

Net insurance contract liabilities / (assets} at 1 Jan

Insurance revenue
Insurance sevice expenses:
Insurance service expenses

Insurance finance expenses
Hyperinflationary adjustment

Translation differences

Total changes in the comprehensive income

Cash flows:

Premiums received

Claims and other expenses paid
Insurance acquisition cash flows
Total cash flows

Other movements:
Liability for guarantee

Net insurance confract liabilities /(assets) at 31 Dec

LRC exci. oss
component
KShs'G0G’
24,979,195

(26,348,750)

650.359
(25,698,391)

2,484,825
69,339

{1.887,297}
(25,031,524}

36,582,720

{4.318.550)

32,264,170
40.290

32,252,131

Liability for remaining coverage (LRC)

Loss
component
KShs'000'
431,145

341.422
341,422

30,414
(73,789}
{140.223)
157,824

588,969

Le

139

for contracts not
measured under
PAA

KShs'000
285,189

1.092.694
1,092,694

47,002
(7,045}

{5,426}
1,127,225

{984,809)

(984,809)

427.605

2024

flows
KShs'000"
8,894,027

19,979,812
19,979,812

898,267
(314,603)

(286,210}
20,277,266

(20,072,239)

(20,072,239)

9,099,054

LIC for contracts measured under PAA
PV of future cash

Risk adjustment
KShs'000
192,470

{20,095)
{20,095)

1,844

(4,119)
(13.785)
(36,155)

156,315

Assets for
acquisition cash
flows

KShs'000’
(554,749)

2,016,605
2,016,805

(24,643)
21,021
2,012,983

(2,140,203}
(2,140,203}

(681.969)

Total

Total
KShs'000'
34,227,277
{26,348,750)

24,060,797
(2,287,953)

3,462,352
(354,860)

(2,311,920}
(1.492.381)

36,582,720
(21,057,048)
(6.458.753)
9,066,919
40,290

41.842.105
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FOR THEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

42, COMPOSITION OF THE BALANCE SHEET - INSURANCE CONTRACTS (continued)

Reconciliation of the liability for remaining coverage (LRC) and liability for incurred claims {LIC) - Combined non-life and life insurance contracts

Combined

Net insurance contract liabilities / (assets)at 1 Jan

Insurance revenue
Insurance senice expenses:
Insurance service expenses

Insurance finance expenses
Hyperinflationary adjustment
Translation differences

Total changes in the comprehensive income

Cash flows:

Premiums received

Claims and other expenses paid
Insurance acquisition cash flows
Total cash flows

Other movements:
Investment component
Liability for guarantee

Net insurance contract liabilities /(assets) at 31 Dec

LRC excl. loss
component
KShs'000’
20,128,550
(25,400,902)

250,951
(25,651,853)

414,545

(35,947}
(25,272.855)

30,777,001

(1,459,380}
29,317,621

675,400
130,479

24,979,195

Liability for remaining coverage (LRC)

Loss
component
KShs'COQ
331,096

431,145

LIC for contracts not

140

measured under

FAA

KShs'000
220,334

1,322,900
1,322,900

18,554

=i
o

1,342,199

(1,277,344)

(1,277,344)

2023

flows
KShs'000’
8,899,244

19,231,457
19,231,457

434,812

(43.625)
19.622.,644

(18,952,461)

(18,952,461}

(675,400)

8,894,027

LIC for contracts measured under PAA
PV of future cash

Risk adjustment
KShs'000’
129,771

192.470

Assets for
acquisition cash
flows

KShs'000"
(672,883)

2,096,153
2,096,183

{1.990,856)
(1,990,856)

(554.749)

Total

Total
KShs'000'
29,036,112
(25,400,902)

22.549.800
{2,851,102)

888,294

(73,466}
{2,036,274)

30,777,001
(20,229,805)
{3,450,236)

7,086,960

130,479

34.227.277
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43, NON - LIFE INSURANCE CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Reconciliation of the liability for remaining coverage (LRC) and Hability for incurred claims (LIC) - insurance contracts issued

Non-medical

Net insurance contract
liabilities / (assets) at
1Jan

Insurance revenue
Insurance service
expenses

Insurance finance
expenses
Hyperinflationary
adjustment
Translation differences
Total changes in the
comprehensive income
Cash flows:

Premiums received
Claims and other
expenses paid
Insurance acquisition
cash flows

Total cash flows

Net insurance contract
tiabilities /(assets) at
31 Dec

Liability for remaining

coverage (LRC)
LRC excl. loss Loss
component  compaonent
KShs'000’ KShs'000"
2,881,779 106,873
{10,349,906) -
252284 {15,187}
(10,097,622} (15,187)
104,918 (3,513)
(218.991) (19.088)
(10,211,695) (37,788}
10,854,284 -
(235,915) =
10,618,369 -
3,288,453 69.085

2024

Liability for incurred claims

PV of future
cash flows
KShs'000

5,253,205

6,608,416
6,609,416

657,406

(99,963)
(152,240}

7,014,619

(6,597,683)

(6,597,683)

5,670,141

Risk
adjustment
KShs'000’

106,990

{22.196)
(22,196)

1,278

(773)
(5.709)

{27,400)

79,590

Assets for
acquisition
cash flows

KShs’000

(350,760}

1,185,539
1,185,539

(4,231)
(5,838)

1,175,470

(1.257.321)
(1,257,321)

{432.611)

Total

Total
KShs'G0OOQ’

7,998,087
(10,349,806)

8,009,856
(2,340,050)

658,684

(3,562}
(401,8686)

(2,086,794)
10,854,284
{6,597,683)

{1.493.236)
2,763,365

8.674.658

141

2023
Assets for
Liability for remaining acquisition
coverage (LRC) Liability for incurred claims cash flows
LRC exct. loss Loss PV offuture Risk
componeat  component cashflows  adjustment
2,252,772 108,547 6,026,238 77,905 (489,228)
(10,145,279) - - - -
169.103 5846 55914352 27624 1347065
(9,976,176) 5,846 5,591,452 27,624 1,347,065
- - 336,989 (732} -
58,821 {7,520} 9.485 2,193 11.660
(9,917,355) (1,674 5,918,956 29,085 1,358,725
10,546,362 - - - -
- - (8,691,989) - -
- = = - (1.220.157
10,546,362 - (8,691,989) - (1,220,157}
2,881,775 106.873  5.253,205 106,990 350,760

Total

7,976,134
(10,145,279)

7.141.090
(3,004,189)

336,257

55,669
(2,612,263)
10,546,362
(6,691,989)

{1,220.157)
2,634,216

7,998,087
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

43.  NON - LIFE INSURANCE CONTRACT LIABILITIES {continued)
Reconciliation of the liability for remaining coverage (LRC) and liability for incurred claims (LIC} ~ Insurance contracts issued

Medical

Net insurance contract
liahilities / {assets) at
1Jan

insurance revenue
insurance service
expenses

insurance finance
expenses
Hypetinflationary
adjustment
Translation differences
Total changes in the
comprehensive income
Cash flows:

Premiums received
Claims and other
expenses paid
Insurance acquisition
cash flows

Total cash flows

Net insurance contract
liabilities /(assets) at
31 Dec

Liability for remaining

2024

Ltabifity for incurred claims

coverage (LRC)

LRC excl. loss Loss PV of future
component  component cash fiows
KShs'000’ KShs’000" KShs'000’
2,027,059 28,576 1,204,992
(8,175,932) - -
766,804 436,770 8,304,742
(7,409,128} 436,770 8,304,742
(67,598) (69,453) {203,598)
(467.003} (111,295) {126.805)
(7,943,730} 256,022 7,974,339
8,574,082 - .

- - (7,906,994)
8,574,082 (7,906,994
2,657,411 284,598 1,272,337

Risk
adjustment
KShs'000

10,971

Assets for
acquisition
cash flows

KShs'000’

(203,389)

831,066
831,066

(20,412)
26,859

837,613

882,882
(882,882)

(249,358)

Total

Total
KShs'00Q

3,084,351
(8,175,932)

10,352,479
2,176,547

(364,171)
(684.974)

1,127,402
8,574,082
(7,906,994)

(882,882)
(215,794)

3,975,959

142

2023 Restated

Assets for

LiabHity for remaining acquisition

coverage {LRC} Liability for incurred claims cash flows

LRC excl. loss Loss  PVoffuture Risk

component  component cashflows  adjustment Total
1,708,716 42,042 934,469 5,197 {183,555) 2,506,869
(7,634,142} - - - - (7,634,142)
- (4.748) 7,424,730 2,751 749,088 8,171,821
(7,634,142) (4,748) 7,424,730 2,751 749,088 537,679
(10.578) {8.718) {23.604) {235) 1177 (41,958)
(7,644,720} (13.466) 7,401,126 2516 750,265 495,721
7,963,063 - - - - 7,963,063
- - {7,130,603) - - (7,130,603)
- = = = 770.699 770.699
7,963,063 - {7,130,603) - (770,699) 61,761
2,027,059 28 576 1,204,892 7.713 (203,989} 3.064.351
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43. NON - LIFE INSURANCE CONTRACT LIABILITIES {continued)

Expected timing of derecognition of assets for insurance acquisition cash flows

The expected timing of when assets for insurance acquisition cash flows will be derecognised and included in the measurement of the
group of insurance contracts to which they are aflocated Is disclosed in the table below:

Non-medical

Number of years until

expected derecognition 1year 2years More than 2 years Total
KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000

31 December 2024 263,893 116,805 51,913 432,611

31 December 2023 213,964 94,705 42 091 350,760

Medical

Number of years entil

expected devecognition 1 year 2 years More than 2 years Total
KShs'000 KShs’000 KShs'000 KShs'000

31 December 2024 152,108 67,327 29,923 249,358

31 December 2023 124,433 55,077 24,479 203,889
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43,  NON - LIFE INSURANCE CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued)
Gross claims deveiopment table
The Group uses chain-ladder technigues to estimate the ultimate cost of claims and the Incurred But Not Reported (IBNR) provision. Chain-ladder technigues are used as they are an appropriate technique
for mature classes of business that have a relatively stable development pattern. This involves the analysis of historical claims development considering when the earliest material claim arose, factors and the

selection of estimated development factors based on this historical pattern. The selected development factors are then applied to cumulative claims data for each accident year that is not fully developed to
produce an estimated ultimate claim cost for each accident year.

2024
Accident Year 2020 and prior 2021 2022 2023 2024 Total
KShs'000' KS$hs'000 KShs'000" KShs'000 KShs'000" KShs'¢00’
Estimated ultimate claims cost
at end of accident year 12,785,869 4,608,539 5,267,349 8,051,847 12,132,391 42 845,995
one year iater 4,599,999 1,446,556 2,244,310 2,536,877 - 10,827,742
two years later 1,128,982 590,872 411,031 - - 2,130,885
three years later 766,131 364,956 - - - 1,134,087
four years later 572,779 - - - “ 572,779
five years later 199,325 - - - - 199,325
Current estimate of cumulative claims 20,053,085 7,010,923 7,922,690 10,588,724 12,132,391 57,707,813
Less: cumulative payments to date (20,012,805) (6.769,694) (7,157,831} (8.646,7358) {7,456.974) (50,044.039)
Gross outstanding claims notified provision 12,884 79,839 259,235 782,166 1,395,179 2,529,303
Liability incurred but not reported claims 27,398 161.390 505.624 1,159.823 3,280,238 5.134.471
Gross undiscounted liabilities for incurred claims 40,280 241,229 764,859 1,941,989 4,675,417 7,663,774
Effect of discounting (3,869) (22,739) (71,119) {204,590) (418,979} (721,296)
Effect of the risk adjustment margin for non-financiat risk 359 2.383 8.088 26.364 53,367 90.561
Total gross liabilities for incurred claims 36,770 220,873 701.828 1,763,763 4,309,805 7,033,039
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43,

NON - LIFE INSURANCE CONTRACT LIABILITIES {continued)
Gross claims development fable {continued)
2023

Accident Year

Estimated ultimate claims cost
at end of accident year

one year later

two years later

three years later

four years later

five years later

Current estimate of cumulative claims
Less: cumulative payments to date

Gross outstanding claims notified provision
Liability incurred but not reported claims

Gross undiscounted liabifities for incurred claims

Effect of discounting
Effect of the risk adjustment margin for non-financial risk

Total gross liabilities for incurred claims

2019 and prior
KShs'000’

3,884,735
1,388,259
406,365
304,031
172,978

6,156,368
{6,038,131)

50,196
68,041
118,237

(9,735)
998

109,501

2020
KShs'000'

4,145,258
1,444,985
352,881
267,165

6,210,289
(5.725,712)

205,719
278,858
484,577

(39,898)
4,095

448,774
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2021
KShs'000’

5,324,320
1,589,158
691,794

7,605,272
{6,202,273)

595,620
807,379
1,402,999

(115,518}
11,858

1,299,339

2022
KShs'000’

8,731,814
3,359,384

12,091,198
6,586,497}

2,069,944
3.434.757
5,504,701

(401,456}
65,996

5,169,241

2023
KShs'000

8,731,814
3,359,384

12,091,198
{6,586.497)

2,069,944
3.434,757
5,504,701

{401,456)
65,996

5,169,241

Total
KShs'000"

37,832,847
16,533,331
3,534,048
2,014,987
1,192,142
648,909

61,756,264
(54,227,443)

2,928,251
4,599,570
7,528,821

(568,114)
83,102

7,043,809
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued}
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

43,

NON - LIFE INSURANCE CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued)
Net cfaims development table

2024

Accident Year

Estimated ultimate claims cost
at end of accident year

ane year later

two yeais later

three years later

four years later

five years later

Current estimate of cumulative claims
Less: cumulative payments to date

Gross outstanding claims notified provision
Liability incurred but not reported claims

Giross undiscounted liabflities for incurred claims

Effect of discounting
Effect of the risk adjustment margin for non-financial risk

Total gross liabilities for incurred claims

2020 and prior
KShs'000’

11,420,976
4,097,335
1,009,201

686,277
513,357
178,646

17,905,792
(17,869,691

10,548
25.553
36,101

(3,552)
218

32.827

2021
KShs'000'

3,850,887
1,179,952
496,622
308,641

5,836,102
(5.639.101)

58,183
138,818
197,001

(19,254}
1,641

179,388

146

2022
KShs'000’

4,091,806
1,722,443
323,609

6,137,858
(6.568.418)

169,770
399,670
569,440

(55,322)
5,056

519,174

2023
KShs'000

6,446,961
2,015,281

8,462,242
(6.833.080)

491,272
1,137,890
1,628,162

(157,112}
15,563

1,487.613

2024
KShs'000°

9,234,835

9,234,635
(5.608.918)

958,613
2,667,104
3,625,717

(322,823)
38,532

3,341,426

Total
KShs'000'

35,045,265
9,015,011
1,829,432

994,918
513,357
178,646

47,576,629
(44.519.208)

1,688,386
4,369,035
6,057,421

(558,063)
61.070

5,560,428



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES T0 THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

43,

NON -LIFE INSURANCE CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued)
Net claims development tabie (continued)

2023
Accident Year

Estimated ultimate claims cost
atend of accident year

one year later

two vears later

three years later

four years later

five years later

Current estimate of cumulative claims
Less: cumulative payments to date

Gross outstanding claims notified provision
Liability incurred but not reported claims

Gross undiscounted liabilities for incurred claims

Effect of discounting
Effect of the risk adjustment margin for non-financial risk

Total gross liabilities for incurred claims

2019 and prior
KShs' 000’

14,001,004
7,239,863
1,776,550
1,247,090

851,065
464,506

25,580,078
{25.556,877)

7,433
15,768
23,201

(2,946)
280

20,535

2020
KShs’000

2,814,085
980,954
239,560
181,310

4,215,969
(4,097,429}

37,979
80,561
118,540

{15,054)
1,432

104,918

147

2021
KShs'000"

3,381,567
1,609,301
439,370

4,830,238
(4.438.485)

125,522
266.251
391,773

(49,753)
4,733

346,753

2022
KShs'000°

4,008,511
1,661,885

5,670,396
{4.713.423)

306,608
650,365
956,973

(121,531)
11,563

847.005

2023
KShs'000

8,481,432

8,481,432
{4,597,651)

1,070,970
2.812.811
3,883,781

(424,502)
59,513

3.518.792

Total
KShs'000’

32,686,599
10,892,003
2,455,480
1,428,460
851,065
464,506

48,778,113
{43,403 ,845)

1,548,512
3.825,756
5,374,268

(613,786)
77521

4,838,003



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

4.

LIFE INSURANCE CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Reconciliation of the liability for remaining coverage (LRC) and iiability for incurred claims (LIC) - insurance contracts issued

Ordinary life

Net insurance contract
liabilities / {assets) at 1 Jan

Insurance revenue
Insurance service expenses

Insurance finance expenses
Hyperinflationary adjustment
Translation differences
Total changes in the
comprehensive income
Cash flows:

Premiums received

Claims and other expenses
paid

Insurance acquisition cash
flows

Total cash flows

Net insurance contract
liabilities /{assets) at 31 Dec

Liability for remaining coverage (L.RC)

LRC excl. loss
component
KShs'00Q0’

3,833,182
{562,742)
{1,009,678)
{1,572,420)
1,476,894
1)

(17.603)
(113,130}

1,746,288

(230.810}
1,516,178

5,236,230

Loss component
KShs'000

143,306

{67.435)
(67,435}
21,858

(2.109)

(37,688)

2024
Liability for
incurred claims
PV of future cash
fiows
KShs'000'

30,832

1,452,253
1,452,253

(58)
16

1,452,271

(1,462,153)

(1,462,153)

20.950

Total
KShs'00Q
4,007,320
(562,742)
385,140
(177,602)
1,498,750
(59)
{19.636)
1,301,453
1,746,988
(1,462,153)
(230,810}
54,025

5,362,798

148

Liahility for remaining coverage (LRC)

LRC excl. loss
component

3,997,209

(456,375)

(1,022,949)
(1,479,324)
(2,999)

17.952
(1,464,371)

1,435,512

(135,168)
1,300,344

3,833,182

Loss component

2023 Restated
Liability for
jncurred claims
PV of future cash
flows

23,175

1,459,051
1,459,051

21

1,459,072

(1,451,415)

(1,451,415)

30.832

Total

4,127,956
(456,375}
455,340
(1,035)
10,013
21,457
30,435
1,435,512
(1,451,415)
(135.168)
(151,071)

4,007.320



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

44,

LIFE INSURANCE CONTRACT LIABILITIES (centinued)

Reconciliation of the measurement components of insurance contract balances

Ordinary life

Net insurance contract liabilities / (assets) at 1 jan
Changes that relate to current service

CSM recognised in profit or loss for the services provided

Change in the risk adjustment for non- financial risk
Experience adjustments

Changes that relate to future service
Changes in estimates that adjust the CSM
Changes in estimates that do not adjust the CSM

Experience adjustments
Contracts Initially recognised in the period

Changes that relate to past service
Total changes

Insurance finance expenses
Translation differences
Total changes in the comprehensive Income

Cash flows;
Premiums received

Claims and other expenses paid
Insurance acquisition cash flows
Total cash flows

Net insurance contract liabilities /(assets) at 31 Dec

PV of future
cash flows

KShs'000°

3,257,621

(149,810}
(208,643}

439,751
(432,702}
(351,404)

(343,728)

1,328,825

(11.413)
973,684

1,746,987
(1,462,153)
(230.810)
54,024

4,285,329

Risk
adjustment
KShs'000"

71,801

(24,201}

(24,201_}

49,131
45,229
(99,718)
35,548
30,190

5,989

17,033
433
22,589

149

2024

CSM
KShs'000°

677,898

{131,732)

(131,732)

100,679
(235,659}
426.790
291,810

160,078

152,893

(7.790}
305,181

Total
KShs'000'

4,007,320

(131,732)
(24,201)
1.676
(148,257)

(163,414)
104,374
29,636
(29,404)

(177,661)

1,498,751

{19,636}
1,301,454

1,746,987
(1,462,153}
(230.810)
54,024

5,362,798

PY of future
cash flows

KShs'000’

3,672,198

65.68
65,689

(133,347)
9,174
48,747

{202.453)
(277,879)

(212,190

(66.7686)
15,450
(263,506)

1,435,512
{1,451,415)
{135.168)
(151,071)

3.257.621

2023
Risk

adjustment CSM
KShs'000’ KShs'000’
62,031 393,727
- {91,508)
(17,378) -
(17,378) (91,508)
54,824 78,523
16,648 -
{76,671) -
22,679 224 038
17,480 302,561
102 211,053
9,057 67,722
611 5.396
9,770 284,171
71,801 677,898

Total
KShs'000Q?

4,127,956

(91,508)
(17,378)

65,689
(43,197)

25,822
27,924)
44,264
42,162

(1,035)

10,013
21.457
30,435

1,435,512
(1,451,415)
(135,168}
(151,071}

4,007,320




THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

44.  LIFE INSURANCE CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued)

Impact of contracts recognised in the year

Ordinary life

Insurance contracts issued

Estimates of the PV of future cash outflows
- Insurance acquisition cash flows

- Claims and other attributable expenses
Estimates of the PV of future cash outflows

Estimates of the PV of future cash inflows
Risk adjustment for non-financial risk
CSMm

Increase in insurance contract liabilities

Amounts determined on transition to IFRS 17
Insurance revenue and the CSM by transition method

Ordinary life

Insurance contracts issued

Insurance revenue

CSM as at 1 January
Changes that relate to cument service
CSM recognised in profit or loss

Changes that refate to future senvice
Changes in estimates that adjust the CSM
Contracts initiaily recognised in the period
Experience Adjustments

Total changes

Insurance finance expenses
Translation differences
Total amounts recognised in
comprehensive Income

{SM as at 31 December

2024 2023
Non-onerpus Onerous Non-onerous Onerous
contracts contracis contracts contracts
otiginated originated Total originated otiginated Total
KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000
200,056 76,440 276,496 127,130 57572 184,702
284,481 113,374 407,855 187,134 122,306 309.440
494,537 189,814 684,351 314,264 179,878 494,142
(952,015} (165,038) (1,117,053) (555,674) (140,921} {696,595)
30,688 4,860 35,548 17,372 5,307 22,679
426,790 - 426,790 224,038 - 224,038
- 29,636 29.636 - 44,264 44,264
2024 2023
Contracts Total Contracts Total
under the Contracts under underthe Contracts under
full retrespective  the fairvalue full retrospective  the fair value
approach approach approach approach
at fransition at transition at transition at transition
KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000
562,742 - 562,742 418,460 37,915 456,375
546,412 131,486 677,898 302,425 91,302 393,727
{117,698} (14,034 (131,732) (73,510 {17,998} {91,508}
(61,175) 161,854 100,679 26,865 51,658 78,523
405,409 21,381 426,790 224,038 - 224,038
(18,389) {217,270} {235,659) - - -
208,147 (48,069) 160,078 177,393 33,660 211,053
135,823 17,070 152,843 61,198 6,524 67,722
{7.790) - (7.790) 5.396 - 5.396
336,180 (30,999 305,181 243,987 40,184 284,171
882,592 100,487 983,079 546,412 131,486 677,898

150




THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSID!ARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)

FORTHEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

44.  LIFE INSURANCE CONTRACT LIABILITIES {continued)

Reconciliation of the liability for remaining coverage (LRC} and fability for incurred claims (LIC) - Insurance contracts issued

Group life

Net insurance contract
liabilities / (assets} at
1Jan

Insurance revenue
Insurance service
expenses

Insttance finance
expenses
Hyperinflation
Translation differences
Total changes in the
comprehensive income
Cash flows:

Premiums received
Claims and other
expenses paid
Insurance acquisition
cash flows

Total cash flows

Net insurance contract
ilabilities /(assets) at
31Dec

Liability for remaining

coverage {LRC}

LRC exctl. loss Loss
component  component
Kshs'000Q KShs'000'
5,366,589 152,390
{7,260,170) -
540,949 (22.726)
(6,619,221) (22,726}
1,007,331 8,558
32,021 (823)
102,383 {7.731)

5,681,652 22,722
7,138,716 -
{688.796) -
6,449,920 -
6,134,857 129,668

LIC for
contracts not
measured
under PAA

KShs'000’

285,189

1,092,694
1,092,694

47,002
(7,045)
(5.426)

1,127,225

{984,809)

(984,809)

2024

LIC for contracts measured

under PAA
PV of future Risk
cash flows adjustment
KShs'000' KShs'000’
2,404,998 17,767
3.613.401 (10,996}
3,613,401 (10,996)
240,861 566
(10,984) (237)
{7.241) (1,346)
3,836.037 (12.013)
{4,105,409) -
(4,105,409) -
2,135,626 65,754

Liability for remaining

coverage (LRC)
Total

LRC excl. loss Loss
Total component  component
KShs'000 KShs’000’ KShs'00¢
8,286,933 4,307,246 72,935
(7,260,170) (6,535,833) -
5,313.322 602.895 66,375
(1,946,848) (5,932,938) 66,375
1,304,918 417,544 8,331
12,932 - -

(124,127) 16,518 4,74
(753.125) (5,498.876) 79.455
7,138,716 7,151,726 -
(5,090,218} - -
688,796 593,507 -
1,359,702 6,558,219 -
8.893.510 5,366,589 152,390

151

LIC for
contracts not
measured
under PAA

KShs'000’

220,334

1,322,900
1,322,900

18,554

(S 3

1

|

1,342,199

(1,277,344)

(1,277,344)

285,189

2023 Restated

Liability for incurred claims

PV of future
cash flows
KShs'00¢!

1,915,362

4.080.824
4,080,824

97,823

(10.557)

4,188,090

(3,678,454)

(3,678,454)

2.404.998

Risk
adjustment
KShs'000’

46,669

77,767

Total
KShs'000’

6,562,546

(6,535,833)

6,106,149
{(429,684)

542,024
9,626
121,966
7,151,726
(4,955,798)

{593,507)
1,602,421

8.286.933



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIBIARIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

44.  LIFEINSURANCE CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued)

Reconciliation of the measurement components of insurance contract balances

Group life

Net insurance contract liahilities / (assels) at 1 Jan
Changes that refate to current sevice

CSM recognised in profit or loss for the services provided

Change in the risk adjustment for non- financial risk
Experience adjustments

Changes that relate to future service

Changes in estimates that adjust the CSM
Changes in estimates that do not adjust the CSM
Experience adjustments

Contracts initially recognised in the period

Total changes

Insurance finance expenses

Translation differences

Total changes in the comprehensive income
Cash flows:

Premiums received

Claims and other expenses paid

Insurance acquisition cash flows

Total cash flows

Net insurance contract liabilities /(assets} at 31 Dec

PV of future Risk
cash flows adjustment
KShs'000’ KShs'000°

2,570,682 117,561

- (49,479}
(253.886) {25.699)
(253,886) (75,178}
(448,3189) 88,999
(378) 26,783
19,396 (113,813)
(848.443) 48,920
(1,277,744) 51,089
(1,531,630) {24.089)
577,651 26,128
{67.829} (4,889)
(1,021,808} 2,850

1,691,026 -
(793,931} -
(127,808} z

769,289 -

2,318,063 114.71%

2024

CSM
KShs'000'

1,871,521
{636,099)

(1.907)
(638,006)

359,320
43,610
847,820
1,250,750
612,744

409,744
33.965

2,860,044

152

Total
KShs'000'

4,559,664

(636,099)

(49,479)
(281.492)
(967,070)

26,405
(50,607)
48,297
24,095
(942,975)

1,013,523

{106.683)
36.135

1,691,026
(793,931)
{127.806)

769,289

5,292.818

PV of future
cash flows
KShs' 000’

2,450,573

{170.621)
(170,621)

{35,624)
2,259
46,843
1,050,090}
(1,036,612}
(1,207,233}

151,954
{34.864)
(1,090.143)

2,423,692
(1,071,979)
(141.561)
1,210,152

2.570.582

2023
Risk
adjustment CsM
KShs'000'  KShs'000'
82,542 1,043,357
- (387,000)
(61,686) i
(61,686)  (387,000)
59,842 (24,218)
55,440 .
(92,523) .
54,884  1.084.217
77,643 1,009,999
15,957 622,999
16,786 234,886
2276 (29.721)
35,019 828,164
117,561 1,871,521

Total
KShs'Q00Q’

3,576,472

(387,000)

(61,686)
(170.621)
(619,307)

57,699
(45,680)
39,011
51,630
(568.,277)

403,626

(62,309)
(226.960)

2,423,692
(1,071,979)
(141,561)
1,210,152

4,559,664



THE CiC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continwed)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

44, LIFE INSURANCE CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued)

Impact of contracts recognised in the year

Group life

Instrance contracts issted

Estimates of the PV of future cash outflows
- Insurance acquisition cash flows

- Claims and other attributable expenses
Estimates of the PV of future cash outilows

Estimates of the PV of future cash inflows
Risk adjustment for non-financial risk
CSM

Increase in insurance contract liabilities

Non-onerous
contracts
originated
KShs'000

125,721
596,764
722,485

(1,598,416)
28,111
847,820

Amounts determined on transition to IFRS 17
Insurance revenue and the CSM by transition methed

Group life

Insurance contracts issued

Insurance revenue

CSM as at 1 January
Changes that relate to cumrent service
CSM recognised in profit or loss

Changes that relate to future senvice
Changes in estimates that adjust the CSM
Experience adjustments

Contracts initially recognised in the period
Total changes

Insurance finance expenses
Total amounts recognised in
comprehensive income
Translation differences

CSM as at 31 December

Contracts

under the

full retrospective
approach

at transition
KShs'000

514,395
1,871,521
(636,099)

359,320

41,703

847,820

612,744

409.744
1,022,488

(33,965)

2,860,044

2024
Onerous
contracts
originated
KShs'000

111,193
361,067
472,260

(444,772)
20,809

48,291

2024

Contracts under
the fairvalue
approach

at transition
KShs'000

1,255,753

[

153

Non-onerous
contracts
Total originated
KShs'000 KShs'000
236,914 170,977
957,831 865,874
1,194,745 1,036,851
{2,043,188) (2,102,752)
48,820 31,684
847,820 1,034,217
LA8.297 :
Total Contracts
under the
full retrospective
approach
at transition
KShs'000 KShs'000
1,770,148 1,259,176
1,871,521 1,043,357
(636,099) (387,000}
359,320 (24,218)
41,703
847,820 1.034.217
612,744 622,999
409,744 234,886
1,022,488 857,885
(33.965) (29,721)
2,860,044 1,871,521

2023
Onerous
contracts
originated
KShs'000

121,782
381,159
502,941

(487,130)
23,200

39,011

2023

Contracts under
the fair value
approach

at transition
KShs'000

639,620

Total
KShs'000

292,759
1,247,033
1,539,792

(2,589,882}
54,884
1,034217

39,011

Jotal

KShs'000
1,898,796
1,043,357

(387,000)

{24,218)

1,034,217
622,999

234,886
857.885
(29.721)

1.871.521



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
FOR THEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

45,

DIRECT PARTICIPATING FEATURES CONTRACTS

Reconciliation of the liability for remaining coverage (LRC) and liability for incurred claims (LIC) - [nsurance contracts issued

Direct participating

Net insurance contract liabilities / (assets) at 1
Jan

Insurance revenue
Insurance service expenses:
Incurred claims and other attributable expenses

Insurance sefvice expenses

Insurance finance expenses
Transiaticn differences

Total changes in the comprehensive income
Other movements:

Investment component

Liability for guarantee

Cash flows:

Contributions received

Interest received

Withdrawais and other expenses paid
Total cash flows

Net insurance contract liabilities /(assets) at
31Dec

Liability for remaining
coverage (LRC)
KShs'000'

10,870,586

{1.681,317)
{1,081,317)

40,290
5,341,003

2,927,647

(3.163.029%)
5,105,621

14.935.180

2024

Liability for incurred
claims

KShs'000’

154

Total
KShs'000"

10,870,586

{1.081,317)
{1.081,317)

40,250
5,341,003

2,927,647

(3.163,029)
5,105,621

14,935,180

Liability for remaining
coverage (LRC)
KShs'000

8,093,272

(629,272)

(629,272)

(348,925}
{978,197}

675,389
130,479

2,927,071
753,268

(730,705}
2,949,634

10,870,687

2023
Liability for incurred
claims

KShs'000'

Total
KShs'000

8,003,272

(629,272)

675,399
48,127

(348,925)
(302.798)

130,479
2,927,071

753,268

(730,705)
2,949,634

10,870,587



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

486,

2024

Amounts recoverable on
incurred claims

REINSURANCE CONTRACT ASSETS
Recongciliation of the remaining coverage and incurred claims - Reinsurance contracts held
Non-medical
Assets for remaining
coverage (ARC)
ARC excl.
foss Loss
recovery recovery PV of future
component  component cash flows
KShs'000" KShs’000’ KShs'000"
Net reinsurance contract
assets/(liabilities) at 1
Jan 734,344 12,301 1,632,036
Reinsurance expenses 2,774,366 - -
Incurred claims recovery (187,455) - (751,235)
Losses recovery - 2,176 -
Changes to recoveries = = -
Net income / (expense) from
reinsurance contracts held 2,686,911 2,176 (751,235)
Reinsurance finance income - - (185,722)
Hyperinfiationary adjustmen (3,183) 233 6,949
Translation differences 162.336 1,291 (110,710)
Total changes in the
comprehensive income 2,746,064 3,700 (1,040,718}
Cash flows:
Reinsurance premiums paid (4,298,557) - 107,834
Reinsurance receipts 180,402 - 1,146.174
Total cash flows (4,118,155) - 1,254,008
Net reinsurance contract
assets/ (liabilities) at 31
Dec 2,106,435 8,601 1.418.748

Liahility for

Risk  unamortise
adjustment  d premijum
KShs'000'  KShs'000’
37,001 (13,586)
6.46 (587,089)
6,464  (587,089)
(361) -

76 -

1.407 26,868
7586  (560,221)

= 624,751

- 624,751

29.415 (78,116)

Total
KShs'000’

2,402,096
2,774,366
(938,690}

2,176
{580.625}

1,257,227
(186,083)
4,075
81,192

1,156,411
(4,190,723)

1.851.327
(2,239,396}

3,485,081

155

Assets for remaining

2023

Amounts recoverable on

incurred claims

coverage (ARC}

ARC excl.

loss
recovery lossrecovery PV offuture
component component cash flows
1,514,358 13,681 1,791,171
3,331,252 - -
- - (196,006}
- 3,064 -
3,331,252 3,064 (196,006}
- - (109,309}
{175,658} (1.684} 22.058
3,155,594 1,380 (283,257)
(2,375,580) - -

- - 442 39

(2,375,580) - 442,392
734.344 12,301 1,632,036

Risk
adjustment

35,840

=

(3%
] 153
(=}

223

{1.764)

(1,161)

Liability for
unamortise
d premium Total
{265,895} 3,089,155
- 3,331,252
- (196,006)
- 3,064
(948,342} (947.962)
(948,342} 2,190,348
- (109,086)
7.300 (149,748)
(941,042} 1,931,514
- (2,375,580)
688.733 1,131,125
688,733 (1,244,455)
{13.586) 2,402,096



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TC THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

48.

REINSURANCE CONTRACT ASSETS (continued)

Reconciliation of the remaining coverage and incurred claims ~ Reinsurance contracts held

Medical

Net reinsurance contract
assets/(liabilities) at 1

Jan

Reinsurance expenses
Incurred claims recovery
Losses recovery

Changes to recoveries

Net income / (expense) from
reinsurance contracts held
Reinsurance finance income
Hyperinflationary adjustmen
Translation differences
Total changes in the
comprehensive income
Cash flows:

Reinsurance premiums paid
Reinsurance receipts

Total cash flows

Net reinsurance contract
assets/(Habilities) at 31
Bec

Assefs for remaining

coverage {ARC)

ARC excl.
foss Loss
recovery recovery
component  component
KShs'000 KShs'000"
(1,828) -
{60,600) -
- {1,361)
{60,600} (1,361)
{28,302} -
23,834 -
(65,068) {1361}
(5,757) -
5,757 N
68.997 1,361

2024

Amounts recoverabie on
incurred claims

PV of future
cash flows
KShs'000’

65,679
(63,018

(63,018)

18,380

{44,638)

Risk
adjustment
KShs'000’

181

—
[ S

105

fe

Liability for
unamortise
d premium
KShs'00¢Q"

5,576

4.070

4,070

(1,613)
3231

112

Total

KShs'000

69,608
(60,600)
(63,018)
(1,361)
4175

{120,804)

(29,915)
45,445

{105.274)

156

(5,757)
85,943
80,186

Assets for remaining
coverage (ARC)

ARC excl.

loss
recovery  Loss recovery
component component

355,499 -

355,499 -

6

=}
1

356,138 =
{353,609) -

(353,609) A

{(1.828) -

2023
Amounts recoverable on
incurred claims

PV of future Risk
cash flows adjustment

35,496 82
(242,802) ;
=z {99}
(242,902) @9)
4,007 -
(238.895) (99)
208,712 -
208,712 -
65.679 181

Liability for
unamortise
d premium

(101}

{5,697}

5,697}

Total

36,178
355,499
(242,902}

{5,796}

106,801

(353,609)
208,712
(144,897)



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
FOR THEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

48,

REINSURANCE CONTRACT ASSETS (continued)

Reconciliation of the remaining coverage and incurred claims ~ Reinsurance contracts held

Group life

Net refnsurance contract
assets/(liabitities) at 1

Jan

Reinsurance expenses
Incurred claims recovery
Losses recovery

Changes to recoveries

Net income / (expense} from
reinsurance contracts held
Reinsurance finance income
Hyperinflationary adjustmen
Translation differences
Total changes in the
comprehensive income
Cash flows:

Reinsurance premiums paid
Reinsurance receipts

Total cash flows

Net reinsurance contract
assets/(liabilities) at 31
Pec

Assets for remaining

coverage {ARC)

ARC excl.
foss Loss
recovery recovery
component  component
KShs'000 KShs'000
128,379 16,670
1,246,485 -
- 1,014
1,246,485 1,014
(14,152) 3,939
1,388 327
27,239 110
1,260,960 5,390
(2,388,613) -
586,075 -
(1,802,538) -
669,957 11,280

2024
Amounts recoverable on
incurred claims

PV of future Risk
cash flows adjustment
KShs'000 KShs'00Q’
1,098,830 18,410
(629,721) -

- 10,15
(629,721) 10,157
(89,964) (126}
{2,090) 13
4,190 521
{717,585) 10,565
35,242 -
989,205 -
1,024,447 -
791,968 7,845

|iability for
unamortise
d premium
KShs'00%°

Assets for remaining

coverage (ARC)
ARC excl.
loss

recovery  Loss recovery
Total component component

KShs'000'
1,262,289 267,499 2,928
1,246,485 1,313,611 -
(629,721} - -
1,014 - (15,401}
10,157 - z
627,935 1,313,011 (15,401)
{100,303) (15,335) 2,177
{362) - -
32,060 (2,376) (518)
559,330 1,295,300 (13,742)
(2,353,371) (1,629,462) -
1,575,280 473,282 -
(778,091) (1,156,180} -
1,481,050 128 379 16,670

157

2023
Amounts recoverable on
incurred claims

PV of future Risk
cash flows adjustment
330,858 1,203
(1,518,015} -
- {17,128}
{1,518,015) (17,128}
(30,311 73
4.341) 152
(1,552,667) (17,207)
784,695 =
784,695 -
1,098,83G 18.410

Liability for
unamortise
d premium

X

Total

602,488
1,313,011
(1,518,015)
{15,401)
{17.128)

(237,533)
(43,396)

{7.387)
{288,316}
(1,629,462)

1,257,977
(371,485)

1.262.289



THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND TS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

47.  NOTES ¥O THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

{a) GROUP

Notes

Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash generated from operations:

Profit before income tax

Expected credit losses

Interest income

Dividend income

Amortisation of government securities and accrued interest
Interest expense

Depreciation on property and equipment

Elimination of depreciation on disposai

Elimination of depreciation on revaluation

Interest on leases

Interest receivable on mortgage and other loans

Fair value gains on revaluation on investment property
Share of profits of associate

Amortisation of intangible assets

Amortisation of corporate bond

Fair value loss on equity investment at fair value through prefit or
loss

Fair value gain on collective investment schemes
Amortisation of right of use assets

Working capital changes;

Increase in insurance contract labilities
Increase in other receivables
{Increase)/decrease in loan receivables
increase in other payables

increase in investment contract liabilities
Decrease in reinsurance contract assets
Movement in related party balances

Cash generated from operations

*ECL - Expected Credit Losses

158

9(d)
6

6

21
39
13 (a)
13 (a)
13 (a)
14(a)

15
18
16(a)
20

25

26(a)
14{a)

2024
K5hs'000
3,993,720

{16,843)
(6,046,353)
(46,515)
{(42,557)
577,215
97,790
(5986)

29,235
{5,969)
(1,010,000)
(1,518)
60,707
1,018

(169,541)
(17,363)
79,454

7,614,828
(76,047)
35,351
450,207
{42,349)
(1,324,729)
(70.766)

4.068.379

2023
KShs’000
2,543,993

5,399
(2,630,218)
(48,177)
(74,443)
488,799
80,066
(34,622)
(5,850)
29,023
(6,135)
(132,383)
3,035
57,589
(460)

134,364
(15,874}
76,426

5,191,165
(226,179)
(34,532)
338,879
4,252
(6,172)
(37,889)

5,700.056



THE CIC INSURANCESs GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

47. NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
(b} Company

Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash generated from operations:

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACHVITIES

(Loss)/profit before income tax

Adjustments for:

Expected credit losses (note 8(d))

Interest income

Interest expense

Depreciation on property and equipment
Related party loan interest expenses

Interest receivable on mortgage and other loans
Fair value gain on collective investment schemes
Fairvalue gain on investment properties

Share of profits of associate

Gain on disposal of property and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets

Appropriation of profits

Dividend income

Working capital changes;

Increase in other receivables

Decrease in related party balances
Increase/{decrease) in other payables

Increase in related party loan payables

Cash generated from / (used in) operations
¢) Net debt reconciliation

This section sets out an analysis of net debt;
Group

Cash and cash equivalents

Gross debt - Lease liability

Gross debt - Borrowings

Net debt

Company

Cash and cash equivalents
Gross debt - related party loan
Gross debt - Borrowings

Net debt

Notes

10
13(b)

26 (b

16(b)

6

48
14 (@)

48
28
39

The movements in net debt for each of the periods presented have been included in note 39.

2024
KShs'000

618,593

367
(5,547)
564,613
24,677
40,131
(1,161)
(1,910)
(1,010,000)
{1,518)
299
23,856

(385,000)
19,722
(372,431)
313,340
438,498

266,529

10,617,580
{199,533)
(5,271.369)

4,546,678

44,234
(751,705)
(5,165,766)

5,873,237

2023
KShs'000

{186,292)

201
(7,646)
482,176
19,246
35,060
(1,319)
(2,246)

10,230

26,046
(16,151)
(465,000)

(19,013)
22,466
182,320

80,078

4,865,824
{309,577)
(5.081.164)

524917

41,527
(273,076)
(4.955.891)

(5,187,440)

The Company has started selling of the investment properties it holds to generate cashflows for repayment of its outstanding

debt. Refer to note 39.
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

48. CASHAND CASH EQUHVALENTS

Notes 2024 2023
Cash and cash equivalents comprise of: KShs'000 KShs'000
GROUP

Cash and bank balances 823,330 281,765
Depasits with banks - ariginal maturity; maturing within 3 months 23 9,194,250 4,584,058
10,017,580 4,865,824

COMPANY
Cash and bank balances 44,234 41,527
Deposits with banks - original maturity; maturing within 3 months 29 - -
44,234 41,527

The cash and cash equivalents disclosed above and in the statement of cash flows include KShs 42,557,000 which are held by
CIC Group. These deposits relate to amounts received into an escrow account with Co-operative Bank of Kenya for the ongoing sale
of the Kiambu land and are therefore not available for general use by the other entities within the group.

49. INVESTMENT CONTRACT LIABILITIES

a) GROUP Liability for remaining coverage {LRC)
2024 2023

KShs'00¢ KShs'000’
Net investment contracts liabilities at % January 141,273 137.0
Cash flows:
Net withdrawats paid / {(contributions received) 42,349 {4,252)
Total cash flows 42,349 4,252
Net investment contracts liabitities at 31 December {98,924) 141273
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THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

49. WEIGHTED AVERAGE EFFECTIVE INTEREST RATES

The table befow summarises the weighted average effective interest rates realised during the year on the principal interest-bearing

investments:

GROUP Interest 2024 2023

% %
Government securities Fixed 13.46 13.03
Corporate bords Fixed 12,57 12.57
Mortgage loans Fixed 6.00 6.00
Staffioans Fixed 6.00 6.00
Policy loans Fixed 8.00 8.00
Deposits with financial institutions Fixed 15.39 13.05
Cash and cash equivalents Fixed 7.00 7.00

50. CONTIGENCIES AND COCMMITMENTS
a. legal proceedings and regulations

The group operates in the insurance industry and is subject to legal proceedings in the normal course of business. While it is
not practicable to forecast or determine the results of all pending or threatened legal proceedings, management does not
believe that such proceedings (inciuding litigation) will have a material effect on its results and financial position.

The group is also subject to insurance solvency regulations and has complied with all the solvency regulations except CIC
Life Uganda which was below the minimum capital requirement as per the insurance regulatory commission of Uganda. There
are no contingencies associated with the Group and the Company's compliance or lack of compliance with such regulations.

b. Commitments, operating feases and bank guarantees

Commitments

Capital expenditure committed at the end of the reporting period but not recognised in the financial statements is as follows:

2024 2023
KShs'G00 KShs’000
Committed but not contracted for 4413 459,119
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
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51,  CONTIGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS (continued)
b. Commitments, operating leases and bank guarantees (continued)

Operating leases

The group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment property portfolio, consisting of the group's
surplus office buildings. These non-cancellable leases have remaining terms of between fwo and five years. All leases

include a clause to enable upward revision of the rental charge on an annual basis according to prevailing market
conditions

Future minimum lease rentals receivable under non-canceilable operating leases as at 31 December are as follows:

2024 2023

KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000

Within one year 81,959 90,524
After one year but not more than two years 31,380 80,855
After two year but not more than five years 55027 41.805
Total operating lease rentals receivable 168,366 213,184

The group has entered inte commercial leases on certain property and equipment. These leases have an average life of
between three and five years, with no renewal option included in the contracts. There are no restrictions ptaced upon the
group by entering into the leases.

Bank Guarantees

Bank guarantees 582,220 1,347,213

In common practice with the insurance industry in general, the Group tenders for business. Such tenders require that a
guarantee or performance bond is placed with a bank.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
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52. RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

a.

Governance framework

The primary objective of the group’s risk and financial management framework is to protect the group’s shareholders
from events that hinder the sustainable achievement of financial performance objectives, including failing to exploit
oppartunities. Key management recognises the critical importance of having efficient and effective risk management
systems in place.

The Group has established a risk management function with clear terms of reference from the board of directors, its
committees and the associated executive management committees. This is supplemented with a clear organisational
structure with documented delegated authorities and responsibilities from the board of directors to execufive
management commitiees and senior managers. Lastly, a group policy framework which sets out the risk profiles for the
group, risk management, control and business conduct standards for the group’s operations has been put in place. Each
policy has a member of senior management charged with oversesing compliance with the policy throughout the group.

The board of directors approves the group's risk management policies and meets regularly to approve any commercial,
regulatory and organisational requirements of such policies. These policies define the group’s identification of risk and
its interpretation, limit its structure to ensure the appropriate quality and diversification of assets, align underwriting and
reinsurance strategy to the corporate goals, and specify reporting reguirements.

Capital management objectives, poficies and approach

The group has established the following capital management objectives, policies and approach to managing the risks
that affect its capital position:

» To maintain the required level of stability of the group thereby providing a degree of security to policyholders

= To allocate capital efficiently and support the development of business by ensuring that returns on capital employed
meet the requirements of its capital providers and shareholders

* To retain financial flexibility by maintaining strong fiquidity and access to a range of capital markets

= To align the profile of assets and liabilities taking account of risks inherent in the business

= Te maintain financial strength to support new business growth and to satisfy the requirements of the policyholders,
regulators and stakeholders

» To maintain strong credit ratings and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business objectives and maximize
shareholders’ value

The operations of the group are alse subject to regulatory requirements. Such regulations not only prescribe approval
and monitoring of activities, but aiso impose certain restrictive provisions (e.g., capital adequacy at 100%) to minimise
the risk of default and insoivency on the part of the insurance companies to meet unforeseen liabilities as they arise. The
Group has met all of these requirements throughout the financial year. Al the subsidiaries met the capital adequacy
provisions,

In reporting financial strength, capital and selvency are measured using the rules prescribed by the Kenyan Insurance
Regulatory Authority (IRA}. These regulatoty capital tests are based upon required levels of solvency, capital and a series
of prudent assumptions in respect of the type of business written.

The group's capital management policy for its insurance and non-insurance business is to hold sufficient capital to cover
the statetory requirements based on the IRA directives, including any additional amounts required by the regulator,

Approach to capital management

The group seeks to optimise the structure and sources of capital to ensure that i consistently maximises returns to the
shareholders and policyholders.

The group’s approach to managing capital invoives managing assets, liabilities and ¥isks in a coordinated way, assessing
shortfalls between reported and required capital levels on a regular basis and taking appropriate actions to influence the
capital position of the group in the light of changes in ecoromic conditions and risk characteristics. An important aspect
of the group's overall capital management process is the setting of target risk adjusted rates of return, which are aligned
to performance objectives and ensure that the group is focused on the creatton of value for shareholders.

The primary source of capital used by the group is total equity and borvowings. The group also utilises, where it is efficient
to do so, sources of capital such as reinsurance and securitisation, in addition to more traditional sources of funding.
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RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK (continued})

52.

b.

Capital management ohjectives, polictes and approach {(continued)

Approach to capital management (continued)

The capital requirements are routinely forecast on a periodic basis and assessed against both the forecast available
capital and the expected internal rate of return, including risk and sensitivity analyses. The process is ultimately subject
to approval by the Board.

The group has made no significant changes, from previous years, to its policies and processes for its capital structure.

2024 2023

KShs'000 KShs'000

Share capital 2,615,678 2,615,678
Share premium 162,179 162,179
Statutory reserve 2,300,170 1,487,294
Contingency resetve 3,549 138,692
Revaluation surplus 367,956 367,956
Translation reserve (1,025,233) {573,927)
Fairvalue reserve {63,671) (1,522,605)
Retained earnings 6,711,324 5.017.650
Equity attributable the owners of the parent 11,071,852 7,692,817
Non-controlling interest {58.018) (80.639)
Total equity 11.013.834 7,612,178

The Group had external borrowings at 31 December 2024 of KShs 5.3 billien (2023 - Kshs 5.1 biffion}.

Group

Cash and ¢ash equivatents 48 10,017,580 4,865,824
Gross debt - Lease Hability 14 (a) (199,533} (309,577)
Gross debt - Bomrowings 39 (5.271.369) (5.081,164)
Net debt 4,546,678 (524917)
Total equity 12013834 7,612,178
Net debt to equity ratio Q% 1%
Company

Cash and cash equivalents 48 44,234 41,527
Gross debt - related party loan 28 {751,705) {273,076)
Gross debt - Borrowings 39 (5,165,768} (4,955,891)
Net debt {6,873,237) {5,187,440)
Total equity 3.708.454 3,604,898
Net debt to equity ratio 158% 144%
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52.

53.

RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK (continued)

¢.  Regulatory framework {Continued)

Regulators are primarily interested in protecting the rights of policyhelders and monitor them closely to ensure that the
group is satisfactorily managing affairs for their benefit. At the same time, regulators are also interested in ensuring that
the group maintains an appropriate solvency position to meet unforeseen liabilities arising from economic shocks or
natural disasters.

The operations of the group are subject to regulatory requirements within the jurisdictions in which it operates. Such
regulations not only prescribe approval and menitoring of activities, but also impose certain restrictive provisions (e.g.,
capital adequacy) to minimise the risk of default and inselvency on the part of insurance companies to meet unforeseen
liabilities as these arise.

The group is also subject to insurance solvency regulations and has complied with all the solvency regulations except CIC
General Uganda Limited which did not meet the minimum capital requirement at 31 December 2024 as per the insurance
regulatory commission of Uganda. The Group is taking remedial action to ensure this is cured in 2024,

d.  Assetliability management (ALM) framework

Financial risks arise from open positions in interest rate, currency and equity products, alf of which are exposed to general
and specific market movements. The main risk that the group faces, due to the nature of its investments and liabilities,
is interest rate risk. The group manages these positions within an ALM framework that has been developed to achieve
long-term investment returns in excess of its obligations under insurance and investment contracts. The principal
technique of the group’s ALM is o match assets to the liabilities arising from insurance and investment contracts by
reference to the type of benefits payable to contract holders. For each distinct category of Habilities, a separate portfolio
of assets is maintained.

The Group's ALM is:

= Integrated with the management of the financial risks associated with the group's other financial assets and
liabilities not directly associated with insurance and investment liabilities

= Asanintegral part of the insurance risk management policy, to ensure in each perlod sufficient cash flow is available
to meet liabilities arising from insurance and investment contracts.

INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK

53.1Insurance

The principal risk the group faces under insurance contracts is that the actual claims and benefit payments or the timing
thereof, differ from expectations. This is infiuenced by frequency of the claims, severity of claims, actual benefits paid and
subsequent development of long-term claims. Therefore, the objective of the group is to ensure that sufficient reserves are
avallable to cover these liabifities.

The risk exposure is mitigated by diversification across large porifolio of insurance contracts and geographical areas. The
variability of risks is also improved by careful selection and implementation of underwriting strategy guidelines as well as the
use of reinsurance arrangements.

The group purchases reinsurance as a part of its risks mitigation programme. Reinsurance ceded Is placed on both a
proportional and a non-proportional basis. The majority of proportional reinsurance is quota-share reinsurance which is taken
out to reduce the overall exposure of the group fo certain classes of business. Non-proportional reinsurance is primarily
excess-of-loss reinsurance designed o mitigate the group's net exposure to catastrophe losses. Retention limits for the
excess-of-loss reinsurance vary by product fine and territory.
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b3,

INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK (CONTINUED)

53.1 Insurance (Continued)

Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are estimated in a manner consistent with the outstanding claims provision and are in
accordance with the reinsurance contracts. Although the group has reinsurance arrangements, it is not refieved of its direct
obligations to its policyholders and thus a credit exposure exists with respect to ceded Insurance, to the extent that any
reinsurer is unable to meet its abligations assumed under such reinsurance agreements. The group's placement of reinsurance
is diversified such that it is neither dependent on a single reinsurer nor are the operations of the Group substantially dependent
upon any single reinsurance contract. There is no single counterparty exposure that exceeds 5% of total reinsurance assets at
the reporting date.

¥

Life insurance contracls

Life insurance contracts offered by the group include: whole life and term assurance, Whole life and term assurance are
conventional regular premium products when Jump sum benefits are payable on death or permanent disability. Few
contracts have a surrender value. This includes group life and ordinary life premiums.

Pensions are contracts where retirement benefits are expressed in the form of an annuity payable at retirement age. If
death accurs before retirement, contracts generally return the value of the fund accumulated or premiums. Most contracts
give the policyholder the option at retirement to take a cash sum at guaranteed conversion rates allowing the policyholders
the option of taking the more valuable of the two. Provision of additional death benefits may be provided by cancellation
of units or through supplementary term assurance contracts. This includes the direct participating contracts.

Guaranteed annuities are single premium products which pay a specified payment to the policyhotder whilst they and/or
their spouse are still alive. Payments are generally either fixed or increased each year at a specified rate or in line with the
rate of inflation. Most contracts guarantee an income for a minimum period, usually of five years, irrespective of death,

Death benefits of endowment products are subject to a guaranteed minimum amount. The maturity value usually depends
on the investment performance of the underlying assets. For contracts with DPF, the guaranteed minimum may be
increased by the addition of bonuses. These are set at a level that takes account of expected market fluctuations, such that
the cost of the guarantee is generally met by the investment performance of the assets backing the liability. However, in
circumstances where there has been a significant fall in investment markets, the guaranteed maturity benefits may exceed
investment performance and these guarantees become valuable to the policyholder.
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53. INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK (continued)
53.1 Insurance risk {continued)
1. Life insurance contracts (continued)
The main risks that the Group is exposed to are as follows:

= Mortality risk - risk of loss arising due to policyholder death experience being different than expected
+ Morbidity risk - risk of oss arising due to policyholder health experience being different than expected
* Longevity risk - risk of loss arising due to the annuitant living longer than expected

* Investment return risk - risk of loss atising from actual returns being different than expected

= Expense risk - risk of loss arising from expense experience being different than expected

+ Policyholder decision risk - risk of loss arising due to policyholder experiences (lapses and surrenders) being different than
expecied
These risks do not vary significantly in relation to the location of the risk insured by the Group, type of risk insured or by industry.

The group's underwriting strategy is designed to ensure that risks are well diversified in terms of type of risk and level of insured
benefits. This is largely achieved through diversification across industry sectors, the use of medical screening in order to ensure
that pricing takes account of current health conditions and family medical history, regular review of actual claims experience and
product pricing, as well as detailed claims’ handling procedures. Underwriting limits are in place to enforce appropriate risk
selection criteria. For example, the group has the right not to renew individual policles, it can impose deductibles and it has the
right to reject the payment of fraudulent claims. Insurance contracts also entitle the group to pursue third parties for payment of
some or all costs. The group further enforces a policy of actively managing and promptly pursuing claims, in order to reduce its
exposure to unpredictable future developments that can negatively impact the group.

For contracts for which death or disability is the insured risk, the significant factors that could increase the overall frequency of
claims are epidemics, widespread changes in lifestyle and natural disasters, resulting in earlier or more claims than expected.
Groupwide reinsurance limits of Kshs. 3,000,000 on any single life insured insured are in place.

For annuity contracts, the most significant factor is continued improvement in medical science and social conditions that would
increase longevity. For contracts with DPF, the participating nature of these contracts results in a significant portion of the
insurance risk being shared with the insured party. For contracts without DPF, the Group charges for death and disability risks on
a yearly basis. Under these contracts the group has the right to alter these charges to take account of death and disability
experience, thereby mitigating the risks to the group

The insurance risk described above is also affected by the contract holder’s right to pay reduced premiums or no future premiums,
to terminate the contract completely or to exercise guaranteed annuity options. As a result, the amount of insurance risk is also
subject to contract holder behavior.
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53. INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK (continued)
53.1 Insurance risk {contintied)

1. Life insurance contracts {continued)

The following tables show the concentration of life insurance contract liabilities and investment contract liabilities by type of contract.

Gross Reinsurance*
Insurance Direct Total insurance Reinsurance .
contract N contract Net liabilities

liabilities ~ Participating fiabilties assets
31 December 2024

Kshs'000 Kshs'000 Kshs'000 Kshs'000 Kshs'000
Ordinary life 5,362,798 - 5,362,798 2,105 5,364,903
Group life 8,893,510 - 8,893,510 (1,481,050} 7,412,460
Total insurance liabilities 14,256,308 - 14,256,308 (1,478,945) 12,777,363
Deposit administration - 14,935,180 14,935,180 14,935,180
Total 14,256,308 14,935,180 29,191,488 (1,478,945} 27,712,543

Gross Reinsurance™®
Insurance Direct Total insurance Reinsurance
contract - contract Net liabilities

liabilities  Parteipating liabilities assets
31 December 2023

Kshs'000 Kshs'000 Kshs'000 Kshs'000 Kshs'000
Ordinary life 4,007,320 - 4,007,320 - 4,007,320
Group life 8,286,933 - 8,286,933 (1,262,289) 7,024,644
Total insurance liabilities 12,294 253 - 12,294,253 (1,262,289} 11,031,964
Deposit administration - 10,870,586 10,870,586 - 10,870,586
Total 12,294,253 10,870,586 23,164,839 {(1,262,289) 21,902,550

* The direct participating contracts (deposit administration} are not reinsured,
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53. INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK (continued)

53.1 insurance risk (continued)

1, Life insurance contracts {continved)

Key Assumptions

Material judgment is required in determining the liabitities and in the choice of assumptions. Assumptions in use are based on
past experience, current internal data, external market indices and benchmarks which reflect current observable market prices
and other publfished information. Assumptions and prudent estimates are determined at the date of valuation and no credit is
taken for possible beneficial effects of voluntary withdrawals, Assumptions are further evaluated on a continuous basis in order
to ensure realistic and reasonable valuations.

The key assumptions to which the estimation of liabilities is particularly sensitive are, as follows:

Mortality and morbidity rates

Assumptions are based on standard industry and national tables, according to the type of contract written, They reflect recent
historical experience and are adjusted when appropriate to reflect the group’s own experiences. An appropriate, but not
excessive, prudent allowance is made for expected future improvements. Assumptions are differentiated by sex, underwriting
class and contract type. An increase in rates will lead to a larger number of claims (and claims could occur sooner than
anticipated), which will increase the expenditure and reduce profits for the shareholders.

Longevity

Assumptions are based on standard industry and national tables, adjusted when appropriate to reflect the group’s own risk
experience. An appropriate, but not excessive, prudent allowance is made for expected future improvements. Assumptions
are differentiated by sex, underwriting class and coniract type. An Increase in longevity rates wiil lead to an increase in the
number of annuity payments to be made, which will increase the expenditure and reduce profits for the shareholders.

[nvestment return

The weighted average rate of return is derived based on a modet portfolio that is assumed to back liabilities, consistent with
the long~term asset allocation strategy. These estimates are based on current market returns as weli as expectations about
future economic and financial developments. An increase in investment return would lead to an increase in profits for the
shareholders,

Expenses

Operating expenses assumptions reflect the projected costs of maintaining and senvicing in-force policies and associated
overhead expenses. The current level of expenses is taken as an appropriate expense base, adjusted for expected expense
inflation if appropriate, An increase in the level of expenses would result in an increase in expenditure, thereby reducing
profits for the shareholders.

Lapse and surrender rates

Lapses relate to the termination of policies due to non-payment of premiums. Surrenders relate to the voluntary termination
of policies by policyholders. Policy termination assumptions are determined using statistical measures based on the group's
experience and vary by product type, policy duration and sales trends. An increase in lapse rates early in the life of the policy
would tend to reduce profits for shareholders, but later increases are broadly neutral in effect.

Discount rate

Life insurance liabilities are determined as the sum of the discounted value of the expected benefits and future
administration expenses directly related to the contract, less the discounted value of the expected theoretical premiums that
would be required to meet these future cash outflows. Discount rates are based on current industry risk rates, adjusted for
the group's own risk exposure. A decrease in the discount rate will increase the value of the insurance liability and therefore
reduce profits for the shareholders.
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53. INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK (continued)
53.1 Insurance risk (continued)

1. Life insurance contracts (continued)
Key Assumptions (continued)

The assumptions that have the greatest effect on the statement of financial position and statement of profit or loss of the
group are listed below:

Mortality and Morbidity rates Discount
rates/Investment
return
2024 2023 2024 and 2023 2022 2021
Insurance YR1 YR2 YR3
contracts LAPSE LAPSE LAPSE
Annuities*® KE 2007 - KE 2007 - - - - 13.2% 13.2%

2010Tables 2010Tables
for Assured for Assured

Lives Lives
Life KE 2007 - KE 2007 - 15% 10% 5% Yield Yield
assurance* 2010 Tables 2010 Tables curve curve
for Assured for Assured
Lives Lives

Valuation age is taken as the number of complete years of age “curtate age” at the date of valuation. The period of valuation
has been taken as the original term to maturity less curtate duration at the valuation date
* The Anniiities and life assurance balances are included fnn the fife insurance contract liabilities.

Sensitivities

The following analysis is performed for reasonably pessible movements in key assumptions with all other assumptions held
constant, showing the impact on gross labilities. The correlation of assumptions will have a significant effect in determining
the ultimate claims fiabilities, but to demonstrate the impact due to changes in assumptions, assumptions had to be changed
on an individual basis.

it should be noted that movements in these assumptions are non -linear. Sensitivity information will also vary according to the
current economic assumptions, mainly due to the impact of changes to both the intrinsic cost and time value of options and
guarantees. When options and guarantees exist, they are the main reason for the asymmetry of sensitivities. The method used
for deriving sensitivity information and significant assumptions made did not change from the previous period. The sensitivity
analysis is presented in note 2 (B).
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53, INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK (continued)
53.1Insurance risk (continued)
2. Non-fife insurance contracts

The Group principally issues the following types of general insurance contracts; motor, household, commercial and business
interruption. Healthcare contracts provide medical expense coverage to policyholders and are not guaranteed as renewable. Risks
under non-life insurance policies usuaily cover twelve months duration,

For general insurance contracts, {the most significant risks arise when there is fire, motor accidents, property losses or medical
claims for longer tail claims that take some years to settle, there Is also inflation risk. For healthcare contracts, the most significant
risks arise from lifestyle changes, epidemics and medical science and technology improvements, These risks do not vary significantly
in relation to the location of the risk insured by the group, type of risk insured and by industry.

The above risk exposure is mitigated by diversification across a large portfolio of insurance contracts. The variabllity of risks Is
improved by careful selection and implementation of underwriting strategies, which are designed to ensure that risks are diversified
in terms of type of risk and level of insured benefits. This is largely achieved through diversification across industry sectors.
Furthermore, strict claim review policies to assess all new and ongoing claims, regular detailed review of claims handling procedures
and frequent investigation of possible fraudulent claims are all policies and procedures put in place to reduce the risk exposure of
the Group. The group further enforces a policy of actively managing and promptly pursuing claims, in order to reduce its exposure to
unpredictable future developments that can negatively Impact the business. Inflation risk is mitigated by taking expected inflation
into account when estimating insurance contract liabllities.

The group uses commercially available proprietary risk management software to assess catastrophe exposure. However, there is
always a risk that the assumptions and techniyues used in these models are unreliable or that claims arising from an unmodelled
event are greater than those arising from a modelled event.

The group has also Limited its exposure by imposing maximum claim amounts on certain contracts as well as the use of reinsurance
arrangements in order to limit exposure to catastrophic.

The purpose of these underwriting and reinsurance strategies Is to limit exposure to catastrophes based on the group’s risk appetite
as decided by management. The overall aim is currently to restrict the impact of a single catastrophic event to approximately 50% of
shareholdets’ equity an a gross basis and 10% on a net basis. In the event of such a catastrophe, counterparty exposure to a single
reinsurer is estimated not to exceed 2% of shareholders’ equity. The Board may decide to increase or decrease the maximum
tolerances based on market conditions and other factors.

The table below sets out the concentration of insurance contract liabilities by type of contract:

31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Insurance Reinsurance hsurance Reinsurance
contract Net liabilities contract Net liabilities
N contract assets N contract assets
liabilities liabilities
KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000
Non-medical 7,998,087 (2,402,096) 5,595,991 7,998,087 (2,402,096} 5,595,891
Medical 3,064,351 {69,608) 2,994,743 3,064,351 {69,608} 2,994,743
Total 11,062,438 (2,471,704) 8,590,734 11,062,438 (2,471,704) 8,590,734
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53. INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK {continued)
53.1 Insurance risk (continued)

2. Non-life insurance contracts fcontinued)
Key Assumptions

The principal assumption underlying the liability estimates is that the group’s future claims development will follow a similar
pattern fo past claims development experience. This includes assumptions in respect of average claim costs, cfaim handling
costs, claim inflation factors and claim numbers for each accident year. Additional qualitative judgements are used to assess
the extent to which past trends may not apply in the future, for example: once-off occurrence; changes in market factors such as
pubtic attitude to claiming: economic conditions: as well as internal factors such as portfolio mix, policy conditions and claims
handling procedures. fudgement is further used to assess the extent to which external factors such as judiciat decisions and
government legislation affect the estimates.

Other key circumstances affecting the reliability of assumptiens include variation in interest rates, delays in settlement and
changes in foreign currency rates.

Sensitivities

The non-life insurance claim liabilities are sensitive fo the key assumptions in the table below. It has not been possible to
guantify the sensitivity of certain assumptions such as legislative changes or uncertainty in the estimation process.

The following analysis is performed for reasonably possible movements in key assumptions with all other assumptions held
constant, showing the impact on gross and net liabilities, profit before tax and equity. The correlation of assumptions witl have a
significant effect in determining the uitimate claims liabilities, but to demonstrate the impact due to changes in assumptions,
assumptions had to be changed on an individual basis.

It should be noted that movements in these assumptions are non-linear. The method used for deriving sensitivity information
and significant assumptions did not change from the previous period. The sensitivity analysis is presented in note 2 (B).
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53. INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK {continued)

53.2 Financial risks
a, Creditrisk

Credit risk s the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss to the other party by failing to discharge
an obligation.

The folfowing policies and procedures are in place to mitigate the group’s exposure to credit risk:

*  AGroup credit risk policy which sets out the assessment and determination of what constitutes credit risk for the Group.
Compliance with the policy is monitored and exposures and breaches are reported fo the Group’s audit and risk
committee. The policy is regularly reviewed for pertinence and for changes in the risk environment,

=  Net exposure limits are set for each counterparty or group of counterparties, and industry segment {i.e., limits are set
for investments and cash deposits, and minimem credit ratings for investments that may be held).

= The Group maintains strict contro! limits by amount and terms on net open derivative positions. The amounts subject
to credit risk are limited to the fair value of “in the money” financial assets against which the Group either obtains
coilateral from counterparties or requires margin deposits, Collateral may be sold or repledged by the Group and is
repayable if the contract terminates or the contract’s fair value falls.

»  Reinsurance is placed with counterparties that have a good credit rating and concentration of risk is avoided by
following policy guidelines in respect of counterparties’ limits that are set each year by the board of directors and are
subject to regular reviews. At each reporting date, management performs an assessment of creditworthiness of
reinsurers and updates the reinsurance purchase strategy, ascertaining suitable allowance for impairment.

= The credit risk in respect of customer balances incurred on non-payment of premiums or ontributions will only persist
during the grace period of 120 days specified in the policy decument untif expiry, when the policy is either paid up or
terminated. Commission paid to intermediaries is netted off against amounts receivable from them to reduce the risk
of doubtful debts.

»  The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the statement of financial position at 31 December
2024 and 2023 is the carrying amounts as presented in the statement of financial position.

The Group issues unit-linked investment policies in several its operations. In the unit-linked business, the policyholder bears
the investment risk on the assets held in the unit-linked funds, as the policy benefits are directly linked to the value of the
assets in the fund. Therefore, the Group has no credit risk on unit-ltinked financial assets.

The group actively manages its product mix to ensere that there is no significant concentration of credit risk.

The Group’s internal rating process

The Group's investment team prepares internal ratings for financial instruments (Financial assets at amortised cost-
Government securities, Financial Assets at amortised cost- Corporate Bonds, Financial Assets at amortised cost-Loan and
Receivables, Financial Assets at amortised cost-Commercial Papers, Due from related party, Deposits with financial
institutions, and Cash and bank balances) in which counterparties are rated using internal grades. The ratings are
determined incorporating both qualitative and quantitative information from external party ratings supplemented with
information specific to the counterparty and other external information that could affect the counterparty’s behavior. These
information sources are first used to determine whether an instrument has had a significant increase in credit risk.
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53. INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK {continued)

53.2 Financial risks (continued)

a.  Creditrisk (confinued)

The Group's internal credit rating grades for the ahove assets with exception of staff loans is as described below.
Internal rating grade Internal rating description

High grade

High grade

Standard grade
Sub-standard grade

Past due but not impaired
Individually impaired

WO

Faor staff loans, the credit rating is based on whether the staff s still in employment. The loan is given a ‘high grade’ rating
if the staff is still in employment, and a ‘past due but not impalired’ rating in instances where the staff is no longer employed

with the Group.

The Group's internal credit rating grades is as follows:

Asset class Drivers of change | Qualitative indicators assessed
in credit guality

Recelvabies arising from | 30 days past due Company closure, significant decline in the industry which the client operates,

direct and reinsurance listing on credit reference bureau, inability to service debt, loss of income,

arrangements among others.

Cash at bank and Downgrade to tie Bank closure, bank run, default on debt, credit rating downgrade, material

deposits with financial four adverse mention or investigation, change in bank tier, negative change in debt

institutions ratios, debt covenant breach, regulator actions ameng others.

Government Securities Downgrade from Credit rating downgrade, adverse political instability, military coup / attempt /
investment grade civil turmoil, hyper inflationary trajectory, external war, significant fall in tax
to non-investment } collection rates, significant natural disaster events, warnings from Bretton
grade as per the Woods Institutions, debt restructure, currency devaluation, unemployment rate
external ratings growth among others.

Corporate Debt Defaultin Credit rating downgrades, significant adverse politicat turmoit in countty of major
contractual cash operations, significant fall in revenue collection, significant natural disaster
flows events, debt restructure, material Adverse change (Change in business modei;

significant change in priority staff), significant court process interference on
business model, insolvency, government agency takeover, financial covenant
breach, material representation inaccuracy or warranty breach, material adverse
mention, investigation among others.

Equities - Dividend Defaultin Company closure, default on debt, credit rating downgrade, adverse materiat

Income contractual cash menticn, change in balance sheet debt composition, debt covenant breach,
flows adverse change in business madel, company insolvency among others.

Staff/ Non-Staff Loans Defauitin Listing on credit reference bureau, inability to service debt, loss of income,
contractual death, permanent disability, imprisonment, number of months in arrears among
cashflows others.
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33. INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK (CONTINUED)
53.2  FINANCIAL RiSKS (CONTINUED)

(@) Credit risk (continued)

The Group has monitoring procedures in place to make sure that the criteria used to identify significant increases in credit are
effective, meaning that significant increase in credit risk is identified before the expasure is defaulted. The Company performs
periodic back-testing of its ratings to consider whether the drivers of credit risk that led to default were accurately reflected in the
rating in a timely manner.

Significant increase in credit risk, default and cure

The Group continuously monitors all assets subject to ECLs. In order to determine whether an instrument or portfolio of instruments
(Financial assets at amortised cost- Government securities, Financial Assets at amortised cost- Corporate Bonds, Financial Assets
at amortised cost-Loans, Due from related party, Deposits with financial institutions, Other receivables and Cash and cash
equivalents) is subject to 12mECL or LTECL, the Group assesses whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition,

The Group considers that there has been a significant increase in credit risk when any contractual payments are more than 30 days
past due. In addition, the Group also considers a variety of instances that may indicate unlikeness to pay by assessing whether
there has heen a significant increase in credit risk. When such events occur, the Group carefully considers whether the event should
result in treating the customer as defaulted and therefore assessed as Stage 3 for ECL calculations or whether Stage 2 Is
appropriate. The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due. The Group may also
consider an instrument to be in default when internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts infull. Insuch cases, the Group recognises a lifetime ECL. This more applicable to financial assets
arising from investments with financial institution. Such events include:

Internal rating of the counterparty indicating default or near default for all asset classes

The counterparty having past due liabilities to public creditors or employees for all asset classes except for staff loans.

The counterparty filing for bankruptcy application for all asset classes

Counterparty’s listed debt or equity suspended at the primary exchange because of rumours or facts of financial difficuities for
all asset classes except for staff loans.

The Group considers a financial instrument defaulted and, therefore, credit impaired for ECL calculations in all cases when the
counterparty becomes 90 days past due on its contractual payments. The Group may also consider an instrument to be in default
when internal or external information indicates that the Group s unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full. In
such cases, the Group recognises a lifetime ECL.

In rare cases when an instrument identified as defaulted, it is the Group's policy to consider the financial instrument as “cured”
and therefore re-classified out of credit-impaired when none of the default criteria have been present for at least twelve consecutive
months.

The group actively manages its product mix to ensure there is no significant concentration of credit risk.

Colfaterals and other credit enhancements

The amount and type of colateral required depends on assessment of the credit risk of the counterparty. Guidelines are in place
covering the acceptability and valuation of each collateral, which applies only to staff loan advances. The main type of collaterals
are as follows:

«  For mortgages, legal charge over property to the extent of loan advanced,

s For car loans, the value of the motor vehicle.

Management monitors the market value of the collateral and may request additional collateral in accordance with underlying
agreement.

The Group does rot physically repese properties but engages its legal department in collaboration with external agents to recover
funds to settie outstanding debt. Because of this practice, the properties or motor vehictes are not recorded in the balance sheet
and not treated as non-current asset held for sale.

The fair values of the collaterals equal to the outstanding loan balances at the end of each financial reperting period since the
Group is only interested in recovering the loan balance.
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53. INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK (CONTINUED)
53.2 FINANCIAL RISKS (CONTINUED)

a. Credit risk{continued)
Impairment losses on financial investments subifect fo impairment assessment.

iy Debtinstruments measured at FVOCI

(a} Group
The table below shows the fair values of the group's debt instruments at FVOCI by credit risk, based on the group's internal
credit rating system.
STAGE1  STAGE2 STAGE 3 Total 2024 Total 2023

Internal rating grade KShs'000  KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000
High grade 18,298,733 18,298,733 13,582,244
Standard grade . . . - -
Total gross amount 18,298,733 - - 18,208,733 13,582,244
ECL {1,202} {1,202) (2,870}
Total net amount 18,297,531 - - 18,297,531 13579374
Movement of ECL: STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE 3 Total 2024 Total 2023

KShs'000  KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000
ECL at start of year {(2,870) - - (2,870} -
Charge/{credit through P&L} 1,668 - - 1,668 (2,870
Movement befween 12m ECL and LTECL - - - - -
ECL at end of year {1,202) - - (1.202) (2.870)
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53.  INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK (CONTINUED)

53.2  FINANCIAL RISKS (CONTINUED)

a. Credit risk(continued)
Debt instruments at amortised cost*

The table below shows the credit quaiity and maximum exposure to credit risk hased on the Group’s internal credit rating
system and year end stage classification. The amounts presented are gross of impairment allowances.
Details of the Group’s grading system are explained above.

i}  Financial assets at amortised cost: Carporate bonds

Group

STAGE1  STAGE2 STAGE 3 Total 2024 Total 2023
Internal rating grade Kshs'000  KShs'000 Kshs'000 KShs'000
Performing
High grade 86,368 - - 86,368 6,222
Standard grade - - - - -
Past due but not impaired - - 6,252 6,252 7,258
No#-performing - - - - -
Individuatly impaired - - - - 82,615
Total Gross 86,368 - 6,252 92,620 96,095
ECL - - {3,464} {(3.464) 449
Total Net Amount 86,368 = 2,788 89.156 95,646

An analysis of changes in ECLs is, as follows:

STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE 3 Total 2024  Total 2023
KShs'000  KShs’00D  KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000

ECL as at 1 January - - (449 (449) {83,408
Charge /(credit) through profit or loss . - (3,015} (3,015) 344
White off - - - - 82,615
Movement between 12m ECL and LTECL - - - - -

— - (3.464 (3.464) 449)
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53. INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK (CONTINUED)
53.2  FINANCIAL RISKS (CONTINUED)

4. Credit risk(continued)

iy Financial assets at amortised cost: Government securities

Group

Internal rating grade
Performing

High grade

Standard grade

Past due but not impaired

Non-performing
Individually impaired
Total Gross

ECL

Total Net Amount

STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE3  Total 2024
KShs'C00 KShs’000  KShs'000 KShs'000
10,914,547 - - 10,914,547
10,914,547 - - 10,914,547
(1.488) z = (1.488)
10,913.059 - - 10,913,059

Total 2023
KShs'000Q

10,754,066

10,754,066

(847)
10,753,219

Management assessed that there is low probability of default on these financial instruments as they are sovereign
debts and there has been no history of default from the Government of Kenya. The movement in ECL is as follows:

ECL as at 1 January
Charge/ (credit) through profit or foss

Movement between 12m ECL and ETECL

iv) Financial Assets at amortised cost-Loan receivables

Group

Internal rating grade
Performing

High grade

Standard grade

Past due but not impaired

Non-performing
Individually impaired
Total Gross

ECL

Total Net Amount

ECL at start of year
Charge/{credit) through P&I.

Movement between 12m ECL and LTECL
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STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE3  Total 2024  Total 2023
KShs'000 KShs'000  KShs'00D KShs’000 KShs'000
(847 - (847 {375)
(641) - - (641) (472)
{1,488) - - {1,488) 847
STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE 3 Total 2024  Total 2023
KShs'000 KShs'000  KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000
89,561 . 89,561 124,966
89,561 . . 89,561 124,966
(11,521) . = {11,521) {11,575)
78,040 - = 78,040 113.391
STAGE?  STAGE2 STAGE3  Total2024  Total 2023
KShs’000 KShs’00C  KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs’000
(11,575 - - (11,575) {11,483)
54 - - 54 (112)
(11,521) - - (11,521) {11,575)
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53. INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK {CONTINUED)

53.2  FINANCIAL RISKS (CONTINUED)

4. Credit risk(continued)

v}  Financial Assets af amortised cost-Loan Recelvables

(b} COMPANY
Internal rating grade

Performing

High grade

Standard grade

Past due but not impaired

Non-performing
Individually impaired
Total Gross

ECL

Total Net Amount

Analysis of the ECL is as follows:

ECL as at 1 January
Charge through profit or loss
Movement between 12m ECL and LTECL

STAGE1  STAGE2 STAGE 3 Total 2024  Total 2023
Kshs'000  Kshs'O0D0  Kshs'000 Kshs'000 Kshs'0C0
16,351 - - 16,351 15,807
16,351 - . 16,351 15,907
(288) - - {288) (288)
16,063 —" —t 16,06 15,619
STAGE1  STAGE2 STAGE 3 Total 2024  Total 2023
Kshs'000 Kshs'000  Kshs'00O Kshs'000 Kshs'000
(288} - - {288) (288)
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53. INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK (CONTINUED}

53.2  FINANCIAL RISKS (CONTINUED)

& Credit risk{continued)
vi)  Deposits with financial institutions
(a) Group
Internal rating grade

Performing

High grade

Standard grade

Past due but not impaired
Non-performing
Individually impaired
Total Gress

ECL

Total Net Amount

An analysis of changes in the ECLs is, as follows:

ECL at start of year

Additional impairment

Unwind of discount

Movement between 12m ECL and LTECL
ECL at end of year

STAGE1  STAGE2 STAGE 3 Total 2024 Total 2023
KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000
11,695,759 - - 11,695,759 7,600,907
11,695,759 - 11,695,759 7,600,807
(5,736) - - {5,736) (27.617)
11,620,023 - = 11,690,023 71,573,290
STAGE1 STAGE 2 STAGE 3 Total 2024 Total 2023
KShs'000  KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 Kshs'000
(27,617 - . (27.617) {32,007}
21,881 - 21,881 4,390
(5,136) - - (5,736) (27,617)
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53. INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK (CONTINUED)

53.2  FINANCIAL RISKS (CONTINUED)

a.

{b)

Credit risk {continued)

Deposits with financial institutions - Company

Internal rating grade

Performing

High grade

Standard grade

Past due but net impaired
Non-perfonning
Individually impaired
Total Gross

ECL

Total Net Amount

An analysis of changes in ECLs Is, as follows:

ECL at start of year

Additional impairment

Movement between 12m ECL and LTECL
ECL at end of year

STAGE 1
KShs'000

64,111

STAGE 1
Kshs'000

(70)
37

(33

181

STAGE 2
KShs'000

STAGE 3
KShs'000

Total 2024
KShs'000

64,111

STAGE 2
Kshs'0GO

STAGE 3
Kshs'000

Total 2024
Kshs'000

(70}
37

(33

Total 2023
KShs'000

117,638

117,638

Total 2023
Kshs'0C0

(82)
12

(70}




THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

53. INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK (CONTINUED)
53.2  FINANCIAL RISKS (CONTINUED}

4. Credit risk(continued)

vii) Financial assets at amortised cost -Receivables from related parties

{a)  Group

Internal rating grade STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE3 Totat 2024 Total 2023
KShs'00C  KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000

Performing

High grade 260,795 - - 260,795 188,620

Standard grade - - - - -

Past due but not impaired - - - - -

Non-performing

Individually impaired - - - - R

Total Gross 260,795 - - 260,795 188,620

ECL {6.982) - - (6.982) (5.573)

Total net Amount 253,813 - - 253813 183.047

An analysis of changes in ECLs is, as follows:

STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE 3 Total 2024 Tatal 2023
KShs'000  KShs'000  KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000

ECL as at 1 January (5,573) - - (5,573) {2,541)
Charge/(credit) through profit or loss {1,409) - - (1,409 (3,032)
Movement between 12m ECL and LTECL - - - - -
(6.982) = : (6,282) (5513)
(b} Company
Internal rating grade STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE3  Total 2024 Total 2023
KShs’000 KShs'000 KShs’C00 KShs'000 KShs’000
Performing
High grade 479,909 - - 479,909 401,976
Standard grade - - - . .
Past due but not impaired - - - - -
Non-performing
Individually impaired - - - - -
Total Gross 479,909 - - 479,909 401,976
ECL (2,400) - — - (2.400) {1,996}
Total Net Amount 477,509 —_— I 477,508 399,980

An analysis of changes in ECLs is, as follows:

STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE3  Total 2024  Total 2023
KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000

ECL as at 1 January (1,996) - - (1,996) {1,783)
Charge/(credit) through profit or loss (404) - - (404) (213)
Movement between 12m ECL and LTECL - - - - -

(2,400} S - - {2,400) {1,936)
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53. INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK {CONTINUED)

53.2 FINANCIAL RISKS (CONTINUED)

a. Credit risk {continued)

vitf)  Financial assets at amortised cost - Other recelvables

(a) Group

Internal rating grade STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE 3 Total 2024 Total 2023
KShs'000 KShs’0C0 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000

Performing

High grade 942,569 - - 942,569 864,827

Standard grade - - - - -

Past due but not impaired - - - -

Non-performing

Individually impalred - - - - -

Total Gross 942,563 - - 942 569 864,827

ECL (14.088) - - (14.088) {12,393)

Total Net Amount 928,481 - - 928,481 852,434

An analysis of changes in ECLs is, as follows:
STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE 3 Total 2024 Total 2023

KShs’000  KShs'000 KShs'G00 KShs'000 #Shs'000
ECL at start of year {12,393) - - (12,393) (8,7486)
Charge through profit or loss (1,695) - - {1,695) (3,647)
Movement between 12m ECL and LTECL - - - - -
ECL at end of year 14,0 - - (14,088) {12,393)

iX)  Financial assets at amortised cost - Cash and bank balances

{a) Group

internal rating grade STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE 3 Total 2024 Total 2023
KShs'000  KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000

Performing

High grade 824,342 - - 824,342 282,777

Standard grade - - - - -

Past due but not impaired - - - - -

Non-performing

Individually impaired - - - - -

Total Gross 824,342 - - 824,342 282,777

ECL (1,012) - - {1,012) (1,012)

Total Net Amount 823.330 - - 823,330 281,765

An analysis of changes in ECLs is, as follows:

STAGE 1 STAGE 2 STAGE 3 Total 2024  Total 2023
KShs'000  KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000

ECL as at 1 January (1,012} - R (1,012) (1,012)
Charge/(credit) through profit ot ioss - - - -
Movement between 12m ECL and LTECL . - -

(1,012) - - 1,012 (1,012)
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53. INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK (CONTINUED)
53.2  FINANCIAL RISKS (CONTINUED)

a.  Credit risk (continued)

The table below indicates the maximum exposure of assets bearing credit risk:

Group
2024 2023
KShs'000 KShs'000
Corporate bonds at amortised cost 89,156 95,646
Government securities at amortised cost 10,913,059 10,753,219
Loans receivable 78,040 113,391
Government secusities at fair value through 0CI 18,297 531 13,579,374
Equity instruments at fair value through 0CH 29,224 22,796
Equity instruments at fair value through profit or loss 931,739 647,506
Investment in collective Schemes 1,253,553 1,368,501
Reinsurance contract assets 5,058,722 3,733,993
Other receivables 928,481 852,434
Due from related parties 253,813 183,047
Deposits with financial institutions 11,690,023 7,573,290
Cash and cash equivalents 823,330 281,765
Total 50,346,671 39,204,962
Company
Loans receivable 16,063 15,619
Other recelvables 41,814 61,535
Due from related patties 477,509 399,980
Investment in coflective Schemes 16,411 14,501
Deposits with financial institutions 64,078 117,568
Cash and cash equivalents 44,234 41,527
Totat 660,109 650,730

Short term business

Impaired financial assets

At 31 December 2024, there are no impaired insurance assets.

For assets to be classified as” past-due and impaired” contractual payments must be in arrears for more than 120 days. No
collateral is held as security for any past due or impaired assets.

The group records impairment allowances for receivables asising out of direct insurance arrangements and reinsurance
arrangements in a separate impairment allowance account.
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53.  INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK (CONTINUED)

53.2  FINANCIAL RISKS (CONTINUED)

& Credit risk{continued)
Short term business

impaired financial assets

Collateral

No collateral is held in respect of the receivables that are past due but not impaired.

Financial assets neither past due nor impaired

There were no financial assets that are neither impaired nor past due as at 31 December 2024,

b. Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficuity in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities that
are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. In respect of catastrophic events there is also a liquidity risk associated
with the timing differences between gross cash out-flows and expected reinsurance recoveries.

The follewing policies and procedures are in place to mitigate the group’s exposure to Heuidity risk:

o A group liquidity risk policy which sets out the assessment and determination of what constitutes liquidity risk for the
group. Compliance with the policy is monitored and exposures and breaches are reported to the group risk committee. The
policy is regularly reviewed for pertinence and for changes in the risk environment.

e Guidelines are set for asset allocations, portfolio limit structures and maturity profiles of assets, in order to ensure
sufficient funding available to meet insurance and investment contracts obligations.

+ Contingency funding plans are in place, which specify minimum proportions of funds to meet emergency calls as well as
specifying events that would trigger such plans.

s The group’s catastrophe excess-of-loss reinsurance contracts contain clauses permitting the immediate draw down of
funds to meet claim payments should claim events exceed a certain size.

Maturity profiles

The following table summarises the maturity profite of the financial assets, financial liabilities and insurance contract liahilities
of the group based on remaining undiscounted contractual cbligations, including interest payable and receivable.

For insurance contract Habilities and reinsurance assets, maturity profiles are determined based on estimated timing of cash
outflows from the recognised insurance fiabilities. Unearned premiums have been excluded from the analysis as they are not
contractual obligations. Repayments which are subject to notice are treated as if notice were to be given immediately.

185
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53. INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK {continued)

53.2  FINANCIAL RISKS (CONTINUED})
b.  Liguidity risk (continued)

GROUP

The table below provides a contractual maturity analysis of the group's financial assets and liabilities:

Financial assets

Financial assets at amortised cost- Corporate Bonds

Financial assets at amortised cost -Government securities

Financial assets at amortised cost -Loans receivable

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive inceme -Government securities
Investments in collective investment schemes at fair value through Profit or loss

Equity investments at fair value through profit or loss

Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income
Reinsurance contract assets

Other receivables

Due from related parties

Deposits with financial institutions

Cash and cash equivalents

Total financial assets

Financial liabilities
Borrowings

Lease Liability

Other payables

Insurance contract liabifities
Bank guarantees

Total financial liabilities

Net liquidity (gap)

31 December 2024

No statgd Gmonths or & months and 1 1yearand More than 5 years Total

maturity on demand year years
KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000
- - - 107,161 5,039 112,200
- 184,655 201,634 5,244,489 14,575,879 20,206,657
- 16,098 176 6,704 24,048 47,026
- 108,266 1,020,342 5,392,918 22,263,110 28,784,636
. . 323,957 . - 323,957
919,558 - - - - 919,559
18,958 - - - - 18,958
- 4,223,135 - - - 4,223,135
. 767,015 250 - - 767,265
- 253,813 - - - 253,813
- 9,899,335 167,037 382,757 - 10,449,129
- 762,326 - - - 762,326
938,517 16,214,643 1,713,396 11,134,029 36,868,076 66,868,661
- - 5,165,766 - - 5,165,766
. 31,650 49,064 134,353 1,073 216,140
- 2,202,405 - - - 2,202,405
- 11,086,855 - - - 11,086,855
- . - 582,220 - 682,220
- 13,320,910 5,214,830 716,573 1,073 19,253,386
938,517 2,893,733 (3,501,434) 10,417,456 36,867,003 47,615,275
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53. INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK (continued)

53.2  FINANCIAL RISKS {CONTINUED)
b. Liquidity risk (continued)

GROUP

Financial assets

Financial assets at amortised cost- Corporate Bonds

Financial assets at amortised cost -Government securities

Financial assets at amortised cost -Loans receivable

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income -Govemment securities
Investments in collective investment schemes at fair value through Profit or loss
Equity investments at fair value through profit or loss

Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income
Reinsurance contract assets

Other receivables

Due from related parties

Deposits with financial institufions

Cash and cash equivalents

Total financial assets

Financial liabilities
Borrowings

Lease Liability

Other payables

Insurance contract liabilities
Bank guarantees

Total financial liabilities

Net liquidity (gap)

31 December 2023

No statt_ad 6 monthsor 6 months and 1 lyearand & More than 5 years Total

maturity on demand year years
KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000
- - - 102,875 24,429 127,304
- - 455,550 6,647,527 9,099,799 16,202,876
- 99,075 246 4,224 27,332 130,877
- - 20,315 4,548,500 14,035,456 18,604,271
- 135,767 1,232,734 - - 1,368,501
647,506 - - - - 647,506
22,796 - - - - 22,796
- 1,719,043 1,438,721 - - 3,157,764
- 843,416 9,018 - - 852,434
- 183,047 - - - 183,047
- 4,117,372 2,579,393 876,525 - 7,573,290
- 281,765 - - - 281,765
670,302 7,379,485 5735977 12,179,651 23,187,016 49,152,431
- - 5,081,164 - - 5,081,164
- 42,823 79,237 265,978 - 388,038
- 2,034,225 - - - 2,034,225
- 16,565,080 9,767,950 - - 26,333,030
- - - 1,347,213 - 1,347,213
- 18,642,128 14,928,351 1,613,191 - 35,183,670
670,302 (11,262,643) (9,192,374} 10,566,460 23,187,016 13,968,761
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54. INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK (continued)

53.2  FINANCIAL RISKS (CONTINUED)
¢. Liguidity risk (continued)

COMPANY

Financial assets

Financial assets at amortised cost -Loans receivable

Investments in collective investment schemes at fair value through Profit or loss
Other receivables

Due from related parties

Deposits with financial institutions

Cash and cash equivalents
Total financial assets

Financial liabilities
Borrowings

Related party loan
Other payables

Due to refated parties
Total financiai liabilities
Net liquidity (gap)

31 December 2024
No statgd 6monthsor 6 monthsand 1 1iyearand 5 More than 5 years Total
maturity on demand year years

KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 KShs '000 KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000 KShs ‘000
- 16,063 - - - 16,063

- - 16,411 - 16,411

- 41,814 - - - 41,814

- 477,509 - - - 477,508

- 67,282 . - - 67,282

- 44,234 - - - 44,234

, 646,902 16,411 - - 663,313

- 5,165,768 - . - 5,165,766

- 751,705 - - 751,705

- 602,516 - - - 602,516

" 361,471 - - - 361,471

- 6,129,753 751,705 - - 6,881,458

- (5,482,851) (735,294) - - {6,218,145)
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55. INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK {continued)

53.2  FINANCIAL RISKS (CONTINUED)
¢. Liquidity risk {continued})

COMPANY

Financial assets

Financial assets at amortised cost -Loans receivable

investments in collective investment schemes at fair value through Profit or loss
Other receivables

Due from related parties

Deposits with financial institutions

Cash and cash equivalents
Total financial assets

Financial liabilities
Borrowings

Related party loan
QOther payables

Due to related parties
Total financial liabilities

Net liquidity (gap)

6 months or

on demand
KShs ‘000

15,619

61,535
399,980
123,446

41,527

31 December 2023

6 months and 1 More than 5 years

Total
KShs '000

15,619
14,501
61,535

399,980
123,448

41,527

642,107

656,608

4,955,891

289,176
655,970

4,955,891
273,076
289,176
655,970

5,901,037

6,174,113

(5,258,930)

(5,517,505)




THE CIC INSURANCE GROUP PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
FOR THEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

53. INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK (continued)
53.2 Financial risks (continued)
(¢} Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: foreign exchange rates (currency risk), market interest rates (interest
rate risk) and market prices {price risk}.

+ The group's market risk policy sets out the assessment and determination of what constitutes market risk for the group.
Compliance with the policy is monitored and exposures and breaches are reported to the group risk committee. The policy
is reviewed regularly for pertinence and for changes in the risk environment.

+ Guidelines are set for asset allocation and portfolio limit structure, to ensure that assets back specific policyholders’
liabilities and that assets are held to deliver income and gains for policyholders which are in line with their expectations.

= The group stipulates diversification benchmarks by type of instrument, as the group is exposed to guaranteed bonuses,
cash and annuity options when interest rates fall.

In the unit-linked business, the poticyholder bears the investment risk on the assets held in the unit-linked funds as the policy
benefits are directly linked to the value of the assets in the fund. The group’s exposure te market risk on this business is Limited
to the extent that income arising from asset management charges is based on the value of assets in the fund.

i. Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.

The Group's principai transactions are carried out in Kenya Shilling and its exposure to foreign exchange risk arise primarily
with respect to US Dollar {USD), Uganda Shillings (UGSH), Malawian Kwacha (MK} and South Sudan Pound (S5P).

The group’s financial assets are primarily denominated in the same currencies as its insurance and investment contract
liabilities. This mitigates the foreign currency exchange rate risk for the overseas operations. Thus, the main foreign exchange
risk atises from recognised assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than those in which insurance contract
liabilities are expected to be settied.

The group has no significant concentration of currency risk.

31st December 2024 J1st December 2023

Increase/{decrease) in variables lmpacton PBT  impacton Equity Impacton PBT  Impact on Equity

KShs'000’ KShs'000’ KShs'000' KShs’000’

Currency

sSsp 10% (29,456) (75,678) {29,456) (75,678)
SSP -10% 35,787 84,3486 35,787 84,346
UGSH 10% 3,985 (2,567 3,985 (2,567
UGSH -10% {4,092) {42,784) (4,092) (42,784)
MK 10% (15,678) {(30,234) (15,678) ({(30,234)
MK -10% 20,567 33,869 20,567 33,869

The holding's s financial assets are primarily denominated in the same currencies as its liabilities hence not exposed to the
currency risks.

ii. Interestrate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash fiows of a financtal instrument wilf fluctuate because of changes in
market interest rates.

Ftoating rate instruments expose the Group 1o cash flow interest risk, whereas fixed interest rate instruments expose the Group
to fair value interest risk.
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53, INSURANCE AND FINANCIAL RISK (continued)
53.2  Financial risks (continued}
(c) Market Risk (Continued)
it. Interestrate risk {Continued)

The Group's interest risk policy requires it to manage interest rate risk by maintaining an appropriate mix of fixed and varfable
rate instruments. The policy also requires it to manage the maturities of interest-bearing financial assets and interest-bearing
financial Habilities. Interest on floating rate instruments is re-priced at intervals of less than one year. Interest on fixed interest
rate insfruments is priced at inception of the financial instrument and is fixed until maturity.

The sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk Hlustrates how changes in the fairvalue or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates at the reporting date. The Financial assets at amortised cost-
Deposits and commercial papers and staff loans are not affected by interest rate risk because the rates are agreed at the
beginning of the contract financial instruments and insurance contracts described in this note, the sensitivity is solely
associated with the former, as the carrying amounts of the latter are not directly affected by changes in market risks.

The Group's management monitors the sensitivity of reported interest rate movement monthly by assessing the expected
changes in the different portfolios due to a parallel movement in all yield curves of financial assets and financial liabilities. The
Group is not exposed to interest rate risk as all financial assets are at fixed interest rates.

Government securities at fair value through other comprehensive income represents 83% of total government securities
investments. Ifthe bond market interest rate had increased/ decreased by 1%, with alt other variables held constant, and ali
the other factors held constant, the comprehensive income for the year woeld increase/decrease by KShs 629,370,000,

iii. Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
equity prices (other than those arising from interest rate or foreign exchange rate risk), whether those changes are caused by
factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or by factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded
in the market.

The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk as a result of its holdings in equity investments, classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss and financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income investments.
Exposure to equity shares in aggregate are monitored in order to ensure compliance with the relevant regutatory limits for
solvency purposes, [nvestiments held are listed and traded on the Nairobi Securities Exehange Limited (NSE).

The Group has a defined investment palicy which sets limits on the Group's exposure to equities both in aggregate terms and
by industry. This policy of diversification is used to manage the Gronp’s price risk arising from its investments in equity
securities.

Investment management meetings are held monthly. At these meetings, senior managers meet to discuss investment return
and concentration of the equity investments.

Equity investment through profit or loss represent 97% (2023: 97%) of total equity investments. if equity market indices had
increased/ decreased by 5%, with aif other variables held constant, and all the Group's equity investments moving according
to the historical correlation with the index, the profit for the year would increase/decrease by KShs 46,587,000 (2023: KShs
32,375,000).
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54,

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

The group specifies a hierarchy of valuation technigues based on whether the inputs to those valuation techniques are

obsemvable or unocbservable. These two types of inputs have created the following fair value hierarchy:

s level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. This leve} includes equity securities and debt
instruments listed on the Nairobi securities exchange.
s fevel 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly

as prices or indirectly as derived from prices.

s Level 3 - inputs for the assets or liabilities that are not based on ohservable market data (unobservable inputs}. This level
includes equity investments and debt instruments with significant unobservable compenents, property, equipment and

investment property.

This hierarchy requires the use of observable market data when available. The group considers relevant and observable market

prices in its valuations where possible.

There were no transfers between Level 1 and level 2 during the year.

The tabie helow shows an analysis the fair value of assets by level in the fair value hierarchy. However, it does not include

instruments whose fair value approximates the carrying amount.

GROUP

31-Dec-24

Recurrring fair value Measurements

Equity investments classified:

~at fair value through profit or loss

- at fair value through 0CI

Government securities classified at fair value
through OCI

Investments in coliective investment
schemes at fair value through profit or loss
Owner occupied property and equipment
Investment properties

Inventories

Non-recurring fafr value Measurements - fair
value of assels not measured at fair value
Corporate bonds

Government securities at amortised cost
Loan receivables

Total assets at fair value

Liahilities
Investment contract liabilities

Total liabilities at fair value

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Carying
amounts

KShs'000  KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs’'000  KShs'000
931,739 R R 931,739 931,739
. 29,224 - 29,224 29,224
18,297,531 - - 18,297,531 18,297,531
- 1,253,553 - 1,253,553 1,253,553
. . 780,750 780,750 780,750
- . 3,726,499 3,726,499 3,726,499
5,056,000 5,056,000 5,056,000
- 89,156 . 89,156 89,156
11,676,973 - - 11,676973 10,913,059
- - 78,040 78,040 78,040
30.906.243 1,371,933 41,2 41919 465 41.155 5561
- 98,924 - 98,924 98,924
- 98,924 - 98,924 98,924
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54, FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

GROUF (continued)

31-Dec-23

Recuriing fair value Measurements

Equity investments classified:

-at fair value threugh profit or loss

- at fair value through OCI

Government securities classified at fair value
through OCi

Investments in collective investment
schemes at fair value through profit or foss
Owner occupied property and equipment
Investment preperties

Inventories

Non-recurring fair value Measurements -~ fair
value of assets not measured at fair value
Corporate bonds

Government securities at amortised cost
Loan receivables

Total assets at fairvalue

Liabilities
Investment contract liabilities

Total liahilities at fair value

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Carrying
amounts

KShs'000  KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000  KShs'000
647,506 ; . 647,506 647,506
. 22,796 . 22,796 22,796
13,579,374 . . 13,579,374 13,579,374
. 1,368,501 . 1,368501 1,368,501
; - 821,883 821,883 821,883
. - 7,761,640 7,761,640 7,761,640
- 129644 . 129,644 95,646
11,396,415 ; - 11396415 10,753,219
. - 113,391 113,391 113,391
25,623295  1.520,941 8,696,914 35,841,150  35.163.958
. 141273 - 141,273 141,273
. 141,273 - 141,273 141273
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54. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT {continued)

COMPANY
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Carrying
amounts
2024 KShs' Q00 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000 KShs'000
Recurting fair value
meastirements
Inventories

- - 5,056,000 5,056,000 5,056,000
Fairvalue of assets not measured

at fairvalue

Loan receivables - - 16,063 16,063 16,063
Total assets at fair value - - 5,072,063 5,072,063 5,072,063
2023

Recurring fair value

measurements

Investment properiies - - 4,046,000 4,046,000 4,046,000

Fairvalue of assets not measured

at fair value
{oan receivables - - 15,619 15,619 15,619
Total assets at fair value - - 4,061,619 4,061,619 4,061,619
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54. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT {continued)

Valuation methods used in determining the fair value of assets and liabilities

Instrument Applicabie Level Valuation methods Inputs
Loans and receivables at amortised Discounted cash flow Average Market interest rates
cost 2 model (DCF) 13%
. Discounted cash flow
Cotporate bonds at amortised cost 2 model (DCF) Interest rates

Current unit price of underlying

Equity investments classified as unitised assets and interest

fair value through 0CI

2 Net Asset Value rates.
Investments in collective Current unit price of underlying
investment schemes at fair value unitised assets and interest
through profit or loss 2 Net Asset Value rates.

Net Asset Value and
Discounted Cash Flow
2 {DCF)

Current unit price of underlying
unitised assets and Interest
rates.

Deposits and commercial paper

The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurements categorised in Jevel 3 of the fairvalue hierarchy as at

31 December 2024 are as shown below,

Group
Instrument Level  Valuation basis Rate Significant Sensitivity of input to the fair
unobservable Inputs  value
investment 3 Discounted cash flow 16 Discount rate used, increase/{decrease) in
propetties model (DCF) Met Annual Rent, discount by 5% would
Annual rent growth decrease/(increase) fair
rate value by KShs 80.1 million
Owner occupied 3 Discounted Cash Flow 16 Discount rate used, Increase/{decrease} in
property and {DCH Net Annual Rent, discount of 5% would
equipment Annual rent growth decrease/(increase) fair
rate value by KShs 1.9 million.
Direct 3 Deposits, withdrawals and  N/A Market value of Increase/(decrease) in the
participating investment returns from assets of the fund market price of the assets in
contracts the fund. the fund would increase/
{decrease) fair value by
KShs 536 million.
Company
Significant Sensitivity of input to the
Instrument Level  Valuation basis Rate  unobservabielnputs  fairvalue
Investment 3 Discounted cash flow 16 Discount rate Increase/{decrease} in
properties model {(DCF) used, Net Annual discount by 5% would
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55. GAIN ON MONETARY POSITION (CIC AFRICA SOUTH SUDAN & MALAWI)

586,

57.

58.

59.

60.

IAS 29 Financial reporting in hyperinflationary economies requires financial statements that are prepared in the currercy of a hyper-
inflationary economy to be stated in terms of the value of money at the end of the reporting period. The 1AS 29 approach is to restate all
non-monetary balances recognised in the financial statements to the year-end general purchasing power of the functional currency and
requires the use of a general price index to reflect changes in purchasing power.

The restatement procedures are summarised as follows:

» Selection of a general price index - Most governments issue periodic price indices.

= Segregation of monetary and non-monetary items - Monetary items do not need to be restated, because they represent money held,
1o be received or to be paid.

* Restatement of non-monetary items - Nen-monetary assets and liabilities are restated in terms of the measuring unit current at the
end of the reporting peried.

« Restatement of shareholders’ equity - All components of shareholders’ equity are restated by applying a general price index from the
beginning of the period or the date of contribution, if iater

« Restatement of the income statement - All items in comprehensive income are restated by applying the change in the general price
index from the dates when the items of income and expense were originally recorded.

» Tax - Current taxes are restated with reference to movements in the general price index.

» (Calculation and proof of the monetary gain or loss - The difference between the historical cost amounts and the resuit from the
restatement of non-monetary items, shareholders’ equity, items inthe statement of comprehensive income and the adjustment of index-
linked items to year end purchasing power..

Statement showing the net monetary result on account of price fevel changes: 2024 2023

KShs'000 KShs’000
Monetary liabilities at 1 lanuary 7,001,620 4,778,064
Increase in net monetary liabilities in the year 2,334,652 3,789,807
Effects of exchange rate changes (5.845,403) {1,158.309)
Monetary liabilities at 31 December 3,490,869 7.409,562
Expressed in purchasing power at 31 December 2,327,078 2,512,087
Loss on monetary liahilities {a) (1,163,791) (4.897.475)
Monetary assets at 1 January 5,604,973 4,819,122
Increase in net monetary assets in the year 2,059,217 2,508,315
Effects of exchange rate changes {4,424,318) (1,170,110}
Monetary assets at 31 December 3.239.872 6,155,327
Expressed in purchasing power at 31 December 2,628,995 2,730,905
(ain on monetary asseis (b) {610,877) {3.424,422)
Net gain on monetary position {c=a+b}) 552,914 1,473,053

GOING CONCERN STATUS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES AND THE COMPANY

The directors have assessed the going corcern of the subsidiaries and are confident that they will continue as goeing concern.
INCORPORATION

The Company is incorporated in Kenya under the Companies Act 2015 and is domiciled in Kenya.

HOLDING COMPANY

The holding entity is Co-operative Insurance Society Limited which is incorporated and demiciled in Kenya.

CURRENCY

The financial statements are presented in Kenya shillings thousands (KShs ‘000" which is also the functional currency of the Company.
EVENTS AFTER REPORTING DATE

There are no events after the reporting date that would require adjustments to, or disclosure in, the financial statements.
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